

# The qualitative and quantitative outcomes of children with Hirschsprung's Disease and Anorectal Malformations

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements of the University of Liverpool for the degree of Master of Philosophy

By Emily Owens

August 2022

# Abstract

**Introduction**: Hirschsprung's disease (HSCR) is a rare disease and has a range of different aetiologies. HSCR can be classified according to the length of aganglionosis of the bowel, with the most common type being recto-sigmoid HSCR. Patients require histological analysis to confirm the absence of ganglion cells and will eventually require surgery to remove the aganglionic portion of bowel. This is a pull-through procedure in most cases. Anorectal malformations (ARM) are also rare diseases which can also be classified according to anatomy and the position of the fistula. The majority of these patients require anal reconstruction to correct the malformation and restore normal anatomy. Both of these conditions can lead to poor patient outcomes, such as faecal incontinence or constipation, however outcome reporting for these conditions has been limited and variable. The HSCR core outcome set (COS) consists of 10 core outcome measures and was produced to improve outcome reporting. The aim of this study is to investigate outcomes in infants with either HSCR or ARM, according to the HSCR COS.

**Methods**: A systematic review was completed to identify all studies reporting outcomes of patients with HSCR. Three electronic databases were searched (PubMed, MEDLINE and Scopus) and any study reporting outcomes of patients with histologically diagnosed HSCR was included. A retrospective cohort study was also carried out with the aim to assess the outcomes of children with either HSCR or ARM. Children were identified from hospital databases and clinic visits and those who were eligible were included. Clinician reported outcomes, such as unplanned reoperation and permanent stoma formation, were collected and consent forms were distributed to all eligible children, with patient reported outcomes, such as bowel function and quality of life scores, collected from children who returned the questionnaires after consenting.

**Results**: The systematic review identified 751 unique studies, with 188 of these being eligible for inclusion in the study. Of the 188 studies, only 4 reported the full HSCR COS, with only one of these studies using the correct outcome measures to report these outcomes. Of the 107 studies published after the publication of the HSCR COS, 3 failed to report any core

outcomes, with the remaining 104 studies reporting at least 1 core outcome. The increase in reporting a few core outcomes, such as death with cause specified an objective score of quality of life had a statistically significant increase after the publication of the HSCR COS. The cohort study included 106 HSCR and 140 ARM patients, from which clinician reported outcomes could be collected from. Of these patients, 14 HSCR and 16 ARM patients returned questionnaires and therefore provided patient reported outcomes. 20.8% of HSCR patients required at least one unplanned reoperation and 15.1% required permanent stoma formation. 24.3% of ARM patients required at least one unplanned reoperation and 10% underwent permanent stoma formation. Outcomes also varied between the classifications of each condition. 8 patients met the criteria for constipation and 13 for impaired continence according to bowel function scores in both the HSCR and ARM patient cohort.

**Conclusion**: Children with HSCR or ARM have variable outcomes, which can also depend on the form of the condition they have. Outcomes for these conditions have been assessed by a number of studies, however variability in outcome reporting has made comparisons difficult. Following the HSCR COS would improve the quality of outcome reporting and could lead to the identification of factors affecting outcomes in these children. Future studies could assess the longer-term outcomes of children with HSCR and ARM and include more patient reported outcomes to get a more accurate measure of bowel function and quality of life in these patients.

# Acknowledgements

This work would not have been possible without the support and contributions from a number of people.

Firstly, I would like to thank Dr Rachel Harwood from Alder Hey for all of her help and support throughout the year. Thank you for always being available to provide me with the support and guidance without hesitation and for your invaluable contribution to this thesis. You frequently went above and beyond what was required to help me with my MPhil year and that is something I will always be grateful for.

I would like to thanks my supervisors, Professor Kenny and Professor Murray for their support and guidance throughout the year. Their invaluable information has not only helped with my thesis, but also my academic development through the year. I am incredibly grateful for the opportunity to complete this MPhil with your supervision and for the extra opportunity to present at a conference.

I would also like to thank the Paediatric Surgery team at Alder Hey Children's Hospital, who contributed with the recruitment of patients. In particular, I would like to thank Miss Almond for all of her support and guidance throughout the year, specifically in regards to collecting the patient reported outcomes and providing additional opportunities to develop my clinical knowledge.

I would like to thank my friends and family for all of their love and support throughout the year. Mum and dad – thank you for the constant encouragement and moral support which helped me get through this year. Lucy – you are an amazing sister and thank you for all your love and entertainment this year. Grace – thank you for always putting a smile on my face, I am more grateful for this than you will ever know.

Finally, I would like to thank my Nan for always encouraging me to achieve whatever I set my mind to. I am wholeheartedly grateful for your constant support throughout my life and for giving me the opportunity to complete this degree.

# Table of Contents

Abstract		1
Acknowledge	ments	3
Table of Conte	ents	4
List of tables		9
List of figures.		11
List of abbrevi	ations	12
1. Introduct	ion	14
1.1. Aims	and Objectives	14
1.1.1.	Research question	14
1.1.2.	Objectives	14
1.2. The l	ntestinal Tract	
1.2.1.	Embryology of the intestinal tract	14
1.2.2.	Innervation of the intestinal tract	15
1.2.3.	Structure and function of the intestinal tract	16
1.2.3.1.	Small intestine	
1.2.3.2.	Large intestine	
1.2.3.3.	Rectum and anal canal	
1.3. Hirso	hsprung's Disease	
1.3.1.	Epidemiology	
1.3.2.	Aetiology	
1.3.2.1.	Neural crest cell migration	
1.3.2.2.	Genetics	
1.3.2	.2.1. RET gene	
1.3.2	.2.2. Other gene involvement	21
1.3.2.3.	Syndromic Hirschsprung's Disease	21
1.3.3.	Classification	22
1.3.4.	Clinical features	23
1.3.5.	Investigations	24
1.3.5.1.	Radiology	
1.3.5.2.	Anorectal manometry	25
1.3.5.3.	Histology	25
1.3.5.4.	Differential diagnoses	
1.3.6.	Management	27
1.3.6.1.	Initial management	27
1.3.6.2.	Surgical management	
1.3.6	2.1. Swenson Procedure	
1.3.6	2.2. Duhamel Procedure	
1.3.6	2.3. Soave Procedure	29
1.3.7.	Outcomes and prognosis	29
1.3.7.1.	Constipation	29
1.3.7.2.	Faecal incontinence	
1.3.7.3.	Enterocolitis	
1.3.7.4.	Quality of Life	
1.4. Anor	ectal Malformations	
1.4.1.	Epidemiology	31
1.4.2.	Aetiology	31
1.4.2.1.	Genetics	31
1.4.2.2.	Environmental factors	

1.4.3.	Associated conditions	33
1.4.3.1.	VACTERL	33
1.4.3.2.	Urogenital anomalies	33
1.4.3.3.	Cardiac anomalies	34
1.4.3.4.	Spinal anomalies	34
1.4.4.	Classification	34
1.4.4.1.	Males	34
1.4.4.2.	Females	35
1.4.4.3.	Both males and females	36
1.4.5.	Clinical features	37
1.4.6.	Investigations	37
1.4.6.1.	VACTERL Screening	38
1.4.6.2.	Preoperative investigations	38
1.4.7.	Management	39
1.4.7.1.	Newborn management	39
1.4.7	.1.1. Males	39
1.4.7	.1.2. Females	40
1.4.7.2.	Surgical management	41
1.4.7	.2.1. Posterior sagittal anorectoplasty	41
1.4.7	.2.2. Transanal proctoplasty	42
1.4.7	.2.3. Anoplasty (161)	42
1.4.8.	Outcomes and prognosis	42
1.4.8.1.	Bowel function	43
1.4.8.2.	Urinary function	43
1.4.8.3.	Sexual function	43
1.5. Core	Outcome Set	44
1.5.1.	Development (169)	44
1.5.1.1.	Three-phase Delphi process	44
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2.	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting	44 45
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2.	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169)	44 45 46
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. <b>1.6. Sum</b>	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary	44 45 46 <b> 48</b>
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. <b>1.6. Sum</b>	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary	44 45 46 <b> 48</b>
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. <b>1.6. Sum</b> <b>2.A systemati</b>	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas	44 45 46 48 e 50
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. 1.6. Sum 2.A systemati 2.1. Chap	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction	44 45 46 48 e 50 50
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. <b>1.6. Sum</b> <b>2.A systemati</b> <b>2.1. Chap</b> <b>2.2. Rese</b>	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction parch question and objectives	44 45 46 48 e 50 50 50
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. <b>1.6. Sum</b> <b>2.A systemati</b> <b>2.1. Chap</b> <b>2.2. Rese</b> 2.2.1.	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction arch question and objectives Research question	44 45 46 48 e 50 50 50 50
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. <b>1.6. Sum</b> <b>2.A systemati</b> <b>2.1. Chap</b> <b>2.2. Rese</b> 2.2.1. 2.2.2.	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction arch question and objectives Research question Objectives	44 45 46 48 e 50 50 50 50 51
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. <b>1.6. Sum</b> <b>2.A systemati</b> <b>2.1. Chap</b> <b>2.2. Rese</b> 2.2.1. 2.2.2. <b>2.3. Met</b>	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction arch question and objectives Research question Objectives hods	44 45 46 <b>48</b> <b>e 50</b> <b>50</b> 50 51 <b>51</b>
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. <b>1.6. Sum</b> <b>2.A systemati</b> <b>2.1. Chap</b> <b>2.2. Rese</b> 2.2.1. 2.2.2. <b>2.3. Met</b> 2.3.1.	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction arch question and objectives Research question Objectives Protocol	44 45 46 <b> 48</b> <b>e 50</b> <b> 50</b> 50 51 51
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. <b>1.6.</b> Sum <b>2.A systemati</b> <b>2.1.</b> Chap <b>2.2.</b> Rese 2.2.1. 2.2.2. <b>2.3.</b> Met 2.3.1. 2.3.2.	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction arch question and objectives Research question Objectives hods Protocol Search Strategy	44 45 46 <b>48</b> <b>e 50</b> <b>50</b> 51 51 51
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. <b>1.6.</b> Sum <b>2.A systemati</b> <b>2.1.</b> Chap <b>2.2.</b> Rese 2.2.1. 2.2.2. <b>2.3.</b> Met 2.3.1. 2.3.2. 2.3.3.	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction arch question and objectives Research question Objectives hods Protocol Search Strategy Inclusion and exclusion criteria	44 45 46 48 <b>e 50</b> 50 51 51 51 51 51
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. <b>1.6.</b> Sum <b>2.A systemati</b> <b>2.1.</b> Chap <b>2.2.</b> Rese 2.2.1. 2.2.2. <b>2.3.</b> Met 2.3.1. 2.3.2. 2.3.3. 2.3.4.	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction arch question and objectives Research question Objectives hods Protocol Search Strategy Inclusion and exclusion criteria Article Screening	44 45 46 <b>50</b> <b>50</b> 51 51 51 51 52 54
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. 1.6. Sum 2.A systemati 2.1. Chap 2.2. Rese 2.2.1. 2.2.2. 2.3. Met 2.3.1. 2.3.2. 2.3.3. 2.3.4. 2.3.5.	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction arch question and objectives Research question Objectives hods Protocol. Search Strategy Inclusion and exclusion criteria Article Screening Full Text Review	44 45 46 <b>e 50</b> 50 50 51 51 51 51 51 52 54 54
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. 1.6. Sum 2.A systemati 2.1. Chap 2.2. Rese 2.2.1. 2.2.2. 2.3. Met 2.3.1. 2.3.2. 2.3.3. 2.3.4. 2.3.5. 2.3.6.	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction arch question and objectives Research question Objectives hods Protocol Search Strategy Inclusion and exclusion criteria Article Screening Full Text Review Additional methods of study identification	44 45 46 <b>e 50</b> 50 50 51 51 51 51 51 54 54 54
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. 1.6. Sum 2.A systemati 2.1. Chap 2.2. Rese 2.2.1. 2.2.2. 2.3. Meth 2.3.1. 2.3.2. 2.3.3. 2.3.4. 2.3.5. 2.3.6. 2.3.7.	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction arch question and objectives Research question Objectives nods Protocol Search Strategy Inclusion and exclusion criteria Article Screening Full Text Review Additional methods of study identification Data Extraction	44 45 48 <b>e 50</b> 50 50 51 51 51 51 51 52 54 54 54
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. 1.6. Sum 2.A systemati 2.1. Chap 2.2. Rese 2.2.1. 2.2.2. 2.3. Met 2.3.1. 2.3.2. 2.3.3. 2.3.4. 2.3.5. 2.3.6. 2.3.7. 2.3.8.	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction arch question and objectives Research question Objectives hods Protocol Search Strategy Inclusion and exclusion criteria Article Screening Full Text Review Additional methods of study identification Data Extraction Qualitative Synthesis	44 45 46 <b> 48</b> <b>e 50</b> 50 50 51 51 51 51 51 51 54 54 54 54 55
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. 1.6. Sum 2.A systemati 2.1. Chap 2.2. Rese 2.2.1. 2.2.2. 2.3. Met 2.3.1. 2.3.2. 2.3.3. 2.3.4. 2.3.5. 2.3.6. 2.3.7. 2.3.8. 2.3.9	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction arch question and objectives Research question and objectives Research question Objectives hods Protocol Search Strategy Inclusion and exclusion criteria Article Screening Full Text Review Additional methods of study identification Data Extraction Qualitative Synthesis Ouality Assessment	44 45 46 <b> 50</b> 50 50 51 51 51 51 51 54 54 54 55 55
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. 1.6. Sum 2.A systemati 2.1. Chap 2.2. Rese 2.2.1. 2.2.2. 2.3. Met 2.3.1. 2.3.2. 2.3.3. 2.3.4. 2.3.5. 2.3.6. 2.3.7. 2.3.8. 2.3.9. 2.3.10	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary creview of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction arch question and objectives Research question and objectives Research question Objectives hods Protocol Search Strategy Inclusion and exclusion criteria Article Screening Full Text Review Additional methods of study identification Data Extraction Qualitative Synthesis Quality Assessment Statistical analysis	44 45 46 <b>e 50</b> 50 51 51 51 51 51 54 54 54 54 55 56
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. 1.6. Sum 2.A systemati 2.1. Chap 2.2. Rese 2.2.1. 2.2.2. 2.3. Met 2.3.1. 2.3.2. 2.3.3. 2.3.4. 2.3.5. 2.3.6. 2.3.7. 2.3.8. 2.3.9. 2.3.10. 2.4. Port	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction arch question and objectives Research question Objectives nods Protocol Search Strategy Inclusion and exclusion criteria Article Screening Full Text Review Additional methods of study identification Data Extraction Qualitative Synthesis Quality Assessment Statistical analysis	44 45 46 <b>48</b> <b>e 50</b> 50 50 51 51 51 51 51 51 54 54 54 55 56 56
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. 1.6. Sum 2.A systemati 2.1. Chap 2.2. Rese 2.2.1. 2.2.2. 2.3. Meth 2.3.1. 2.3.2. 2.3.3. 2.3.4. 2.3.5. 2.3.6. 2.3.7. 2.3.8. 2.3.9. 2.3.10. 2.4. Resu	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction arch question and objectives Research question Objectives nods Protocol Search Strategy Inclusion and exclusion criteria Article Screening Full Text Review Additional methods of study identification Data Extraction Qualitative Synthesis Quality Assessment Study identification	44 45 46 <b> 50</b> 50 50 50 50 51 51 51 51 51 54 54 54 55 56 56 56
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. 1.6. Sum 2.A systemati 2.1. Chap 2.2. Rese 2.2.1. 2.2.2. 2.3. Met 2.3.1. 2.3.2. 2.3.3. 2.3.4. 2.3.5. 2.3.6. 2.3.7. 2.3.8. 2.3.9. 2.3.10. 2.4. Resu 2.4.1. 2.4.2	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction arch question and objectives Research question Objectives nods Protocol Search Strategy Inclusion and exclusion criteria Article Screening Full Text Review Additional methods of study identification Data Extraction Qualitative Synthesis Quality Assessment Statistical analysis Its	44 45 46 <b> 50</b> 50 50 51 51 51 51 51 51 51 54 54 56 56 56
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. 1.6. Sum 2.A systemati 2.1. Chap 2.2. Rese 2.2.1. 2.2.2. 2.3. Met 2.3.1. 2.3.2. 2.3.3. 2.3.4. 2.3.5. 2.3.6. 2.3.7. 2.3.8. 2.3.9. 2.3.10. 2.4. Resu 2.4.1. 2.4.2.	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas other introduction arch question and objectives Research question Objectives objectives	44 45 46 <b> 50</b> 50 50 51 51 51 51 51 54 54 54 54 55 56 56 57
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. 1.6. Sum 2.A systemati 2.1. Chap 2.2. Rese 2.2.1. 2.2.2. 2.3. Met 2.3.1. 2.3.2. 2.3.3. 2.3.4. 2.3.5. 2.3.6. 2.3.7. 2.3.8. 2.3.9. 2.3.10. 2.4. Resu 2.4.1. 2.4.2. 2.4.3.	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction arch question and objectives Research question and objectives Pobjectives objectives objectives objectives outcome characteristics of studies	44 45 46 <b>50</b> 50 50 51 51 51 51 51 51 51 51 54 54 54 54 54 55 56 56 56 57 77
1.5.1.1. 1.5.1.2. 1.5.2. 1.6. Sum 2.A systemati 2.1. Chap 2.2. Rese 2.2.1. 2.2.2. 2.3. Meth 2.3.1. 2.3.2. 2.3.3. 2.3.4. 2.3.5. 2.3.6. 2.3.7. 2.3.8. 2.3.9. 2.3.10. 2.4. Resu 2.4.1. 2.4.2. 2.4.3. 2.4.4.	Three-phase Delphi process Consensus meeting Outcomes (169) mary c review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's diseas oter introduction arch question and objectives Research question and objectives Research question Objectives hods Protocol Search Strategy Inclusion and exclusion criteria Article Screening Full Text Review Additional methods of study identification Data Extraction Qualitative Synthesis Quality Assessment Statistical analysis Its Study identification Study identification Study and patient characteristics Outcome characteristics of studies HSCR core outcome set reporting	44 45 46 <b>e 50</b> 50 50 51 51 51 51 51 51 51 54 54 54 54 55 56 56 56 57 77 77

2.	4.4.1.1. Death		78
2.	1.4.1.2. Unplanı	ned re-operation	82
2.	4.4.1.3. Perman	ent stoma	83
2.	4.4.1.4. Hirschs	orung-associated enterocolitis (HAEC)	
2.4.4	.2. Patient-rep	orted outcomes	
2.	4.4.2.1. Long-te	rm faecal incontinence	
2.	4.4.2.2. Objectiv	/e score of bowel function	
2.	1.4.2.3. Long-te	rm voluntary bowel movements	
2.	+.4.2.4. Long-te	rm psychological stress	
2.	+.4.2.3. LONG-TE	nn unnary incontinence	89 مە
2. ว/เร		come reporting	89 01
2.4.J. 7 / C		oorting	۲۶ دە
∠.4.0. 2 4 7	Timing of an	toomo roporting	
2.4.7. <b>35 5</b>		ונטווופ ופטט נוווצ	
2.5. D	Scussion	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
2.5.1.	Comparison	to previous reviews	
2.5.2.	Strengths an	a limitations	
2.6. C	onclusion		
3. The au	alitative and <b>a</b>	uantitative outcomes of children with Hirschsprung's	disease
and anorec	tal malformati	ons	100
21 In	troduction		100
3.7 D	search question	and objectives	100
<b>3.2. K</b>		ranu objectives	100 100
5.2.1. כיים		-501011	100
3.Z.Z.	objectives		
<b>5.5.</b> Ⅳ			
3.3.1.	Etnical appro	Vdl	101
3.3.2.	Kesearch tea	m	
3.3.3.	Study design		
3.3.3	.1. Design and	location	
3.3.3	2. Inclusion a	nd exclusion criteria	
3.3.3	.3. Patient rec	ruitment	
3.3.4.		northal autoanaa	
3.3.4	.1. Clinician re	portea outcomes	
3. ว	o.4.1.1. Unplani	neu reoperation	107 109
3.	2/112 Uircobo	en stond	108 100
3.	2.4.⊥.2. ⊓IISCNS 2.4.1.4 Volunta	ry howel movements	108 108
ુ. ર	3.4.1.5 Urinary	continence	
3.34	2. Patient ren	orted outcomes	
3.	3.4.2.1. Objectiv	e score of bowel function	
3.	3.4.2.2. Objectiv	e score of quality of life and psychological stress	
3.3.5.	Statistical an	alysis	
3.4. R	esults – HSCR Co	hort	
3.4.1	Patient inclu	sion in study	
342	Clinician ren	orted outcomes – Overall HSCR cohort	112
3.4.2	1. Patient cha	racteristics	
3.4.2	1.2.1.1. Surgical	management	
3.	4.2.1.2. Patient	characteristics according to age group	
3.4.2	.2. Death		
3.4.2	.3. Unplanned	reoperation	
3.4.1	4. Permanent	stoma	119
3.4.1	.5. Hirschspru	ng-associated enterocolitis	119
3.4.1	.6. Voluntary k	oowel movements	
3.	4.1.6.1. Bowel r	nanagement	

3.4.2.3.1. Continence	122
3.4.2.4. Urinary continence	123
3.4.2.5. Non-COS outcomes	123
3.4.2.5.1. Early post-operative complications	123
3.4.2.5.2. Bowel sensation	124
3.4.2.5.3. Constipation	124
3.4.3. Clinician reported outcomes – HSCR phenotype	125
3.4.3.1. Patient characteristics according to HSCR phenotype	125
3.4.3.2. Unplanned reoperation	126
3.4.3.3. Permanent stoma	126
3.4.3.4. Hirschsprung-associated enterocolitis	127
3.4.3.5. Voluntary bowel movements	127
3.4.3.5.1. Bowel management	127
3.4.3.5.2. Continence	127
3.4.3.6. Urinary continence	128
3.4.3.7. Non-COS outcomes	128
3.4.3.7.1. Early post-operative complications	128
3.4.3.7.2. Bowel sensation	129
3.4.3.7.3. Constipation	129
3.4.4. Clinician reported outcomes – HSCR operative approach	129
3.4.4.1. Patient characteristics according to intervention	129
3.4.4.2. Unplanned reoperation	130
3.4.4.3. Permanent stoma	130
3.4.4.4. Voluntary bowel movements	131
3.4.4.4.1. Bowel management	131
3.4.4.4.2. Continence	
3.4.4.5. Urinary continence	
3.4.4.6. Non-COS outcomes	
3.4.4.6.1. Early post-operative complications	
3.4.4.6.2. Bowel sensation	
3.4.4.6.3. Constipation	
3.4.5. Patient reported outcomes – Overall HSCR cohort	133
3.4.5.1. Patient characteristics	
3.4.5.2. Bowel function score	
3.4.5.3. Quality of life	
3.4.6. Patient reported outcomes – HSCR phenotype	138
3.4.6.1. Patient characteristics according to HSCR phenotype	
3.4.6.2. Bowel function score	
3.4.6.3. Quality of life	
3.5. Results – ARM cohort	141
3.5.1. Patient inclusion in study	141
3.5.2. Clinician reported outcomes – Overall ARM cohort	142
3.5.2.1. Patient characteristics	142
3.5.2.1.1. Patient characteristics according to age	144
3.5.2.2. Death	146
3.5.2.3. Unplanned reoperation	146
3.5.2.4. Permanent stoma	147
3.5.2.5. Voluntary bowel movements	148
3.5.2.5.1. Bowel management	148
3.5.2.5.2. Continence	150
3.5.2.6. Urinary incontinence	150
3.5.2.7. Non-COS outcomes	150
3.5.2.7.1. Bowel sensation	150
3.5.2.7.2. Constipation	151
3.5.3. Clinician reported outcomes – ARM phenotype	152
3.5.3.1. Patient characteristics according to ARM classification	152

3.5.3.2.	Unplanned reoperation	
3.5.3.3.	Permanent stoma	
3.5.3.4.	Voluntary bowel movements	
3.5.3	.4.1. Bowel management	
3.5.3	.4.2. Continence	
3.5.3.5.	Urinary incontinence	
3.5.3.6.	Non-COS outcomes	
3.5.3	.6.1. Bowel sensation	
3.5.3	.6.2. Constipation	
3.5.4.	Patient reported outcomes – Overall ARM cohort	156
3.5.4.1.	Patient characteristics	
3.5.4.2.	Objective score of bowel function	
3.5.4.3.	Quality of life	
3.5.5.	Patient reported outcomes – ARM phenotype	160
3.5.5.1.	Patient characteristics according to ARM classification	
3.5.5.2.	Objective score of bowel function	
3.5.5.3.	Quality of life	
3.6. Disc	ussion	
3.6.1.	Strengths and limitations	
3.7. Cond	lusion	169
4. Conclusio	ons	170
References		171
Appendices		193
Appendix 1	Systematic review search strategy – PubMed	
Annendiy 2	Outcomes collected and outcome measures used in all 188 studies	102
Appendix 2.	Information logflat and concent form for schort study	
Appendix 5:	mormation leanet and consent form for conort study	

# List of tables

- Table 1.1: The differential diagnoses and how they differ to Hirschsprung's Disease
- Table 1.2: The Hirschsprung's Disease Core Outcome Set and each of their definitions
- Table 2.1: A PICOS table of inclusion and exclusion criteria
- Table 2.2: A PICOS table of extracted data from included studies
- Table 2.3: Study and patient characteristics
- Table 2.4: Core outcome set clinician reported outcomes per year
- Table 2.5: Outcome measures used to measure COS outcomes
- Table 2.6: Core outcome set patient reported outcomes and outcome measures per year
- Table 2.7: Outcome measures used to measure outcomes not in the COS
- Table 2.8: Number of COS outcomes reported by each study per year
- Table 3.1: ICD-10 classification key
- Table 3.2: Study inclusion and exclusion criteria
- Table 3.3: Study data extracted from online patient hospital notes
- Table 3.4: Questionnaires completed by children and parents at different time points
- Table 3.5: HSCR cohort characteristics
- Table 3.6: Additional syndromes in the HSCR cohort
- Table 3.7: Pre-operative management in the HSCR cohort
- Table 3.8: HSCR cohort surgical management
- Table 3.9: 5 and 10 year HSCR patient cohort characteristics
- Table 3.10: Comparison of clinician reported bowel outcomes for HSCR children in each age group
- Table 3.11: Comparison of bowel sensation and constipation rates in each age group
- Table 3.12: Patient characteristics according to HSCR phenotype
- Table 3.13: Number of children who have had at least one episode of HAEC at different time points
- Table 3.14: Proportion of children in each cohort with urinary continence
- Table 3.15: Patient characteristics according to operative approach

Table 3.16: Comparison of pull-through operative approaches for additional operations and permanent stoma formation

Table 3.17: The number of children requiring no bowel management according to operative technique

Table 3.18: HSCR patient characteristics according to age

Table 3.19: PedsQL scores for the total HSCR cohort

Table 3.20: Patient characteristics according to HSCR phenotype

Table 3.21: Bowel function scores of HSCR cohort according to HSCR phenotypes

Table 3.22: PedsQL scores according to HSCR phenotype

Table 3.23: ARM patient cohort characteristics

Table 3.24: ARM patient characteristics at 5 and 10 year follow-up

Table 3.25: A comparison of voluntary bowel movement outcomes in different age groups

Table 3.26: A comparison of bowel sensation and constipation rates in each age group in the ARM cohort

Table 3.27: Patient characteristics according to ARM classification

Table 3.28: A comparison of different ARM classifications for unplanned reoperation and permanent stoma formation

Table 3.29: A comparison of urinary continence across different ARM classifications

Table 3.30: Full list of ARM patient characteristics for both groups

Table 3.31: PedsQL scores for overall ARM patient cohort

Table 3.32: Patient characteristics according to ARM classification

Table 3.33: The bowel function scores according to ARM classification

Table 3.234: The quality of life and psychosocial score for each ARM classification

# List of figures

Figure 1.1: The classification of different types of HSCR according to aganglionosis length

Figure 1.2: Decision-making algorithm for the initial management of male ARM patients

Figure 1.3: Decision-making algorithm for the initial management of female ARM patients

Figure 2.1: PRISMA flow diagram

Figure 2.2: Correct outcome measures used for outcome reporting as outlined by the COS

Figure 2.3: Outcome reporting before and after the publication of the COS

Figure 3.1: Flow chart of HSCR children included in study

Figure 3.2: The percentages of each age group who have had at least one episode of HAEC since previous follow-up

Figure 3.3: A pie chart showing the proportions of patients using different bowel management strategies at 1 year

Figure 3.4: A pie chart showing the proportions of patients using different bowel management strategies at 5 years

Figure 3.5: A pie chart showing the proportions of patients using different bowel

management strategies at 10 years

Figure 3.6: The PedsQL scores for the overall HSCR patient cohort

Figure 3.7: Incontinence PICS scores according to HSCR phenotype

Figure 3.8: Constipation PICS scores according to HSCR phenotype

Figure 3.9: Flow chart of ARM children included in this study

Figure 3.10: A pie chart showing the proportions of children with an ARM using different bowel management strategies at 1 year

Figure 3.11: A pie chart showing the proportions of children with an ARM using different bowel management strategies at 5 years

Figure 3.12: A pie chart showing the proportions of children with an ARM using different bowel management strategies at 10 years

Figure 3.13: The PedsQL scores reported in the total ARM patient cohort

Figure 3.14: Incontinence PICS scores according to ARM classification

Figure 3.15: Constipation PICS scores according to ARM classification

# List of abbreviations

ACE	Antegrade continence enema
ARM	Anorectal malformation
ASD	Atrial septal defect
ССК	Cholecystokinin
CLM	Conjoined longitudinal muscle
COS	Core outcome set
EAS	External anal sphincter
ECHO	Echocardiogram
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EDNRB	Endothelin receptor type B gene
EPR	Electronic patient records
FGF10	Fibroblast growth factor 10
GDNF	Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor
GIQLI	Gastrointestinal quality of life index
HAEC	Hirschsprung-associated enterocolitis
HSCR	Hirschsprung's disease
H&E	Haematoxylin and Eosin
IAS	Internal anal sphincter
IASA	Internal anal sphincter achalasia
ICC	Interstitial cells of Cajal
IND	Intestinal neuronal dysplasia
LS	Long-segment
MCUG	Micturating cystourethrography
MeSH	Medical sub-headings
MEN	Multiple endocrine neoplasia
MMIHS	Megacystis-microcolon intestinal hypoperistalsis syndrome
NCCs	Neural crest cells
OR	Odds ratio
PedsQL	Pediatric quality of life
PHOX2B	Paired-like homeobox 2b

PICS	Paediatric incontinence and constipation score
PRISMA	Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses
PSARP	Posterior sagittal anorectoplasty
RA	Retinoic acid
RAIR	Recto-anal inhibitory reflex
RET	Receptor tyrosine kinase RET proto-oncogene
RSI	Recto-sigmoid index
SHH	Sonic Hedgehog
SS	Short-segment
ТАР	Transanal proctoplasty
TCA	Total colonic aganglionosis
TIA	Total intestinal aganglionosis
VSD	Ventricular septal defect
VUR	Vesicoureteric reflux
WS	Waardenburg syndrome
ZFHX1B	Zinc finger homeobox 1b

# 1. Introduction

# 1.1. Aims and Objectives

# 1.1.1. Research question

What are the long-term qualitative and quantitative outcomes in children with Hirschsprung's Disease and Anorectal Malformations using the core outcome set?

# 1.1.2. Objectives

The main objectives of this thesis are:

- 1. To explain the current available knowledge on Hirschsprung's Disease (HSCR) and Anorectal Malformations (ARM's)
- 2. To summarize the development process of the HSCR core outcome set and describe which outcomes make up this outcome set
- To systematically review the current literature reporting outcomes of patients with HSCR to establish whether the publication of the HSCR core outcome set has changed the outcomes being reported
- 4. To describe the outcomes of patients with HSCR and ARM's using clinician reported outcomes and patient reported outcomes from a single institution

# 1.2. The Intestinal Tract

1.2.1. Embryology of the intestinal tract

The embryo begins development of the gastrointestinal tract by the end of the first month after conception with the endoderm forming the primitive gut through cephalocaudal and lateral folding. The cephalic and caudal sections of the primitive gut form the foregut and hindgut, respectively, with the middle part making up the midgut.(1) During the fifth week, the foregut divides into the pharynx, oesophagus, stoma and proximal duodenum. Diverticula grow from the caudal duodenum forming the liver, pancreas, gallbladder and cystic duct. The proximal two thirds of the transverse colon, ascending colon, caecum, ileum, jejunum and distal duodenum are all formed from the midgut and the hindgut gives rise to the proximal two thirds of the anorectal canal, the sigmoid and descending colon and the distal third of the transverse colon.(2)

The concentration gradient of retinoic acid (RA), which is highest in the colon, determines which transcription factors are expressed in different areas of the primitive gut. Specification of the gut therefore happens due to SOX2 in the oesophagus and stoma, PDX1 in the duodenum, CDXC in the small intestine and CDXA in the large intestine. Sonic Hedgehog (SHH) expression in the endoderm begins epithelial-mesenchymal interaction.(1) Induction of mesodermal differentiation of interstitial cells of Cajal (ICC) and intestinal smooth muscle cells due to SHH expression results in dependency of organogenesis and regional differentiation within the gut tube on the restriction of SHH expression.(3) A short mesentery suspends the midgut from the dorsal abdominal wall. Rapid elongation of the gut and mesentery results in the production of the primary intestinal loop comprising of the cephalic and caudal limbs developing into the small intestine and proximal large intestine, respectively. Intestinal loops enter the umbilical cord in week six of embryonic development due to rapid growth. Rotation of the gut occurs during this time (90 degrees) and again when the intestinal loops return into the abdomen (180 degrees). The first part to return to the abdominal cavity is the jejunum which lies on the left, with the caecal bud, appearing in week six and eventually forming the appendix, being the last part to return. The caecal bud initially lies underneath the liver however, it then descends into the right iliac fossa pushing the ascending colon towards the right of the abdomen.(1) During the development of the hindgut, the cloaca is divided into the anterior urogenital system and the posterior anorectal system by the urorectal septum during week six.(4) The cloaca is a cavity lined by endoderm and ventrally covered by ectoderm with the cloacal membrane being the boundary between the two. By week seven, a ventral opening for the urogenital sinus and anal opening of the hindgut form due to rupture of the cloacal membrane. The perineal body is created by the tip of the urorectal septum.(1) Failure of these processes could lead to the development of an anorectal malformation.

#### 1.2.2. Innervation of the intestinal tract

The intestinal tract is innervated by a number of different nerves including extrinsic neurons in parasympathetic and sympathetic ganglia, sensory ganglia and intrinsic neurons in the enteric nervous system.(2) The parasympathetic nervous system innervates the intestinal

tract via two different pathways. The vagus nerve innervates up to the proximal third of the transverse colon whereas the distal two-thirds of the transverse colon to the rectum is innervated by pelvic splanchnic nerves originating as preganglionic fibres from sacral roots S2 to S4.(1) Sympathetic chain ganglia produce postganglionic sympathetic fibres which innervate the intestinal tract wall. By week four of embryonic development, neural crest cells (NCCs), which produce glia and vagal neurons, have commenced colonisation at the cranial end and by week seven, will have spread throughout the length of the gut.(2) There are a number of transcription factors involved in neural crest cell specification including SOX10, Foxd3 and Pax3, with a loss in these factors causing defects in the enteric nervous system.(5, 6) In the vagal neural crest, receptor tyrosine kinase RET proto-oncogene (RET) is a target of Pax3 promoting proliferation and migration survival in a variety of cells including neuronal germ cells. Loss of function mutations in the RET gene can led to HSCR, with the distal gut being void of enteric innervation.(7)

#### 1.2.3. Structure and function of the intestinal tract

#### 1.2.3.1. Small intestine

The small intestine is formed by three regions: the duodenum, the jejunum and the ileum. The duodenum is retroperitoneal and is divided into four sections according to their locations: superior, descending, inferior and ascending sections. The jejunum is characterised by prominent plicae circulares and a long vasa recta contrasting to the ileum which is characterised by less prominent plicae circulares and a shorter vasa recta.(8) The blood supply of the small intestine comes from branches of the aorta including the celiac artery, which supply the duodenum, and superior mesenteric artery, which supplies the remainder of the small intestine.(9)

The walls of the small intestine are composed of mucosa, submucosa, muscularis and serosa layers, with the mucosa layer containing the epithelium, lamina propria and muscularis mucosae layers. Within the small intestine there are deep crevices, lined with glandular epithelium which form the intestinal glands. These intestinal glands contain cells which produce intestinal juice containing enzymes and hormones, for example lysozymes, secretin and cholecystokinin (CCK), to aid with the absorption of nutrients and form part of the

intestinal defence system. These cells include enterocytes, goblet cells, Paneth cells and enteroendocrine cells such as S cells, CCK cells and K cells. The duodenum also contains duodenal glands which assist with the neutralisation of the gastric acid with the secretion of alkaline mucus. There are also a number of 'finger-like projections' within the small intestine called villi which increase the surface area of the epithelium to also aid absorption.(10)

The submucosal plexus in the enteric nervous system controls the production of intestinal fluid. When food enters the small intestine, there is mechanical stimulation of enterochromaffin cells resulting in the activation of secretomotor neurons due to the stimulation of sensory neurons by 5-hydroxytryptamine from these enterochromaffin cells. These secretomotor neurons release neurotransmitters, such as acetylcholine, which act on enterocytes secreting chloride ions and sodium ions into the lumen of the small intestine. This creates an osmotic gradient leading to the movement of water into the small intestine.(11)

Once the small intestine receives the chyme, it is responsible for a number of functions including mixing the digestive secretions with the chyme, ensuring the chyme and epithelial cells come into contact and to regulate the speed in which the chyme moves through the small intestine. This is done by segmentation and peristalsis. Segmentation is when the circular muscle in the small intestine contracts in short intervals with areas in between these contracted sections relaxed. The contracted areas then relax and the relaxed areas contract helping to mix the intestinal secretions with the chyme. Peristalsis occurs when there is contraction of the circular muscle behind the chyme and relaxation in front of the chyme helping to move it through to the large intestine. This is controlled by the enteric nervous system due to stimulation of mechanoreceptors.(11)

#### 1.2.3.2. Large intestine

The large intestine consists of the caecum, ascending colon, transverse colon, descending colon and sigmoid colon. The junction between the ascending colon and transverse colon lies near the inferior border of the right lobe of the liver and the junction between the transverse colon and descending colon lies just inferior to the spleen. The sigmoid colon is an S-shaped structure which lies at the level of the S3 vertebra and connects the descending colon to the rectum. The blood supply of the large intestine comes from branches of the

abdominal aorta. The superior mesenteric artery supplies the ascending colon and the proximal two-thirds of the transverse colon whereas the distal third of the transverse colon, descending colon and sigmoid colon all receive their arterial blood supply from the inferior mesenteric artery.(8)

The large intestine contains the same four layers as the small intestine: the mucosa, submucosa, muscularis and serosa layers. The mucosa contains muscularis mucosae, lamina propria and simple columnar epithelium, which contains absorptive and goblet cells found in intestinal glands, similar to the small intestine. Goblet cells produce mucus to aid with the movements of the contents of the colon and absorptive cells absorb water in the colon. The muscularis layer contains an inner layer of circular smooth muscle and outer layer of longitudinal smooth muscle, with thickened portions forming three bands called teniae coli. Haustra, pouches of colon, are formed by the contraction of these bands.(10) The functions of the large intestine include peristalsis to move the contents into the rectum, the breakdown of amino acids into vitamin K and B vitamins by bacteria, the absorption of vitamins and ions and the absorption of water. The movement of contents through the colon and into the colon is achieved by haustral churning and mass peristalsis. Haustral churning is when haustra fill up and then squeeze the contents into the next haustra. Mass peristalsis is a large peristaltic wave around half way along the transverse colon moving the contents into the rectum faster. Mass peristalsis usually occurs after the consumption of a meal due to the gastrocolic reflex.(10) This occurs when food enters the stomach and signals are sent via muscarinic pathways to the colon through neuropeptides and the enteric nervous system producing colonic contractions.(12) The absorption of remaining water, vitamins and ions produces faeces consisting of indigestible food, bacteria, mucosal epithelial cells, inorganic salts and some remaining water.(10)

#### 1.2.3.3. Rectum and anal canal

The rectum is a retroperitoneal structure which lies at the vertebral level S3. The blood supply to the rectum is from the inferior mesenteric artery, internal iliac artery and internal pudendal artery which gives off the superior, middle and inferior rectal arteries, respectively.(8) The anatomy of the anal canal is shown in Figure 1.2. The anal canal consists of the internal anal sphincter (IAS), external anal sphincter (EAS) and the puborectalis muscle with the conjoined longitundinal muscle (CLM) lying in between the two sphincters.

The IAS and CLM are innervated by the autonomic nervous system whereas the EAS and puborectalis muscle are innervated by somatic nerves.(13) The dentate line, which helps to maintain faecal continence, is found in the distal anal canal and divides the superior and inferior parts of the anal canal.(14)

Segmental activity in the upper part of the rectum, along with contraction of the levator ani muscles in the pelvic floor, prevent the movement of faeces into the lower portion of the rectum. Following a large movement of colonic contents, there is distension of the rectum, initiating the defecation reflex.(11) Stretch receptors send sensory signals to the sacral spinal cord (S2-4) and motor signals are sent to the rectum and anus via parasympathetic nerves. This causes contraction of the longitudinal muscles and relaxation of the internal anal sphincter. If there is voluntary relaxation of the external anal sphincter, faeces are released from the anus and defecation occurs. Defecation is able to be postponed due to voluntary contraction of the external anal sphincter.(10)

## 1.3. Hirschsprung's Disease

#### 1.3.1. Epidemiology

The incidence of Hirschsprung's disease (HSCR) within the UK and Ireland has been estimated to be around 1.8 per 10,000 live births, with around 305 children being born with HSCR every two years.(15) This is similar to the worldwide incidence of HSCR which is estimated to be approximately 1 in 5000 live births.(16, 17) Male children are approximately 3.3 times more likely to have HSCR than female children and around 9% of infants with HSCR having a positive family history.(15, 18) Around 80% of infants with HSCR have short segment HSCR, with only the sigmoid colon and rectum affected, and around 20% of infants have long segment HSCR, where more proximal colon is also affected (19).

#### 1.3.2. Aetiology

#### 1.3.2.1. Neural crest cell migration

HSCR is thought to be a heterogenous disease with a number of aetiologies and genetic causes. By week 12 of gestation, the neural crest cells (NCCs) have normally travelled down the vagus nerves and spread throughout the colon into the enteric nervous system. The rate of infiltration into the distal colon is slower than throughout the rest of the colon due to its

elongation (20). There also has been some research suggesting there is input from sacral neural crest cells forming glia and neurons in the enteric nervous system (21, 22). It is thought that, due to the distance travelled by these NCCs during embryogenesis, factors can interfere with their migration or proliferation resulting in the absence of ganglion cells in the distal gut (20).

Two theories have been suggested as to why this process does not occur in infants with HSCR. One theory is that, once the NCCs reach their required location, they either are unable to differentiate in ganglion cells or are unable to survive due to abnormalities in the microenvironment (23, 24). Proteins within the extracellular matrix (ECM) have been suggested to be important factors in the microenvironment of the NCCs including fibronectin, laminin, collagen type IV and hyaluronic acid. These proteins help with ganglia differentiation within the enteric nervous system and changes to these ECM proteins may result in failure of differentiation (25, 26). The other theory is that the NCCs don't reach the distal end of the intestine due to premature differentiation into ganglion cells which has been shown in studies looking at NCC migration in animal models (23, 27).

#### 1.3.2.2. Genetics

There are a number of characteristics of HSCR indicating a genetic component to the disease. These include an increased prevalence of HSCR in males and in infants with affected siblings, and an association to a number of other diseases, including some chromosomal abnormalities. A non-Mendelian pattern of inheritance is suggested in HSCR due to the presence of incomplete penetrance, differences in aganglionosis lengths between affected siblings and the large percentage of sporadic cases (28).

#### 1.3.2.2.1. RET gene

The RET gene encodes a tyrosine kinase receptor which an important factor in the migration, proliferation, survival and differentiation of NCCs during development alongside acting as a receptor for glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) to aid enteric nervous system development (29). This gene is the major susceptibility gene for HSCR, however, it has also been found in other diseases such as multiple endocrine neoplasia type

2A (MEN 2A), type 2B (MEN 2B), and medullary thyroid carcinoma (30). Although a RET mutation has high importance in HSCR, it is only responsible for 50% of familial and 15-20% of sporadic HSCR cases suggesting the importance of other gene involvement when assessing its aetiology (30).

#### 1.3.2.2.2. Other gene involvement

A number of other genes have also been identified as HSCR-associated genes. Some patients with HSCR have been found to carry heterozygous mutations in the endothelin receptor type B gene (EDNRB) accounting for around 5% of HD cases (28). It has been indicated that EDNRB is used to help regulate the response of neural cell stem cells to migratory factors such as GDNF (31). This involvement was shown in mice when disruption of the EDNRB gene resulted in aganglionic megacolon with an association to colour spotting of their coats (32). Others genes such as SOX10, the pair mesoderm homeobox 2b gene (PHOX2B) and the HOX gene encode transcription factors, which affect the expression of RET, are thought to have an involvement (33). SOX10 was suggested to be involved in the development of HSCR after a study on mice with HSCR with mutations in the SOX10 gene. These mice indicated the involvement of enteric neurons alongside neural crest-derived melanocytes due to the presence of distal colonic aganglionosis and hypomelanosis of the hair and skin in those with heterozygous mutations (34, 35).

#### 1.3.2.3. Syndromic Hirschsprung's Disease

Chromosomal abnormalities are found in approximately 12% of HSCR cases with trisomy 21 being the most common. Children with trisomy 21 have a 40-fold greater risk of having HSCR than the remainder of the population suggesting the importance of chromosome 21 when assessing the aetiology of HSCR with studies showing associations between the RET gene and chromosome 21 (36). It is thought that either the extra chromosome 21 interferes with the development of the ENS or that the aganglionosis forms part of a wider dysfunction within the ENS in patients with trisomy 21 (37).

In around 18% of cases of HSCR, infants also have an associated congenital anomaly including a cleft palate, a gastrointestinal malformation, polydactyly or cardiac anomalies such as septal defects (16, 38). Mendelian inheritance is suggested in these anomalies with

a 39% rate in familial cases in comparison to a 21% rate in isolated cases (38). SOX10 mutations, found in HSCR cases, have been described in severe cases of Waardenburg syndrome (WS) with central dysmyelinating leukodystrophy and peripheral demyelinating neuropathy (39). WS is due to melanocyte absence in the skin and stria vascularis in the cochlea causing pigmentation disturbances and sensorineural deafness (40). Hypopigmentation and total colonic aganglionosis have also been demonstrated in mice in the absence of SOX10 (41). Mice have been found to show a total absence of vagal neural crest precursors when lacking ZFHX1B and mice lacking PHOX2B show aganglionosis (42, 43). Patients with HSCR along with congenital central hypoventilation syndrome (CCHS) and Mowat-Wilson syndrome have had mutations in transcription factors PHOX2B and zinc finger homeobox 1b (ZFHX1B) identified, respectively (29). PHOX2B has also been found to have an association with neuroblastomas, however these are rare in isolated, sporadic neuroblastomas (40).

#### 1.3.3. Classification

There are different types of HSCR and these are classified according to the length of aganglionosis in the bowel, shown in Figure 1.1. The most common type of HSCR is short segment HSCR which only affects the recto-sigmoid colon and accounts for around 80% of all cases (20). Long segment HSCR is when there is aganglionosis between the sigmoid colon and caecum, however there are still ganglion cells present in the colon making it different to total colonic HSCR where there is aganglionosis of the entire colon and up to 5cm of the terminal ileum (44). Long segment HSCR and total colonic aganglionosis account for around 15% and 5% of cases, respectively (45). A rare and more extreme form of HSCR is total intestinal aganglionosis, when there is the absence of ganglion cells throughout both the small and large intestines (46). The final form of HSCR is ultra-short segment HSCR, which is when only a short area of anal canal above the dentate line has the absence of ganglion cells (47).



colored area : aganglionic segment

Figure 1.1. The classification of different types of HSCR according to aganglionosis length. Hirschsprung's disease and its allied disorders (28).

#### 1.3.4. Clinical features

The failure to pass meconium within the first few days of life, especially more than 48 hours after birth, is a common presentation of HSCR, with the passage of a meconium plug and sparse bowel movements following this (48). Other symptoms of an intestinal obstruction such as abdominal distension, bilious vomiting and feeding issues also indicate HSCR suggesting the infant should be further investigated (49). Some patients may present with symptoms of Hirschsprung-associated enterocolitis (HAEC) which classically includes abdominal distension, fever and foul-smelling diarrhoea (50, 51). HAEC is a serious complication of undiagnosed HSCR, causing a large portion of morbidity and mortality in this patient cohort (52). Around 80-90% of infants with HSCR present during the neonatal period, with the remaining presenting later in childhood, usually with symptoms such as long-standing refractory constipation followed by failure to thrive and enterocolitis (49). It is therefore important to differentiate between chronic constipation and HSCR in order to

prevent HAEC and its life-threatening complications such as toxic megacolon, presenting with sudden abdominal distension, fever, signs of dehydration and shock (53). Clinical examination is used to help eliminate any differential diagnoses of HSCR, including an anorectal malformation (ARM) and also to look for any associated abnormalities. Some of these associated abnormalities include trisomy 21, ARMs, structural cardiac defects, inguinal hernias and neural crest-related anomalies such as Waardenburg syndrome (20, 54). Clinical examination should include an inspection of the perianal area, abdominal examination, spinal/gluteal examination and lower limb neuromuscular examination (55). Abdominal examination findings will include abdominal distension in many cases and digital rectal examination can often cause the passage of meconium and therefore alleviate the initial intestinal obstruction (53).

#### 1.3.5. Investigations

After the completion of a history and examination on the patient, a diagnosis of HSCR is confirmed through a combination of imaging and histological analysis of bowel tissue. According to the NICE guidance for Constipation in Children, investigations should include a plain abdominal radiograph, a contrast enema and a rectal biopsy (55). NICE guidance also states that a rectal biopsy should only be performed if there is any of the following:

- A delay in the passage of meconium, >48 hours in a term baby
- Long-term abdominal distension and vomiting
- Constipation starting early after birth
- Family history of HSCR
- Failure to thrive alongside another previously mentioned feature (55)

#### 1.3.5.1. Radiology

The first line investigation to diagnose HSCR is usually a plain abdominal radiograph. In HSCR this may show distended loops of bowel due to gas build-up, with widening of the proximal side. Another characteristic of HSCR which may be found on an abdominal radiograph is the absence of gas in the pelvis due to spasm of the distal aganglionic bowel (28). Another first line investigation is a water-soluble contrast enema on which the pathognomonic finding of HSCR is a visible transition zone between ganglionic and

aganglionic bowel (23). A study has described the accuracy of these calibre changes and the level of aganglionosis found on rectal biopsy, being correct in 94.4% of cases of rectosigmoid disease but only correct in 50% of cases with a more proximal transition zone (56). They also allow accurate evaluation of the recto-sigmoid index (RSI), a ratio between the largest part of the rectum and sigmoid colon, with a value of >1.0 excluding a diagnosis of HSCR in some cases (57). Contrast enemas can be used to differentiate other causes of intestinal obstruction, such as meconium ileus or colonic atresia, from HSCR and therefore aid with the decision of which patients should be selected to undergo more invasive investigations, like a rectal suction biopsy (53, 58).

#### 1.3.5.2. Anorectal manometry

Anorectal manometry is described in HSCR to assess the recto-anal inhibitory reflex (RAIR). This is when there is distension of the rectum resulting in the relaxation of the internal anal sphincter, controlled by ganglion cells within the myenteric plexus (28). The absence of RAIR has been proven to have a high-specificity in the diagnosis with HSCR with a diagnostic positive rate of up to 90% (59). A positive RAIR excludes HSCR and a negative RAIR indicates the possibility of HSCR, with these patients then going on to have a rectal suction biopsy to assess the histology of the rectum (60).

#### 1.3.5.3. Histology

The gold standard investigation for the diagnosis of HSCR is a rectal suction biopsy. At least two samples of the rectum should be taken from between 2cm to 4cm proximal to the dentate line (20). Rectal suction biopsies are stained with Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E), Acetylcholinesterase and Calretinin stains are used to look for the presence of ganglion cells and thickened nerve trunks in the rectum (61). Biopsies indicating HSCR demonstrate total absence of ganglion cells in both the submucosal and myenteric plexus, acetylcholinesterase-positive hypertrophied nerve trunks and the absence of calretinin-positive nerve fibres in the submucosa and lamina propria (62). Due to the invasive nature of the biopsy, patients can have a number of complications including rectal bleeding, bowel perforation or sepsis with a study suggesting a complication rate of 0.65% (63).

Intra-operative biopsies during definitive surgery is also an important investigation to determine the extent of the transition zone estimated by previous contrast enemas and therefore ensure sufficient resection of the aganglionic colon (64). The histological characteristics of the transition zone are partial circumferential aganglionosis, hypoganglionosis within the myenteric plexus and nerve hypertrophy within the submucosal plexus (65). The length of transition zone varies between patients showing the importance of intra-operative biopsies to prevent transition zone pull-through and a higher risk of complications (66).

#### 1.3.5.4. Differential diagnoses

There are a number of other causes of intestinal obstruction which should be excluded when a child presents with HSCR signs and symptoms. These patients can present with failure to pass meconium or abdominal distension but have ganglion cells present on rectal biopsy (67). A list of differential diagnoses is described in Table 1.1 alongside how they are excluded when assessing for HSCR.

Differential diagnosis	Differences to HSCR
Anorectal malformation	Normal histology findings with abnormal
	anatomical structure
Hypoganglionosis	Sparse and small ganglia in the myenteric plexus
	(67)
Intestinal neuronal dysplasia (IND)	Giant ganglia and hyperplasia of the submucous
	plexus (67)
Internal anal sphincter achalasia	Normal histology findings and the absence of the
(IASA)	rectosphincteric reflex (61)
Megacystis-microcolon intestinal	Dilated bladder and hydronephrosis present (68)
hypoperistalsis syndrome (MMIHS)	
Meconium ileus	Ganglion cells present within the bowel
Colonic atresia	Absence of the distal bowel, with ganglion cells
	present throughout the remaining bowel (69)
Volvulus	Intestine loops and mesentery twist causing
	obstruction, ganglion cells present throughout (70)
Idiopathic constipation	Ganglion cells present within the bowel
Hypothyroidism	Ganglion cells present within the bowel and
	features of hypothyroidism such as lethargy,
	hypotonia and prolonged jaundice (71)

Table 1.1. The differential diagnoses and how they differ to Hirschsprung's Disease

# 1.3.6. Management

# 1.3.6.1. Initial management

Although the definitive treatment of HSCR is surgical, infants presenting with features of HSCR or enterocolitis need to be managed until they are at an optimal age for an operation, usually >3 months old (72). Patients presenting with sepsis or dehydration need to be stabilised with intravenous fluids and antibiotics and a nasogastric tube is needed for patients with intestinal obstruction (73). These patients should also undergo regular decompression of the bowel using rectal irrigation, which parents can do once the infant is discharged home (73). Rectal irrigations however are unsuccessful in providing bowel

decompression in around 25% of patients with HSCR (50). These patients, those with persistent enterocolitis and those who have had an intestine perforation are all indicated to have a stoma formed with a 'doughnut' biopsy taken to establish ganglionic status (50).

#### 1.3.6.2. Surgical management

The aim of definitive surgery in HSCR is to remove the aganglionic bowel and to pull the ganglionic bowel through to the anus for anastomosis above the dentate line in order to try to preserve normal sensation and sphincter function (23). There are two main steps during a pull-through procedure: intraoperative extramucosal biopsies with frozen section analysis, if the surgeon is unsure on the transition zone location, and then the pull-through of bowel to the dentate line (20). Laparoscopy can be used to obtain intraoperative biopsies, which are used to determine the length of aganglionosis so the surgeon is aware of the length of bowel needed to be resected (20). Resection should continue for about 5cm to 10cm proximal to the ganglionic biopsy to ensure the transition zone is also removed with the aganglionic bowel (49). If intraoperative extramucosal biopsies are not taken, a donut of tissue will be histologically analysed from pulled through bowel to ensure the presence of ganglion cells. The three most common operation techniques used for a pull-through operation are the Swenson, Duhamel and Soave procedures (53, 74).

#### 1.3.6.2.1. Swenson Procedure

The aim of the Swenson procedure is to remove the entire aganglionic portion of the bowel using transanal, full-thickness dissection whilst also preserving the anal canal and the sphincter mechanism to decrease the risk of poor outcomes (75). The long-term outcomes of the Swenson procedure have been shown to be good despite the theoretical risks of deep dissection and therefore the integrity of the surrounding structures and also the increased risk of anastomotic leakage (23, 76).

#### 1.3.6.2.2. Duhamel Procedure

The aim of the Duhamel procedure is to try and prevent injuries from surrounding structures of the pelvis by eliminating the need for anterior rectal dissection (74). During this procedure, the original rectum is left in place and the pulled-through ganglionic bowel is

anastomosed with the native rectum (77). This was previously a multiple-stage procedure, however, the introduction of the one-stage procedure seems to have no significant difference in functional outcomes and avoids the risk of stoma-related complications (78).

#### 1.3.6.2.3. Soave Procedure

The Soave procedure involves colonic dissection of the bowel in the submucosal plane above the dentate line with pull-through of the ganglionic bowel through the rectal muscle sleeve (20). As there is no pelvic dissection, this approach aims to preserve the anatomical structures in the pelvis and sensory receptors in the rectal muscular sleeve (79). The avoidance of the retrorectal plane also means there is less risk of damaging the pelvic nerves responsible for sexual function and urinary continence, with the goal to decrease long-term problems for these patients (80).

#### 1.3.7. Outcomes and prognosis

After having a pull-through procedure, the patient can have some early postoperative complications such as bleeding, infection, anastomotic leak or an abscess (28). Studies have shown that wound infection rates are between 1.7% and 19.2% depending on the surgical approach, and anastomotic leaks have been found in an average of 4.3% of cases (81). Patients may also need have recurrent anal dilatations if there is concern of anastomosis tightness or stricture, which can be done at home or at the same time as IAS botulinum toxin administration if there are concerns of obstructive symptoms (74). Long-term follow-up studies have found that constipation, faecal incontinence, enterocolitis and quality of life were the most common problems in patients after a pull-through procedure (82).

#### 1.3.7.1. Constipation

Constipation is an important long-term complication of HSCR after definitive surgery. Constipation in patients with HSCR can be caused by a number of factors including a mechanical obstruction such as a stricture or aganglionic spur, persistent aganglionosis due to transition zone pull-through or pathologist error, or internal sphincter achalasia (73). A study of 135 patients over 22 years who have had definitive surgery for HSCR reported a constipation rate of 7.5%, however other studies have shown variable post-operative constipation rates ranging between 8% and 32.4% of patients (83-85).

#### 1.3.7.2. Faecal incontinence

Damage to either the anal sphincter or transitional epithelium controlling anal sensation and anal reflexes during surgery can lead to the inability to distinguish between solid and liquid stools and the urge to defaecate resulting in faecal incontinence (86). In a recent study, assessing the outcomes of laparoscopic-assisted pull-through procedures, faecal incontinence rates were reported at 29% (87). Faecal incontinence has also been shown to affect the mental health and psychosocial functioning of HSCR patients therefore decreasing their quality of life (88).

#### 1.3.7.3. Enterocolitis

Enterocolitis can be a complication of pull-through surgery alongside being a presenting symptom of HSCR. Studies have found that the incidence of HAEC ranges from between 17% to 50% and accounts for half of all HSCR deaths making it the leading cause of mortality in HSCR patients, most frequently in the first 2 years of life (89, 90). It has also been shown that patients with congenital malformations, for example Down's Syndrome, alongside HSCR are more likely to develop HAEC (89). Children presenting with HAEC require urgent broad-spectrum antibiotics, including metronidazole, intravenous fluid resuscitation with haemodynamic monitoring, and frequent rectal washouts (91). Some patients may develop recurrent HAEC which can be managed medically, through the use of antibiotics, washouts and sodium cromoglycate, or surgically using intrasphincteric botulinum toxin therapy or, in the worst case scenarios, with a defunctioning stoma (91).

#### 1.3.7.4. Quality of Life

It has been found that patients diagnosed with HSCR and who have undergone subsequent surgery can have a decreased quality of life due to unfavourable outcomes. Complications such as faecal incontinence have been shown to be an independent predictor of a lower quality of life score and a lower social wellbeing score (92). Females have also reported worse outcomes in sexual function, fertility and sexual quality of life in adults compared to the remainder of the population (93).

## 1.4. Anorectal Malformations

#### 1.4.1. Epidemiology

Anorectal malformations (ARM) are a rare cause of intestinal obstruction and occur in around 1 in 4,000-5,000 live births, with 63.6% of these patients having another anomaly present (94). Reports have shown an almost equal male-to-female ratio in patients with an ARM, with a 1.3:1 male:female ratio (95). This study also reported a significantly increased risk of ARM with maternal obesity (95). Male and female patients can have different ARM's, with a rectovestibular fistula being the most common in females and a rectobulbar fistula being the most common in males (96).

#### 1.4.2. Aetiology

The incidence of anorectal malformations caused by genetic disease is around 10% and the risk of recurrence of ARM in a sibling of an infant with an ARM has been reported to be 1 in 92-100 (1%) (97, 98). A deficiency in the dorsal cloacal membrane and dorsal cloaca during development has been suggested by studies on animal models and human fetuses to be a defect resulting in an ARM. This is thought to be due to dysfunction of the tail bud and primitive streak early during development of the caudal aspect of the embryo (99). A smaller defect in the dorsal aspect of the cloacal membranes may result in a distal ARM and a larger defect result in larger malformations such as genitourinary sinus abnormalities (99). There are a number of genetic and environmental factors that are thought to play a role in the development of an ARM.

#### 1.4.2.1. Genetics

Although most ARMs are sporadic and the majority of children don't have an identified genetic anomaly, some ARMs are associated with a number of different genetic conditions suggesting an association with gene mutations or chromosome abnormalities as a cause. Different studies of ARM genetics have suggested different modes of inheritance including X-linked, autosomal dominant and autosomal recessive inheritance, however these have

been difficult to analyse due to the variable types of ARM (100). One study investigated whether specific types of ARM had any effect on heritability of ARMs, suggesting a higher association of perineal or vestibular fistulas with a positive family history. These patients have been shown to have a 2-3 times increased risk of a family member also having an ARM (101).

There are a number of genes found in animal studies thought to be of importance in the genetic aetiology of ARM. These genes include Sonic hedgehog (Shh) gene, Skt, HOX genes, and a number of other genes alongside transcription factors involved in gene signalling pathways including Gli2 and Gli3 (100). Mutations in these genes have been found to result in an ARM. Shh is important for the development of the hindgut with studies of mice with mutations in Shh resulting in the failure of the development of an anus, rectum and lower urinary tract (102). Transcription factors involving in the Shh signalling pathways have also been found to play an important role in the aetiology of ARM. Mice with mutations in Gli2 transcription factor were found to have an imperforate anus with either a rectourethral or rectovaginal fistula, similar to malformations seen in humans (102). In mice with Gli3 mutations, a less severe phenotype is seen with these mice having anal stenosis and sometimes an ectopic anus (102).

Mutations in the Skt gene have been found to increase the incidence of ARMs in mice to 100% due to defects in the dorsal cloacal plate (103). Invalidation of genes such as Fibroblast growth factor 10 (FGF10) and Wnt5a have been shown to result in an ARM phenotype suggesting the critical roles of these genes during the development of the anorectum (104, 105). ARM development may also be linked to chromosome 13 and therefore endothelin receptor type B (EDNRB) including syndromes where ARM is associated with Pallister-Hall or HSCR (106).

#### 1.4.2.2. Environmental factors

Exposure to chemicals such as thalidomide during pregnancy have previously been suggested as potential causes of ARM in infants (107). More recently, a study has shown an increased risk of anal atresia when exposed to benzodiazepine in utero with a significant association between anal atresia and exposure to lorazepam (108). Also, exposure to

ethylenethiourea in utero has been linked to ARM in mice (100). All-transretinoic acid exposure is also thought to be involved in the aetiology of ARM, interfering with caudal migration and possibly inhibiting the Shh signalling pathway (107, 109).

A study assessing the risk factors for ARMs using medical records and questionnaires found higher rates of maternal obesity, an increased age gap between parents, higher rate of infections during pregnancy and the presence of a chronic maternal disease in ARM mothers (110). This study however did not find an increased incidence of ARM in mothers with gestational diabetes mellitus, which was previously suggested in a systematic review on associations between gestational diabetes mellitus and birth defects (111).

#### 1.4.3. Associated conditions

As previously stated, around 63.6% of infants with an ARM also have an associated abnormality (94). There are a number of anomalies associated with ARMs with the most common being urogenital or musculoskeletal anomalies. The most common syndromes associated with ARM are Down's syndrome, HSCR and VACTERL (112).

#### 1.4.3.1. VACTERL

VACTERL includes vertebral anomalies (V), anal atresia (A), cardiac anomalies (C), tracheoesophageal fistula with oesophageal atresia (TE), renal anomalies (R), limb anomalies (L). It has been found in one study that there is a VACTERL association in around 17.8% of patients with an ARM, however around 25.8% have limb anomalies and 61.3% have a cardiac anomaly (113). This shows how some patients may only have one or two anomalies found in VACTERL. This study also suggested a higher risk of poor surgical outcomes and bowel function in patients with VACTERL (113).

#### 1.4.3.2. Urogenital anomalies

Urogenital anomalies found in patients with ARM include vesicoureteric reflux (VUR), renal agenesis, hydronephrosis, undescended testis, hypospadias plus many more (114). These are the most common anomalies found in patients with ARM reportedly occurring in

between 26% to 50% of patients (115, 116). The most common anomaly of the urinary tract in patients with an ARM is VUR with a reported incidence of between 19% to 47.2% (114).

#### 1.4.3.3. Cardiac anomalies

The most common cardiac defects found in patients with ARM are ventricular septal defect (VSD), atrial septal defect (ASD), pulmonary stenosis and tetralogy of Fallot (112). One study found the rate of cardiac anomalies in patients with ARM to be 19.6% however a more recent study reported the incidence at 13.16% (117, 118).

#### 1.4.3.4. Spinal anomalies

The two most common spinal anomalies in patients with ARM are a tethered spinal cord or sacral agenesis. These anomalies are thought to affect between 19% to 26% of patients with an ARM, and therefore is the second most common form of anomaly in this cohort (118, 119). One study suggested a prevalence of a tethered cord in patients to be 24%. Patients with a tethered spinal cord can also have urinary and faecal incontinence alongside lower limb nerve disturbances, suggesting that a tethered cord association may affect the postoperative outcomes of these patients (120). An ARM, sacral defects and a presacral mass form Currarino's triad and has a strong inheritance pattern, familial in 50% of cases, so should be considered in patients with ARM (121, 122).

#### 1.4.4. Classification

#### 1.4.4.1. Males

ARMs are categorised according to their anatomy and therefore some male and female defects are described differently. A rectourethral fistula is the most common ARM in males affecting more than 80% of boys (123). The type of rectourethral fistula depends on the location of the fistula on the urethra and therefore includes recto-bulbar, recto-prostatic and recto-bladder neck fistulas (124). An important sign of recto-urethral fistulas is the passage of meconium through the urethra.(23)

A recto-bulbar fistula connects the bulbar urethra to the rectum, with termination of the rectum above the bulbospongiosus muscle. These patients usually have a normal sacrum

and anal dimple with a voluntary muscle complex superficial to the rectum which shows good contraction (96). The urethra and rectum share a common wall above the fistula, with a patient with a lower fistula therefore having a longer common wall (23).

Recto-prostatic fistulas connect to the higher prostatic part of the urethra and therefore can be associated with an abnormally developed sacrum, poor-quality muscles, a flat perineum and a just visible anal dimple.

Recto-bladder neck and recto-vesical fistulas are more rare than other forms of rectourethral fistula, occurring in around 10% of male patients with ARMs (125). This type of ARM is one of the more severe malformations in male patients, with a fistula between the bladder neck and the rectum, and the termination of the rectum near the bladder neck (126). Due to the poor development of the external anal sphincter, the levator muscles and the striated muscle complex in these patients, the prognosis of bowel function is usually poor (23).

#### 1.4.4.2. Females

There are also some ARMs that can only affect females including a rectovestibular fistula, a rectovaginal fistula and a cloaca. An imperforate anus with a rectovestibular fistula is the most common ARM in females, followed by imperforate anus with rectoperineal fistula and then a cloacal malformation (127). A study on associated malformations in patients with rectovestibular fistulas suggested that around 5% have a vaginal septum (127). The fistula will connect to the posterior vestibule and usually the rectum will terminate above the pubococcygeal line. These patients will have urethral, vaginal and vestibular rectal fistula openings found on physical examination (96).

A cloacal malformation is when the urinary tract, vagina and rectum join to form a common channel. This is the most severe form of ARM and around 10% of females with an ARM have a cloaca (128). The common channel length varies from 1cm to 10cm and opens into a single orifice at the location of the normal urethral opening (129). Around 25% of patients with a cloaca develop a distended vagina filled with fluid (hydrocolpos) which can lead to compression of the trigone of the bladder and therefore the lower ureters causing
hydronephrosis in 30% of female patients with a cloacal malformation (130). Hydrocolpos can also lead to infection and therefore pyocolpos that eventually could perforate (131). The length of the common channel determines the prognosis for faecal continence and difficulty of surgical repair, with those with a shorter channel, <3cm, having a much better prognosis (96). Around 40% of patients with a cloacal malformation have a double Mullerian system, having 2 hemivaginas and 2 hemiuteri which could be symmetric or asymmetric (129).

## 1.4.4.3. Both males and females

There are also some ARMs that can occur in both male and female patients including rectoperineal fistula, imperforate anus without fistula and rectal atresia. Rectoperineal fistulas are the least severe form of ARM and can sometimes be large enough to be mistaken as a normal anus during a newborn examination meaning they present later on in life (132). Only the lowest portion of the rectum and the anus is anteriorly located outside of the sphincter complex and is usually stenotic, whereas the remainder of the rectum is within the normal sphincter complex (23). In some male infants, there may be a prominent midline skin bridge, also known as a 'bucket handle', or a subepithelial midline raphe fistula with the presence of meconium which helps with the diagnosis of a rectoperineal fistula (133).

Around 5% of patients with an ARM do not have a fistula but do have a blind ending rectum that doesn't reach the perineum (134). This is classified as an imperforate anus without fistula. These patients usually have a good muscle complex and a developed sacrum meaning they have good prognosis for bowel function (23). There is a high frequency of Down's syndrome in patients with an imperforate anus without fistula and over 90% of patients with an imperforate anus without a fistula have Down's syndrome (135, 136). A rare ARM that also can occur in both male and female infants is rectal atresia or rectal stenosis. These account for around 1% of all ARM cases and have a very good prognosis for faecal incontinence due to the fact they usually have a normal anal canal and intact anal sphincters (137). There is either full interruption of the lumen of the rectum causing rectal atresia or partial interruption, where the lumen is narrowed, causing rectal stenosis. The anal opening is found in the normal position (138). In rectal atresia, termination of the rectal

36

can occur at any point, however, a fibrous cord is normally connected to the distal bowel or sacrum (96).

### 1.4.5. Clinical features

All ARMs *should* be diagnosed soon after birth during a routine newborn examination. If missed during newborn examination, ARM commonly presents when the infant is around 4 days old with abdominal distension, bowel obstruction and sometimes sepsis (107). Although prenatal screening ultrasounds are used to detect structural abnormalities, the rate of in utero ARM diagnosis is only 16%, normally due to the presence of other VACTERL anomalies, meaning the majority of patients are diagnosed after birth (139). Patients with an ARM present with rapidly progressing abdominal distension, bilious vomiting after 24 hours and failure to pass meconium within the first 48 hours of life (140).

Many ARMs can be distinguished through newborn examination. For a perineal fistula, a tract to the perineum from the rectum is seen with meconium running along the tract to the midline raphe of the scrotum seen occasionally in males. In females with a perineal fistula, there is a very short perineal body separating the fistula from the urethra and vagina. When there is no perineal opening in males, imperforate anus without fistula may only be excluded when meconium is passed via the urethra (141). Meconium in the urine suggests a rectourethral fistula, although the absence of meconium does not exclude the presence of a fistula and more investigations are needed to determine the specific location of the fistula (107). In rectovestibular fistulas, the fistula opening is seen directly posterior to the vagina with assessment of the vagina also needed to exclude a vaginal septum. A cloacal malformation presents with a single perineal opening. In rectal stenosis, there is a normally located anus however there may be a stricture or complete atresia (141).

### 1.4.6. Investigations

After the diagnosis of an ARM is made, a thorough physical examination is needed to establish the type of ARM present and the presence of any associated abnormalities. Determining the level of the defect is an important factor in ARM diagnosis as this will determine further management and operative treatment during the neonatal period (142). In most cases, there should be a delay of 18 to 24 hours before a the decision to form a colostomy is made due to the significant intraluminal pressure needed to expel meconium, with meconium on the perineum suggesting a rectoperineal fistula (143). Alongside clinical examination, diagnosis of ARM can be done through radiology, contrast studies of the fistula and bowel and ultrasound of abdomen, pelvis and spine, although some of these investigations are done when the infant is older (107). These investigations also help to establish whether the patient has any other associated anomalies. If a neonate has a stoma formed as a fistula opening cannot be seen, they normally will have a distal colostogram at around 8 weeks of age.

## 1.4.6.1. VACTERL Screening

Patients must undergo VACTERL screening to look for associated anomalies. Ultrasound scans of the abdomen and pelvis is important to exclude hydrocolpos and renal anomalies such as hydronephrosis. If the infant needs an NG tube, a chest radiograph should be done to confirm it is in the correct location in the stomach and therefore exclude oesophageal atresia and tracheoesophageal fistula. Cardiac evaluation is also important in these patients to using an echocardiogram (ECHO) to rule out cardiac anomalies (144). A spinal ultrasound scan should be done before the infant is 3 months old to establish whether there is a tethered cord and to assess sacral vertebrae and therefore the sacral ratio (141). Sacral ratio is important as sacral dysplasia is associated with incontinence due to sphincter control from S2 to S5 sacral nerve roots (145). Some patients will then require a spinal MRI, once they are older than 3 months old, if abnormalities are found on ultrasound scans. Limb radiographs can also be done if clinically indicated (141).

#### 1.4.6.2. Preoperative investigations

Contrast studies are performed in infants without an external fistulous opening to locate the fistula and assess of associated anomalies. A distal loopogram can also be performed once the infant has had stoma formation to determine if a fistula is present and aid with operation planning (107). In female patients with a single perineal orifice, a cloacagram is needed to determine the length of the common channel and urethra to decide which operative approach is optimal, either total urogenital mobilisation or urogenital separation

38

(146). The determination of urethral length preoperatively means the recommended operation can be performed avoiding the need to change approach intraoperatively and therefore minimising the need for additional dissection which increases the risk of ischaemia (147).

Micturating cystourethrography (MCUG) can be done to look for the presence of vesicoureteric reflux which is more common in children with ARM and is always performed in infants with cloaca, often in conjunction with a colostogram to better determine the anatomy of the cloacal defect.

## 1.4.7. Management

## 1.4.7.1. Newborn management

When a baby is born with an ARM, the initial management includes the placement of an intravenous line for antibiotics and fluids and insertion of a nasogastric tube to prevent vomiting or aspiration (133). In most cases, there should be a delay of 18 to 24 hours before a decision to form a colostomy is made due to the significant intraluminal pressure needed to expel meconium in patients with a rectoperineal fistula (143). Some patients with an ARM may not need immediate surgical intervention including those with a perineal fistula or rectovestibular fistula if passing meconium easily and those with anal stenosis if the stenosis is dilated easily (148).

In the remainder of patients with an ARM, a colostomy is required to divert the faeces and to able the surgeon to perform a distal loopogram to gain a better understanding of the anatomy of the fistula. Different versions of colostomies are done including loop and divided colostomies, however there are a number of post-operative complications associated with these including prolapse or stenosis (149, 150).

## 1.4.7.1.1. Males

Figure 1.2 visually explains the decision-making algorithm for the initial management of male patients presenting with an ARM. In males with a perineal fistula, a primary perineal anoplasty without a covering colostomy can be performed (151). If there is no visible fistula

on the perineum but the infant has normal spine, buttock and sacrum, a cross-table lateral x-ray is indicated. If there is rectal gas below the level of the coccyx suggesting the rectal pouch is within 1cm, then a primary repair can also be performed without the need for a colostomy (148). The majority of these are then repaired with a posterior sagittal anorectoplasty (PSARP), with a minority needing an abdominal component either by laparotomy or laparoscopy (133).



Figure 1.2 Decision-making algorithm for the initial management of male ARM patients (152).

## 1.4.7.1.2. Females

Figure 1.3 visually explains the decision-making algorithm for the initial management of female patients presenting with an ARM. The management for perineal fistulas and for no visible fistula is the same in females as previously described in males. The decision for either colostomy or primary repair of a rectovestibular fistula should be based on the experience of the surgeon, although primary repair without colostomy has been found to have a higher risk of complications (133). When perineal inspection shows a single perineal orifice and a cloacal malformation is suspected, the presence of hydrocolpos is determined. This hydrocolpos then needs to be drained with a tube vaginostomy and a colostomy is formed in the patient (153). These patients need an urgent urogenital ultrasound to look for persistent hydronephrosis after drainage of hydrocolpos. If there is persistent hydronephrosis, urinary diversion is needed (148).



Figure 1.3 Decision-making algorithm for the initial management of female ARM patients (152).

1.4.7.2. Surgical management

1.4.7.2.1. Posterior sagittal anorectoplasty

A posterior sagittal anorectoplasty (PSARP) is a relatively new approach which aims to avoid injury to nerves and other structures within the pelvis (154). It involves a sagittal incision from the sacrum to the perineum and identification of the external sphincter. The muscles are split in the midline and the posterior rectum is identified, dissected and opened just dorsal to the fistula and the fistula is resected (155). In around 10% of males with ARM, the rectum is located higher in the abdomen meaning an additional abdominal approach is needed. Either a laparotomy or laparoscopy can be used to mobilise the rectum (156). The PSARP can also be used for the repair of cloacal malformations with around 30% requiring a laparotomy in addition to the posterior approach due to a longer common channel length and therefore a higher vagina. This is called a posterior-sagittal anorectovaginourethroplasty (157).

### 1.4.7.2.2. Transanal proctoplasty

This is a relatively new approach used for the management of ARM patients with a low variant of the malformation where there is no fistula to the urethra and the rectum terminates just above the normal anal level. This approach avoids extensive dissection and sphincter muscle division therefore decreasing the risk of complications associated with the PSARP (158). The preservation of the internal anal sphincter, not achieved in previous transperineal approaches, has been shown to improve functional outcomes of patients with an ARM (159, 160).

## 1.4.7.2.3. Anoplasty (161)

An anoplasty can be used to repair minor ARMs, such as a perineal fistula, in the first few weeks of an infant's life, without the need for a colostomy. The aim of the procedure is to move the anus back to a normal position within the external anal sphincter. It is important to insert a Foley catheter in the urethra in males to avoid damage in all operations. When managing premature, small or very unwell infants, a cutback procedure is another approach that could be used for perineal fistulas.

## 1.4.8. Outcomes and prognosis

Some short-term complications related to ARM are related to the surgical procedure they have had, including wound infection, anal strictures, femoral nerve injury and anal prolapse, which occurs in around 4% of patients (96, 162). Male patients may have urethral injuries due to rectourethral fistula dissection, and female patients with cloacal malformations, vaginal strictures or fibrosis may occur (96). Long term outcomes for ARMs include the assessment of bowel, urinary and sexual function. Both HSCR and ARM are congenital conditions resulting in problems with the rectum or anus. Both conditions result in obstruction, for which surgical correction requires dissection in a similar tissue plane containing nerves to the distal bowel and bladder (85, 135). Outcomes for both these conditions within literature previously published already include constipation, continence and quality of life, and can be measured in the same way. For example, a study assessing the outcomes reported by previous studies of ARM patients after surgery used similar outcomes, such as voluntary bowel movements and soiling, to those included in the HSCR

COS (163). As the outcomes for these conditions are reported in a similar way, it was therefore decided to use the HSCR COS for ARM patient outcome reporting in later chapters.

## 1.4.8.1. Bowel function

In a study assessing long term bowel function, around 22% of male patients and 27% of female patients, aged between 20 and 40 years old, reported problems relating to bowel function (164). It has also been reported that around 75% of patients with an ARM have voluntary bowel movements however, around 50% of these patients occasionally have faecal soiling. These patients will undergo a bowel management programme using laxatives or bulking agents and can sometimes need daily enemas if affecting the social activity of these patients (156). There are a limited number of studies assessing the long-term bowel function of ARM patients, highlighting the importance of this study.

### 1.4.8.2. Urinary function

A study looking at urinary function in patients with an ARM reported urinary incontinence in around 33% of patients with a high ARM, with a lower incidence of urinary incontinence in patients undergoing a PSARP by up to 8% (165). Neurogenic bladder has also been reported in around 10% of patients who underwent definitive ARM surgery causing a decrease in urinary function (123). A positive correlation between partial or severe sacral agenesis and abnormal lower urinary tract function has been reported (123). It has also been found that urinary tract anomalies are more common in patients with a higher ARM which could potentially lead to worse outcomes for these patients (114).

## 1.4.8.3. Sexual function

A study looking at sexual function in patients with an ARM found that most females had normal reproductive function and most avoid difficulties in pregnancy if not complicated by severe genital or sacral anomalies (165). Another study assessing sexual function in males found abnormal ejaculatory function in 41.2%, with 71.4% of these patients with sexual problems also having sacral anomalies suggesting a need for long-term follow-up in patients with ARM complicated by a sacral anomaly (166).

43

## 1.5. Core Outcome Set

A core outcome set (COS) is a group of outcomes chosen by key stakeholder groups to be the most important factors when assessing the success of management of the specific condition being looked at (167). This is important as, theoretically, it would mean there would be less selective reporting of outcomes and outcomes would be easier to compare and contrast in systematic reviews in order to find gold standard treatments (168). Once a COS has been produced for a specific condition, the intention is for it to be used in all future studies on that condition and these studies should include data for every outcome within that disease-specific COS. The reason for implementing this across different studies is to reduce outcome reporting heterogeneity and therefore provide the ability to identify management options producing optimal outcomes for patients with this specific condition.(169) A core outcome set for HSCR has been developed, however due to the similarities in outcome reporting, this core outcome set is also able to be applied to ARM.

### 1.5.1. Development (169)

The aim of the development of the HSCR COS was to produce a COS which could be used in future studies comparing interventions for the management of children with HSCR in highincome countries. Participants for the development of the COS were recruited into key stakeholder groups with either experience of living with HSCR, patient or parent, or those with experience of management HSCR. These stakeholder groups were paediatric surgeons, neonatologisits, paediatric gastroenterologists, specialist nurses or people with HSCR and parents of children with HSCR. Each member in the groups had an equal input into the selection of outcomes.

First a systematic review on surgical interventions for HSCR was done to identify outcomes to be involved in the three-phase Delphi process being used to identify the COS. This was then followed by a face-to-face consensus meeting

## 1.5.1.1. Three-phase Delphi process

In phase one, outcomes were scored from 1 to 9 based on importance of deciding whether the management of HSCR was working. In phase two, participants were shown their groups scores for the outcomes and asked if they wanted to change their score. Outcomes scored 1 to 3 by more than 50% of participants and those scored 7-9 by less than 50% of participants were removed. In phase three, participants were shown all groups scores and asked again if they wanted to change their score. Following phase three, outcomes with scores of less than 15% 1 to 3 and more than 70% 7 to 9 were included.

## 1.5.1.2. Consensus meeting

A consensus meeting was held to identify the final 10 outcomes for the HSCR COS and to identify the measures to be used for these outcomes included. A total of 17 participants were selected to attend the consensus meeting from all three panels (neonatal, non-neonatal and personal experience panels) to ensure a range of expertise were represented. 45 outcomes met the threshold for discussion at the consensus meeting after the three-phase Delphi process. Participants in the consensus meeting were shown the results of the Delphi process and graphical representation of the scores for each outcome, and after discussion of each outcome, re-scoring occurred. When these 45 outcomes were scored at the consensus meeting, those outcomes with more than 70% of participants scoring the outcome between 7 and 9, and less than 15% scoring the outcome between 1 and 3 were included in the next stage. 15 of the 45 outcomes met the criteria for inclusion.

Prior to this process, it was decided that only up to 10 outcomes would be included in the COS. If there were more than 10 outcomes included, 10 would be picked using the following method:

- The highest scoring outcomes in each of the four OMERACT 2.0 core areas (death, life impact, pathophysiological manifestation or resource use/economical impact)
- Highest scoring adverse event outcomes if not already included
- The next five highest scoring outcomes

Therefore, only 10 of these 15 outcomes could be included in the HSCR COS according to the protocol. As the highest scoring adverse event outcome was already included, a sixth highest scoring outcome was included in the final HSCR COS.

# 1.5.2. Outcomes (169)

Outcomes in the COS can be split into clinician reported outcomes and patient reported outcomes. Clinician reported outcomes include death with cause specified, unplanned reoperation with indication specified, need for a permanent stoma with indication specified and Hirschsprung-associated enterocolitis. Patient reported outcomes include long-term faecal incontinence, objective score of bowel function, long-term voluntary bowel movements without need for enemas or colonic irrigation, long-term psychological stress for the patient with HSCR, long-term urinary incontinence, and objective score of quality of life. The outcomes included in the Hirschsprung's Disease COS are shown in Table 1.2 alongside the definitions for each outcome.

	Core Outcome	Definition
Clinician	Death with cause specified	Death with a cause due to:
reported		1. A complication of treatment
outcomes		2. Hirschsprung-associated
		enterocolitis
		3. An associated anomaly
		4. Other
	Unplanned reoperation with	Unplanned to any procedure not part
	indication specified	of routine practice.
		This should include procedures
		performed as a direct result of
		diagnosis or treatment and any
		episode of general anaesthesia
		required as a direct result of the
		diagnosis or treatment, regardless of
		whether an operative intervention is
		undertaken (e.g. examination under
		anaesthesia or manual evacuation).

	Core Outcome	Definition
Clinician	Need for a permanent stoma with	Need for a permanent stoma as a
reported	indication specified	direct result of the diagnosis or
outcomes		treatment, including where decision
		was made out of patient or parental
		preference, or for continence
		management.
		Permanent stoma is defined as one
		created without the intention for
		later reversal.
	Hirschsprung-associated	A score of 10 or more on the
	enterocolitis	Hirschsprung-associated enterocolitis
		Delphi score by Pastor et al. Where
		this is not possible, it should be
		defined as 'Clinician decision to admit
		and instigate treatment for HAEC.
		Information should be reported on
		whether a participant has had any
		episodes of HAEC up to a standard
		time-point, but also the number of
		episodes.
Patient	Long-term faecal incontinence	Involuntary passage of faecal matter
reported		in an inappropriate place by a child
outcomes		aged 5 years or over.
		Severity should be graded as:
		1. Occasionally (once or twice a
		week), with or without social
		problems
		2. Every day, but without social
		problems
		3. Constant, with social problems

	Core outcome	Definition
Patient	Objective score of bowel function	Objective score of bowel function, as
reported		measured by the Paediatric
outcomes		Incontinence and Constipation Score
		(PICS) in children under 18 years of
		age, and the Gastrointestinal Quality
		of Life Index (GIQLI) in adults over 18
		years of age.
	Long-term voluntary bowel	Long-term voluntary bowel
	movements	movements without need for enema
		or rectal or colonic irrigation.
	Long-term psychological stress for	Long-term psychological stress for the
	the individual with HSCR	individual with HSCR as measured by
		the Pediatric Quality of Life score
		(PedsQL) in children under 18 years of
		age, and the GIQLI in adults over 18
		years of age.
	Long-term urinary incontinence	Involuntary voiding of urine that is
		constant, associated with social
		problems or requiring catheterisation.
	Objective score of quality of life	Quality of life measured by the age-
	using appropriate age-specific	appropriate PedsQL questionnaire.
	measures	

 Table 1.2. The Hirschsprung's Disease Core Outcome Set and each of their definitions (169)

# 1.6. Summary

In summary, HSCR and ARMs are rare diseases, with a small number of babies born with these each year. Due to these small numbers, there is very limited data on the outcomes following surgery for children with either HSCR or an ARM, with significant outcome reporting heterogeneity in studies reporting these outcomes. Also, studies reporting information on these conditions and their outcomes are usually of low quality, highlighting the need for a higher quality study assessing the outcomes of patients with either HSCR or ARM. Therefore, it is important to use to HSCR COS to determine the current outcomes of children with either HSCR or an ARM to potentially help with future counselling of patients with these conditions.

# 2. A systematic review of the differences in outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's disease

# 2.1. Chapter introduction

Systematic reviews are an effective method of collecting all relevant studies on a certain topic in order to analyse information currently being reported and to assess missing areas of research. Although there are a large number of studies reporting outcomes of patients with Hirschsprung's Disease (HSCR), variability of the outcomes reported and the age at which outcomes are reported has created limitations when assessing treatment effectiveness. The HSCR Core Outcome Set (COS) was created in order to reduce variability in outcome reporting aiming to reduce reporting bias and improve meta-analyses in studies reporting outcomes of patients with HSCR. The use of a COS in other conditions, such as Ankylosing Spondylitis, has greatly improved outcome reporting in research, demonstrating the power that a COS in HSCR studies may have on the quality of reproducibility of research into this rare condition (170).

This systematic review identifies studies reporting outcomes of patients with HSCR in the five years before and after the publication of the HSCR COS. The outcomes reported and their measures or tools used in each study were qualitatively analysed for changes in COS reporting. Before this piece of research, no study has evaluated the variability in outcome reporting before and after the publication of the HSCR COS.

# 2.2. Research question and objectives

# 2.2.1. Research question

How do the timings and methods of measuring outcomes in publications about patients with Hirschsprung's disease in the five years prior to the publication of the Hirschsprung's disease core outcome set differ to the publications after the publication of the core outcome set?

# 2.2.2. Objectives

- To identify published studies reporting outcomes of patients with Hirschsprung's disease
- To identify the outcomes being reported and the methods being used to measure these outcomes at different time points
- To qualitatively analyse the published literature reporting outcomes of patients with Hirschsprung's disease
- To highlight areas where future research is needed

# 2.3. Methods

# 2.3.1. Protocol

The systematic review protocol was registered on PROSPERO (CRD42022298594) prior to starting any database searches. The study was reported in accordance with the guidelines set out by the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement (171).

# 2.3.2. Search Strategy

A systematic review was performed to identify studies reporting outcomes in patients with Hirschsprung's disease and to assess which outcomes were being reported, including the outcome measures being used and timings of these outcomes.

An initial scoping search was carried out to identify and examine previous studies analysing differences in outcome reporting in patients with Hirschsprung's disease before and after the publication of the core outcome set. No studies assessing this were found, therefore justifying the need for a systematic review of outcome reporting in Hirschsprung's disease.

The electronic databases used to identify relevant articles for this systematic review were PubMed, Scopus and Medline (OVID), with the final search of these databases being conducted on the 10<sup>th</sup> of January 2022. The search strategy was designed based on terms identified from a previous systematic review on outcomes in Hirschsprung's disease (172) and through the use of a thesaurus using terms, identified in free-text, related to

Hirschsprung's disease and outcome reporting. The search strategy was adapted for the requirements of each database used and contained a mixture of free text and MeSH (medical sub-headings) terms which were combined using Boolean operators. The search strategy was limited to publications after 2012 (five years prior to the COS publication), publications in the English language, and publications with their full text available.

The final search strategy contained terms related to Hirschsprung's disease and outcomes:

- Hirschsprung's disease:
  - "Hirschsprung's disease"
  - "Hirschsprung disease"
  - Hirschsprung\*
  - o recto-sigmoid
  - o aganglionosis
  - colon\* aganglionosis
- Outcomes:
  - o outcome
  - "quality of life"
  - o "bowel function"

The full search strategy can be found in Appendix 1.

# 2.3.3. Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Table 2.1 shows the inclusion and exclusion criteria for this systematic review. The comparator aspect of the inclusion and exclusion criteria was not deemed relevant for this question. The aim of this systematic review is to identify outcomes being reported in patients with Hirschsprung's disease. This therefore means that patients without histologically diagnosed Hirschsprung's disease and patients with mixed diagnoses were excluded as this would make it difficult to determine which outcomes were being reported for Hirschsprung's disease specifically. Also, animal studies were excluded for the same reason. Outcomes included were any outcome, either included or not included in the HSCR core outcome set, reported for patients with Hirschsprung's disease. Both the measure used for the outcome and the timing of the measurement were also included in this. Study types

including review articles and systematic reviews with meta-analyses were excluded to ensure data from the same study was not extracted more than once. Finally, case reports were excluded as they only include very small numbers of children and are therefore unlikely to represent the majority of the children with HSCR whose outcomes are within the published literature. Case reports are also more likely to describe unusual cases and therefore described outcomes are less likely to be typical.

	Include	Exclude
Population	Any human patient	Animal studies
Intervention	Any management of	
	Hirschsprung's disease	
Condition	Histologically diagnosed	Not histologically diagnosed
	Hirschsprung's disease	Hirschsprung's disease
		Mixed diagnosis
Comparator		
Outcome	Any outcome reported in	
	the Hirschsprung's disease	
	core outcome set	
	Any outcome not reported	
	in the Hirschsprung's	
	disease core outcome set	
Study design	Primary research	Case reports
	Randomised control trial	Review articles
	Cohort study	Systematic review and meta-
	Case control study	analysis
	English language	
	Full text available	
	• Published after 1 <sup>st</sup> January	
	2012	

Table 2.1. A PICOS table of inclusion and exclusion criteria

## 2.3.4. Article Screening

Articles found from the electronic database searches were imported into the systematic review online platform Rayyan (https://www.rayyan.ai/) on which the duplicate articles were able to be found and removed (173). All remaining non-duplicated articles were then independently screened by two reviewers (EO and RH) using titles and abstracts, assessing them against the inclusion criteria. Both reviewers were required to agree on the exclusion of any article. Any disagreements in the decision to exclude an article was first discussed between the two reviewers. If a consensus was not reached after this stage, the article was screened independently by a third member of the team (SK – a consultant paediatric surgeon) to decide whether it met the inclusion criteria.

For 695 of the articles, the two reviewers were already in agreement. 49 out of the remaining 57 articles were then agreed upon after a discussion leaving 8 articles to be screened by the third reviewer.

## 2.3.5. Full Text Review

The full texts for each of the articles were reviewed at the end of the screening process and when there was a disagreement in whether to exclude the article. The full text was assessed according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria which was then discussed between the two reviewers.

# 2.3.6. Additional methods of study identification

One additional study was identified through another source which was the reference lists of included articles. The initial study that helped form the search strategy could not be included as it was a systematic review (172).

## 2.3.7. Data Extraction

Each included article was read, and the data was extracted and entered into a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet. This data extraction tool was constructed by the two reviewers (EO and RH). The extracted data included study details, number of patients, outcomes reported, measures used for outcome reporting and timings of outcome reporting. Table 2.2 shows the full list of data that was extracted.

Area	Description
Study details	Author, title, year of publication, study
	location, study type
Population	Number of Hirschsprung's disease patients,
	number of controls, age of patients at
	follow up, type of Hirschsprung's disease
Intervention	Type of intervention
Outcome	Name of outcome, method used to
	measure outcome, time point of
	measurement of outcome

Table 2.2. A PICOS table of extracted data from included studies

# 2.3.8. Qualitative Synthesis

The main aim of this systematic review was to produce a list of all outcomes being reported by studies at different time points. If two outcomes being reported were similar, for example post-operative complications and post-operative wound infection, these outcomes were discussed with other members of the research team to discuss whether they should be classed under the same outcome term to prevent excessive numbers of outcomes being extracted under different categories, allowing for more accurate data extraction and less risk of missing outcomes being reported in studies when extracted as a group.

Outcomes were classified as either being a part of the Hirschsprung's disease core outcome set or not part of the core outcome set. Those outcomes in the COS were further classified as either patient-reported outcomes or clinician-reported outcomes. The OMERACT filter 2.0 acts as a framework for consistent outcome reporting in research and is used in the COS as five important areas of outcome reporting (174). These five areas are death, pathophysiological manifestations, resource use, life impact and adverse events.

## 2.3.9. Quality Assessment

A quality assessment of each study was not performed in this systematic review as only the outcomes being reported by each of the studies were collected. No data from the outcomes being reported was analysed in this systematic review and therefore meaning a quality assessment of the studies was not necessary.

## 2.3.10. Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using Prism 9.0 (Graphpad). Outcomes are presented as counts and percentages, medians (IQR) or means (SD). Categorical data were compared using Fisher's Exact Test and an Odds Ratio (OR [95% CI]) was also calculated.

## 2.4. Results

## 2.4.1. Study identification

A total of 1008 studies were identified from the three electronic databases through use of the previously mentioned search strategy, with one additional article identified from searching through the included articles. 258 duplicates were found and removed, leaving 751 articles left to be screened according to their title or abstract. Of these studies, 532 were excluded, leaving 219 to be screened for eligibility using the full text. 26 of these only had their abstracts accessible, 3 did not have an available full text and 2 did not report outcomes in their study. A total of 188 studies were deemed eligible according to the inclusion criteria for this systematic review. Figure 2.1 shows a flowchart explaining the study identification process.



Figure 2.1. PRISMA flow diagram

# 2.4.2. Study and patient characteristics

The 188 studies were completed in 35 different countries. The most common countries for the location of the studies were China (n=41), USA (n=24), Sweden (n=15) and Japan (n=14). India, The Netherlands and UK each completed 9 studies, and Indonesia, France, Iran and Egypt each completed 6 studies. There were also 5 studies from each of Finland and Norway, and 4 studies from each of Italy, Australia and Korea. The remaining number of studies from each country were as follows: 2 from each from Turkey and Canada, and 1 each from Brazil, Belgium, South Africa, Uzbekistan, Pakistan, Niger, Seoul, Serbia, Morocco, Austria, Nepal, Germany, Saudi Arabia, Ireland, Romania, Tanzania and Tunisia. The total number of HSCR patients included in all studies was 25,525 with a median of 49 patients in each study, ranging from 2 to 3635 (IQR 71) HSCR patients per study. 37 studies had a control group as part of their study, with the remaining studies either comparing outcome results to the general population or not comparing their results at all. The average age of HSCR patients ranged from 1 month (0.1 years) to 38 years of age however, 15 studies did not specify any ages of the patients at data collection. Also, the majority of studies had a low proportion of female patients (median percentage= 23.55, range= 0.0 - 88.3), with 16 studies no reporting the proportion of female HSCR patients in their study. Table 2.3 shows the study and patient characteristics in more detail.

Lead Author (year)	Location	Number of patients and controls	Age of patient at time of assessment (years)	Sex (% female)	Classification of HSCR	Intervention
Delgado-Miguel C (2022) (175)	USA	HSCR: 15	Median: 6.6	66.6	SS: 12 LS: 3	Surgery: pull- through
Onishi S (2021)(176)	Japan	HSCR: 65	At 5, 7 and 9	20	SS: 50 LS: 13 TCA: 2	Surgery: pull- through
Davidson JR (2021)(177)	UK	HSCR: 32 Controls: 186	With learning difficulties: 20 Without learning difficulties: 28	28.4	SS: 241 LS: 50 TCA: 41	Surgery: pull- through and stoma
Bapaye A (2021)(178)	India	HSCR: 9	Median: 5.4	22.2	SS: 9	Surgery: pull- through
Pecoraro AR (2021)(179)	USA	HSCR: 3345	Median: 0.3	24.1	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Shankar G (2021)(180)	India	HSCR: 11	Mean: 5.2	18.2	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Svetanoff WJ (2021)(181)	USA	HSCR: 21 Controls: 19	Median: 0.9	25	SS: 26 LS: 14	Surgery: pull- through
Pini Prato A (2021)(182)	Italy	HSCR: 280	Unspecified	23.6	SS: 203 LS: 21 TCA: 44 TIA: 7	Surgery: pull- through or stoma
Nasr A (2021)(183)	USA	HSCR: 673	Mean: 13.7	24.7	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through

Lead Author (year)	Location	Number of patients and controls	Age of patient at time of assessment (years)	Sex (% female)	Classification of HSCR	Intervention
Arafa A (2021)(184)	Egypt	HSCR: 15	Between 3-7	33.3	SS: 10 LS: 5	Surgery: pull- through
Li Q (2021)(185)	China	HSCR: 36	Median: 5.1	19.4	SS: 15 LS: 11 TCA: 10	Surgery: pull- through
Davidson JR (2021)(92)	UK	HSCR: 186	Median: 28	27.4	SS: 141 LS: 45	Surgery: pull- through or stoma
Kastenberg ZJ (2021)(186)	USA	HSCR: 82	Unspecified	17	SS: 56 LS: 11 TCA: 4 Unknown: 11	Surgery: pull- through
Rentea RM (2021)(187)	USA	HSCR: 67 Controls: 1372	Mean: 3.9	21.6	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Peng C (2021)(188)	China	HSCR: 7	Median: 11.1	0	Unspecified	Unspecified
Zbaida R (2021)(189)	South Africa	HSCR: 76	Mean: 6	25	SS: 55 LS: 14 Unknown: 7	Surgery: pull- through
Yuan Y (2021)(190)	China	HSCR: 46	Mean: 8.1	17.4	SS: 14 LS: 27 TCA: 5	Surgery: pull- through
Telborn L (2021)(191)	Sweden	HSCR: 10	Median: 4.3	20	SS: 7 LS: 1 TCA: 2	Surgery: pull- through or stoma

Lead Author (year)	Location	Number of patients and controls	Age of patient at time of assessment (years)	Sex (% female)	Classification of HSCR	Intervention
Loganathan AK (2021)(192)	India	HSCR: 86	Mean: 7	17.4	SS: 58 LS: 21 TCA: 7	Surgery: pull- through
Apfeld JC (2021)(193)	USA	HSCR: 1268	All younger than 2	20.6	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Kim S-H (2021)(194)	Korea	HSCR: 82	Mean: 6.3	34.1	SS: 82	Surgery: pull- through
Allin BSR (2020)(195)	UK	HSCR: 239	Median 6.8	Unspecified	Unspecified	Unspecified
Verkuijl SJ (2022)(196)	The Netherlands	HSCR: 334	Median: 17	20.9	SS: 280 LS: 29 TCA: 25	Surgery: pull- through
Askarpour S (2021)(197)	Iran	HSCR: 70	Unspecified	Unspecified	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Youn JK (2021)(198)	Korea	HSCR: 33	Median: 18.6	27.3	TCA: 33	Surgery: pull- through
Yan J-Y (2020)(199)	China	HSCR: 9 Controls: 21	Mean: 8.4	22.2	TCA: 9	Surgery: re-do pull-through
Gunadi IG (2021)(200)	Indonesia	HSCR: 50	Median: 2.6	32	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Lin Z (2021)(201)	China	HSCR: 47	Mean: 0.4	14.9	SS: 47	Surgery: pull- through
Lin Z (2021)(202)	China	HSCR: 95	Mean: 0.5	17.9	SS: 78 LS: 17	Surgery: pull- through
Kabbash MM (2021)(203)	Egypt	HSCR: 32	Mean: 5.5	25	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through

Lead Author (year)	Location	Number of patients and controls	Age of patient at time of assessment (years)	Sex (% female)	Classification of HSCR	Intervention
Chen F (2021)(204)	China	HSCR: 30	Mean: 7.5	6.7	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Hoel AT (2021)(205)	Norway	HSCR: 17	Median: 29	47.1	SS and LS: 16 TCA: 1	Surgery: pull- through
Liu Q (2021)(206)	China	HSCR: 40 Controls: 40	Mean: 1.6	20	SS: 39 TCA: 1	Home nursing
Roorda D (2021)(207)	The Netherlands	HSCR: 131	Median: 8	22.1	SS: 89 LS:23 TCA: 16 Unknown: 7	Intrasphincteric botox injection
Davidson JR (2021)(93)	UK	HSCR: 137	Median: 29	29.9	Unspecified	Unspecified
Mohamed W (2021)(208)	Egypt	HSCR: 23	Median: 0.9	26.1	SS: 23	Surgery: pull- through
Gabriela GC (2020)(209)	Indonesia	HSCR: 21	Median: 6.4	28.6	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Fosby MV (2020)(210)	Norway	HSCR: 50	Median: 8.1 then 15.4	20	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Khamroev UA (2020)(211)	Uzbekistan	HSCR: 61	Mean: 0.5	13.1	SS: 40 LS: 21	Surgery: pull- through
Watanabe T (2020)(212)	Japan	HSCR: 5	Median: 2.5	20	LS: 3 TCA: 2	Surgery: pull- through
Saysoo MR (2020)(213)	Indonesia	HSCR: 11	Aged over 6	18.2	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Brooks LA (2020)(214)	USA	HSCR: 45 Controls: 22	At 1 and 2	13.3	SS: 45	Surgery: pull- through

Lead Author (year)	Location	Number of patients and controls	Age of patient at time of assessment (years)	Sex (% female)	Classification of HSCR	Intervention
Granstrom AL (2020)(215)	Sweden	HSCR: 739 Controls: 7390	Median: 19	23.5	Unspecified	Unspecified
Pruitt LCC (2020)(216)	USA	HSCR: 138 Controls: 1892	Unspecified	23.2	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Espeso L (2020)(217)	France	HSCR: 63	Mean: 11	30.2	SS: 50 LS: 11 Unknown: 2	Surgery: pull- through
Ali S (2020)(218)	Pakistan	HSCR: 31	Mean: 1.1	12.9	SS: 31	Surgery: pull- through
Peters NJ (2020)(219)	India	HSCR: 69	Mean: 7.7	13	SS: 69	Surgery: pull- through
Svetanoff WJ (2020)(220)	USA	HSCR: 27	Unspecified	14.8	SS: 14 LS: 10 TCA: 1 Unknown: 2	Surgery: pull- through
Stenstrom P (2020)(221)	Sweden	HSCR: 93	Median: 12	32.8	TCA: 93	Surgery: pull- through
Gunadi (2020)(222)	Indonesia	HSCR: 64	Unspecified	29.7	SS: 62 LS: 2	Surgery: pull- through
Dai Y (2020)(223)	China	HSCR: 84	Median: 3.8	13.1	SS: 65 LS: 13 TCA: 1 Other: 5	Surgery: pull- through
Meng X (2020)(224)	China	HSCR: 109 Controls: 95	Mean: 4.5	21.6	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through

Lead Author (year)	Location	Number of patients and controls	Age of patient at time of assessment (years)	Sex (% female)	Classification of HSCR	Intervention
Oh C (2020)(225)	Korea	HSCR: 396	Median: 6.23	24.7	SS: 348 LS 37 TCA: 11	Surgery: pull- through
Mille E (2020)(226)	France	HSCR: 15	Mean: 10.3	40	SS: 13 LS: 2	Surgery: pull- through
Quiroz HJ (2020)(227)	USA	HSCR: 3635	Groups of <1, 1-6, 7-12 and 13-18	25.2	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Townley OG (2020)(228)	UK	HSCR: 71	Mean: 5.4	19.7	SS and LS: 71	Surgery: pull- through
Schlund D (2020)(229)	USA	HSCR: 32	Mean: 36	25	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Tang J (2020)(230)	China	HSCR: 75 Controls: 73	Mean: 0.4	18.2	SS: 101 LS: 43 TCA: 4	Surgery: pull- through
Pini Prato A (2020)(231)	Italy	HSCR: 11	Median: 3.4	18.2	SS: 6 LS: 3 TCA: 2	Surgery: pull- through
Zhuansun D (2020)(232)	China	HSCR: 97 Controls: 101	Mean: 11.9	24.2	SS: 55 LS: 143	Surgery: pull- through
Zhu J (2020)(233)	China	HSCR: 109	Between 3 and 6	Unspecified	SS: 82 LS: 27	Surgery: pull- through
Halleran DR (2020)(234)	USA	HSCR: 12 Controls: 74	Median: 2.8	41.7	SS: 11 LS: 1	Surgery: pull- through
Yan J (2020)(235)	China	HSCR: 35	Mean: 4.9	31.4	TCA: 35	Surgery: pull- through

Lead Author (year)	Location	Number of patients and controls	Age of patient at time of assessment (years)	Sex (% female)	Classification of HSCR	Intervention
Zhang X (2020)(236)	China	HSCR: 190 Controls: 193	Mean: 2	37.1	SS: 391 LS: 69 TCA: 19	Surgery: pull- through
Xu P-P (2019)(237)	China	HSCR: 53	Mean: 0.5	24.5	SS: 11 LS: 26 TCA:16	Surgery: pull- through
Elsherbeny M (2019)(238)	Egypt	HSCR: 21	Mean: 2	38.1	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Adamou H (2019)(239)	Niger	HSCR: 2	21 and 22	50	SS: 2	Surgery: pull- through
Youn JK (2019)(240)	Seoul	HSCR: 15	Median: 4.8	20	SS:14 TCA: 1	Surgery: pull- through
Roorda D (2019)(241)	The Netherlands	HSCR: 3	Mean: 3.2	0	SS: 2 LS: 1	Surgery: pull- through
Hoff N (2019)(242)	Sweden	HSCR: 69	Median: 0.2	26.1	SS: 61 LS: 8	Surgery: pull- through
Amin L (2019)(243)	Sweden	HSCR: 739 Controls: 7390	Mean: 19	23.5	Unspecified	Unspecified
Berrios CD (2019)(244)	USA	HSCR: 368	Mean: 38	88.3	Unspecified	Unspecified
Fusaro F (2019)(245)	Italy	HSCR: 14	Median: 6.7	28.6	TIA: 14	Surgery: intestinal reconstruction
Louis-Borrione C (2019)(246)	France	HSCR: 15	Mean: 7.1	Unspecified	SS: 11 LS: 2 TCA: 2	Intrasphincteric Botox injection

Lead Author (year)	Location	Number of patients and controls	Age of patient at time of assessment (years)	Sex (% female)	Classification of HSCR	Intervention
Ashjaei B (2019)(247)	Iran	HSCR: 15 Controls: 18	Mean: 8.1	26.7	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Meinds RJ (2019)(248)	The Netherlands	HSCR: 346	Median: 18	20.8	US: 10 SS: 282 LS: 29 TCA: 25	Surgery: pull- through
Gustafson E (2019)(249)	Sweden	HSCR: 69 Controls: 138	Mean: 37.8	18.8	Unspecified	Unspecified
Ghorbanpour M (2019)(250)	Iran	HSCR: 55	Mean: 0.3	56.4	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Askarpour S (2019)(251)	Iran	HSCR: 160	Unspecified	32.5	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Gupta DK (2019)(252)	India	HSCR: 32	Mean: 3.6	18.8	SS: 28 LS: 2 TCA: 2	Surgery: pull- through
Obata S (2019)(253)	Japan	HSCR: 327	Unspecified	Unspecified	SS: 286 LS: 36 TCA: 4 TIA: 1	Surgery: pull- through
Hedbys J (2019)(254)	Sweden	HSCR: 53	Median: 7	Unspecified	SS and LS: 53	Surgery: pull- through
Sekioka A (2019)(255)	Japan	HSCR: 6 Controls: 7	Mean: 0.1	0	TIA: 6	Surgery: stoma
Freedman-Weiss MR (2019)(256)	USA	HSCR: 282	Mean: 0.1	18.1	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through

Lead Author (year)	Location	Number of patients and controls	Age of patient at time of assessment (years)	Sex (% female)	Classification of HSCR	Intervention
Jiao C (2019)(257)	China	HSCR: 36 Controls: 44	Mean: 1	27.8	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Obata S (2019)(258)	Japan	HSCR: 11	Unspecified	27.8	Unspecified	Surgery: stoma
Drissi F (2019)(259)	France	HSCR: 34	Mean: 32	23.5	SS: 20 LS: 3 TCA: 3 Unknown: 8	Surgery: pull- through
Sola R Jr (2019)(260)	USA	HSCR: 100	Unspecified	18	Unspecified	Unspecified
Zhu T (2019)(72)	China	HSCR: 198	Less than 1	20.2	SS: 198	Surgery: stoma
Peng CH (2018)(261)	China	HSCR: 5	Median: 6.8	Unspecified	SS: 4 LS: 1	Surgery: pull- through
Zheng Z (2018)(262)	China	HSCR: 172	Mean: 1.1	19.8	SS: 111 LS: 61	Surgery: pull- through
Gunadi (2018)(263)	Indonesia	HSCR: 67	Unspecified	26.9	SS: 66 LS: 1	Surgery: pull- through
Xi Z (2018)(264)	China	HSCR: 50	Mean: 1.6	24	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Widyasari A (2018)(265)	Indonesia	HSCR: 53	Mean: 2.5	15.1	SS: 47 LS: 6	Surgery: pull- through
Chung PHY (2018)(266)	China	HSCR: 45	Median: 4.3	24.4	SS: 45	Surgery: pull- through

Lead Author (year)	Location	Number of patients and controls	Age of patient at time of assessment (years)	Sex (% female)	Classification of HSCR	Intervention
Sood S (2018)(267)	Australia	HSCR: 58	Median: 14.5	15.5	SS: 49 LS: 5 TCA: 2 Unknown: 2	Surgery: pull- through
Yokota K (2018)(268)	Japan	HSCR: 16 Controls: 27	Median: 3.8	12.5	SS: 13 LS: 3	Surgery: pull- through
Neuvonen MI (2018)(269)	The Netherlands	HSCR: 34 Controls: 141	Median: 12	17.6	SS: 30 LS: 3 TCA: 1	Surgery: pull- through
Roorda D (2018)(270)	The Netherlands	HSCR: 53	Median: 16.5	22.6	TCA: 53	Surgery: pull- through
Miyano G (2018)(271)	Japan	HSCR: 106	At 1, 3, 5, 7 and 10	35.8	SS: 106	Surgery: pull- through
Huang WK (2018)(272)	China	HSCR: 181	Mean: 6.3	21.5	SS: 153 LS: 21 TCA: 7	Surgery: pull- through
Tran VQ (2018)(273)	Belgium	HSCR: 53	Mean: 16.1	32.1	SS: 38 LS: 11 TCA: 4	Surgery: pull- through
Zhang X (2018)(274)	China	HSCR: 23	Median: 5.2	56.5	TCA: 23	Surgery: pull- through
Zhang J (2017)(275)	China	HSCR: 29	At 0.25, 0.5, 2 and 5	27.6	SS: 22 LS: 7	Surgery: pull- through
Lof Granstrom A (2017)(90)	Sweden	HSCR: 739 Controls: 7390	Median: 19	23.5	Unspecified	Unspecified

Lead Author (year)	Location	Number of patients and controls	Age of patient at time of assessment (years)	Sex (% female)	Classification of HSCR	Intervention
Bjornland K (2017)(276)	Norway	HSCR: 200	Median: 9.5	Unspecified	SS: 200	Surgery: pull- through
Bradnock TJ (2017)(15)	UK	HSCR: 305	Under 0.5	22.9	SS: 198 LS: 60 TCA: 8 Unknown: 4	Unspecified
Neuvonen M (2017)(277)	Finland	HSCR: 59 Controls: 177	Median: 18	27.1	SS: 51 LS: 6 TCA: 2	Surgery: pull- through
Onishi S (2017)(278)	Japan	HSCR: 16	Median: 25	50	SS: 12 LS: 4	Surgery: pull- through
De la Torre L (2017)(279)	USA	HSCR: 39	Mean: 7	20.5	SS: 39	Surgery: pull- through
Collins L (2017)(280)	Australia	HSCR: 60	Mean: 6.4	18.3	SS: 47 LS: 7 TCA: 5 TIA: 1	Surgery: pull- through
Cheng S (2017)(281)	China	HSCR: 80	Median: 2.7	18.8	SS: 61 LS: 19	Surgery: pull- through
Hasserius J (2017)(282)	Sweden	HSCR: 13 Controls: 40	Median: 7	23.1	SS and LS: 13	Surgery: pull- through
Graneli C (2017)(283)	Sweden	HSCR: 51	Median: 5	23.5	SS and LS: 51	Surgery: pull- through
Bing X (2017)(284)	China	HSCR: 148	Mean: 3.5	Unspecified	SS: 130 LS: 18	Surgery: pull- through

Lead Author (year)	Location	Number of patients and controls	Age of patient at time of assessment (years)	Sex (% female)	Classification of HSCR	Intervention
Yasui Y (2017)(285)	Japan	HSCR: 7	Mean: 10.6	14.3	SS: 4 LS: 3	Surgery: pull- through
Lu C (2017)(286)	China	HSCR: 650	Mean: 0.3	23.5	SS: 650	Surgery: pull- through
Neuvonen MI (2017)(287)	Finland	HSCR: 79	Median: 15	25.3	SS: 66 LS: 7 TCA: 3 Extended: 3	Surgery: pull- through or stoma
Church JT (2017)(288)	USA	HSCR: 12	Mean: 4.8	25	Unspecified	Intrasphincteric botox injection
Thakkar HS (2017)(289)	UK	HSCR: 72	Median: 6	27.8	SS: 50 LS: 17 TCA: 5	Surgery: pull- through
Stenstrom P (2017)(290)	Sweden	HSCR: 27	Median: 9.5	37	TCA: 27	Surgery: pull- through
Tannuri AC (2017)(291)	Brazil	HSCR: 41 Controls: 59	Mean: 10.4	26.8	SS: 41	Surgery: pull- through
Dingemans A (2017)(292)	The Netherlands	HSCR: 16	Median: 6.7	37.5	Unspecified	Surgery: re-do pull-through
Bischoff A (2017)(293)	USA	HSCR: 54 Controls: 49	Mean: 6.1	24.1	SS: 44 LS: 6 TCA: 4	Surgery: pull- through
Ghosh DN (2017)(294)	Australia	HSCR: 8 Controls: 42	Median: 1.3	12.5	SS: 3 LS: 5	Surgery: pull- through
Ladi-Seyedian SS (2017)(295)	Iran	HSCR: 15 Controls: 15	Mean: 7.2	33.3	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through

Lead Author (year)	Location	Number of patients and controls	Age of patient at time of assessment (years)	Sex (% female)	Classification of HSCR	Intervention
Adiguzel U (2017)(296)	Turkey	HSCR: 50	Median: 0.3	14	SS: 48 LS: 2	Surgery: pull- through
Taguchi T (2017)(297)	Japan	HSCR: 287	Unspecified	Unspecified	Unspecified	Unspecified
Lukac M (2016)(298)	Serbia	HSCR: 84	Unspecified	20.2	SS: 84	Surgery: pull- through
Onishi S (2016)(299)	Japan	HSCR: 110	Median: 8.5	20.9	SS: 87 LS: 19 TCA: 3 Unknown: 1	Surgery: pull- through
Kwendakwema N (2016)(300)	USA	HSCR: 26 Controls: 181	Median: 2.4	19.2	SS: 17 LS: 9	Unspecified
Granstrom AL (2016)(301)	Sweden	HSCR: 389 Controls: 3847	Median: 25	23.9	Unspecified	Unspecified
Ouladsaiad M (2016)(302)	Morocco	HSCR: 15	Mean: 6	26.7	SS: 13 LS: 1 Unknown: 1	Surgery: pull- through
Guerra J (2016)(303)	Canada	HSCR: 36	Mean: 0.3	36.1	SS: 36	Surgery: pull- through
Li Q (2016)(304)	China	HSCR: 12 Controls: 7	Median: 3.5	41.7	TCA: 12	Surgery: pull- through
Xia X (2016)(305)	China	HSCR: 18	Mean: 19.7	11.1	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Xia X (2016)(306)	China	HSCR: 75	Mean: 4.8	20	SS: 51 LS: 24	Surgery: pull- through
Lead Author (year)	Location	Number of patients and controls	Age of patient at time of assessment (years)	Sex (% female)	Classification of HSCR	Intervention
-------------------------------	----------	---------------------------------------	---	-------------------	---------------------------------------	--------------------------------------
Nam SH (2015)(307)	Korea	HSCR: 8	Median: 9.9	37.5	SS: 8	Surgery: pull- through
Xiong X (2015)(308)	China	HSCR: 92 Controls: 90	Mean: 26.8	26.1	SS: 41 LS: 51	Surgery: pull- through
Miyano G (2015)(309)	Japan	HSCR: 74	Median: 7	Unspecified	SS and LS: 74	Surgery: pull- through
Aubdoollah TH (2015)(310)	China	HSCR: 90	Mean: 1	30	SS: 80 LS: 10	Surgery: pull- through
Khazdouz M (2015)(311)	Iran	HSCR: 136	Median: 5.5	40.4	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Granstrom AL (2015)(312)	Sweden	HSCR: 39 Controls: 39	Median: 28	43.6	SS: 37 TCA: 2	Surgery: pull- through or stoma
Amerstorfer EE (2015)(313)	Austria	HSCR: 8	Median: 13.5	25	TCA: 8	Surgery: pull- through
Hukkinen M (2015)(314)	Finland	HSCR: 21	Mean: 6.8	28.6	TCA: 21	Surgery: pull- through or stoma
Khalil M (2015)(315)	Egypt	HSCR: 53	Mean: 5.9	30.2	SS and LS: 53	Surgery: pull- through
Stensrud KJ (2015)(316)	Norway	HSCR: 52	Median: 8.8	19.2	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Neuvonen MI (2015)(317)	Finland	HSCR: 146	Mean: 15	23.3	SS: 121 LS: 10 TCA: 6 TIA: 9	Surgery: pull- through
Wester T (2015)(318)	Sweden	HSCR: 18	Mean: 6.8	16.7	SS: 14 TCA: 4	Intrasphincteric botox injections

Lead Author (year)	Location	Number of patients and controls	Age of patient at time of assessment (years)	Sex (% female)	Classification of HSCR	Intervention
Shrestha MK (2014)(319)	Nepal	HSCR: 20	Mean: 3	15	SS: 20	Surgery: pull- through
YK S (2014)(320)	India	HSCR: 12	Mean: 0.03	16.7	TCA: 12	Surgery: pull- through or stoma
Sulkowski JP (2014)(321)	USA	HSCR: 1555	Mean: 2	21.7	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Yeh YT (2014)(322)	China	HSCR: 9	Median: 9	55.6	TCA: 9	Surgery: pull- through
Ralls MW (2014)(323)	USA	HSCR: 32 Controls: 89	Mean: 18.7	46.9	SS: 18 LS: 6 Unknown: 8	Surgery: pull- through
Han-Geurts IJ (2014)(324)	The Netherlands	HSCR: 33	Median: 7.3	21.2	SS: 30 LS: 3	Intrasphincteric botox injection
Basson S (2014)(325)	UK	HSCR: 43	Median: 10.8	32.6	Unspecified	Intrasphincteric botox injection
Mabula JB (2014)(326)	Tanzania	HSCR: 110	Median: 0.7	21.8	SS: 75 LS: 18 TCA: 1 Unknown: 16	Surgery: pull- through or stoma
Zhang JS (2014)(327)	China	HSCR: 127	Median: 12.2	29.9	SS: 113 LS: 14	Surgery: pull- through
Nasr A (2014)(328)	Canada	HSCR: 54	Mean: 3	Unspecified	SS: 50 LS: 4	Surgery: pull- through
Spataru R (2014)(329)	Romania	HSCR: 17	Mean: 3.1	23.5	SS: 15 LS: 2	Surgery: pull- through

Lead Author (year)	Location	Number of patients and controls	Age of patient at time of assessment (years)	Sex (% female)	Classification of HSCR	Intervention
Mathur MK (2014)(330)	India	HSCR: 20	At 0.1 and 0.3	5	SS: 15 LS: 5	Surgery: pull- through
Hukkinen M (2014)(331)	Finland	HSCR: 8	Median: 3.2	0	TCA: 8	Surgery: pull- through
More K (2014)(332)	Australia	HSCR: 54	Mean: 1	38.9	SS: 40 LS: 11 TCA: 3	Surgery: pull- through
Wang L (2014)(333)	China	HSCR: 59	Mean: 22	47.5	SS: 48 LS: 9 TCA: 2	Surgery: pull- through
Ksia A (2013)(334)	Tunisia	HSCR: 20	Unspecified	30	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Granstrom AL (2013)(335)	Sweden	HSCR: 27	Mean: 7.4	14.8	SS: 25 LS: 2	Surgery: pull- through
Levitt MA (2013)(75)	USA	HSCR: 67	Unspecified	23.9	SS: 47 LS: 5 Unknown: 15	Surgery: pull- through
Tang ST (2013)(336)	China	HSCR: 28 Controls: 30	Mean: 0.25	35.7	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Van de Ven TJ (2013)(337)	The Netherlands	HSCR: 43	Median: 4.2	20.9	SS: 43	Surgery: pull- through
Demirbag S (2013)(338)	Turkey	HSCR: 18	Mean: 3.5	22.2	SS: 14 LS: 3 TCA: 1	Surgery: pull- through
El-Sawaf M (2013)(339)	USA	HSCR: 28 Controls: 32	At 0.1, 0.25, 0.5 and 1	10.7	SS: 21 LS: 7	Surgery: pull- through

Lead Author (year)	Location	Number of patients and controls	Age of patient at time of assessment (years)	Sex (% female)	Classification of HSCR	Intervention
Miyano G (2013)(340)	Japan	HSCR: 14	Mean: 11.6	Unspecified	TCA: 14	Surgery: pull- through
Zhu T (2013)(341)	China	HSCR: 22	Mean: 2.6	36.7	LS: 22	Surgery: pull- through
Stensrud KJ (2012)(342)	Norway	HSCR: 11	Mean: 8.5	Unspecified	SS: 10 TCA: 1	Surgery: pull- through
Aworanti OM (2012)(343)	Ireland	HSCR: 51	Mean: 4.6	21.6	SS: 48 LS: 3	Surgery: pull- through
Al-Jazaeri A (2012)(344)	Saudi Arabia	HSCR: 99	Mean: 0.6	24.2	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Yang L (2012)(345)	China	HSCR: 137	Mean: 4.7	32.8	SS: 137	Surgery: pull- through
Li N (2012)(346)	China	HSCR: 19 Controls: 30	Mean: 2.8	Unspecified	Unspecified	Unspecified
Zakaria OM (2012)(347)	Egypt	HSCR: 40	Mean: 1.9	30	SS: 40	Surgery: pull- through
Kothari PR (2012)(348)	India	HSCR: 48	Mean: 3.8	Unspecified	SS: 38 LS: 10	Surgery: pull- through
Sheng Q (2012)(349)	China	HSCR: 24	Mean: 2.5	37.5	Unspecified	Surgery: pull- through
Nah SA (2012)(350)	UK	HSCR: 76	Median: 6.8	19.7	SS: 76	Surgery: pull- through
Urushihara N (2012)(351)	Japan	HSCR: 26	Mean: 5.6	11.5	SS: 26	Surgery: pull- through
Sharma S (2012)(352)	India	HSCR: 112	Mean: 4.6	21.4	SS: 112	Surgery: pull- through

Lead Author (year)	Location	Number of patients and controls	Age of patient at time of assessment (years)	Sex (% female)	Classification of HSCR	Intervention
Dagorno C (2020)(353)	France	HSCR: 10	Mean: 8.5	50	SS: 2 LS: 5 TCA: 3	Surgery: pull- through
Urla C (2018)(354)	Germany	HSCR: 11	Median: 7	27.3	TCA: 11	Surgery: pull- through
Broch A (2019)(355)	France	HSCR: 33	Median: 15	54.5	SS: 7 LS: 21 TCA: 5	Surgery: pull- through or stoma
Pini Prato A (2019)(356)	Italy	HSCR: 23 Controls: 362	Median: 7	34.8	SS: 16 LS: 1 TCA: 6	Surgery: pull- through

Table 2.3. Study and patient characteristics

SS – short-segment, LS – long-segment, TCA – total colonic aganglionosis, TIA – total intestinal aganglionosis

## 2.4.3. Outcome characteristics of studies

Appendix 2 describes every outcome and the outcome measure in each of the 188 studies included in this review. Outcomes have been separated into clinician and patient-reported outcomes, with further classification into outcomes in the COS and outcomes not included in the COS. A total of four studies reported the full HSCR core outcome set after the publication of the COS. Only one out of these four studies also reported the outcomes using the correct outcome measures outlined by the HSCR core outcome set. No studies reported the full list of outcomes in the HSCR COS before it was published. Also, two studies failed to report any of the HSCR COS outcomes after the publication of the COS and three studies failed to report any COS outcomes after the publication of the COS.

## 2.4.4. HSCR core outcome set reporting

#### 2.4.4.1. Clinician-reported outcomes

The clinician-reported outcomes in the COS include death with cause specified, unplanned re-operation, permanent stoma and HAEC. The number of studies reporting each of these outcomes per year is shown in Table 2.4.

Publication year	Number of studies reporting COS clinician reported outcomes, n (%)					
	Death with	Unplanned	Permanent	HAEC		
	cause specified	reoperation	stoma			
2012	4 (36.6)	6 (54.5)	4 (36.6)	7 (63.6)		
(n=11)						
2013	3 (33.3)	3 (33.3)	1 (11.1)	9 (100.0)		
(n=9)						
2014	5 (33.3)	8 (53.3)	6 (40.0)	10 (66.7)		
(n=15)						
2015	3 (25.0)	5 (41.7)	4 (33.3)	7 (58.3)		
(n=12)						
2016	2 (22.2)	2 (22.2)	0 (0.0)	8 (88.9)		
(n=9)						
2017	6 (24.0)	11 (44.0)	11 (44.0)	13 (52.0)		
(n=25)						
2018	5 (33.3)	4 (26.7)	5 (33.3)	11 (73.3)		
(n=15)						
2019	13 (48.1)	13 (48.1)	11 (40.7)	15 (55.6)		
(n=27)						
2020	20 (64.5)	13 (41.9)	8 (25.8)	20 (64.5)		
(n=31)						
2021	22 (68.8)	13 (40.6)	5 (15.6)	20 (62.5)		
(n=32)						
2022	2 (100.0)	2 (100.0)	2 (100.0)	2 (100.0)		
(n=2)						

Table 2.4. Core outcome set clinician reported outcomes per year

#### 2.4.4.1.1. Death

Out of the 188 studies included in this study, 85 (45.2%) reported mortality rates of HSCR when assessing the outcomes of these patients. All 85 studies reported this outcome in accordance to the HSCR core outcome set, specifying the cause of death including: a complication of treatment, HAEC, an associated anomaly or another cause of death. Table 2.5 shows the outcome measures used to measure the COS outcomes. Death with cause specified was not included in Table 2.5 as no specified measure of data collection was outlined in the HSCR COS.

Before the publication of the HSCR COS, a total of 23 out of 81 papers (28.4%) reported death with cause specified as an outcome. After the publication of the COS, 62 out of the 107 papers (57.9%) reported death with cause specified as an outcome. This is a statistically significant increase in the reporting of death with cause specified before and after the

publications of the HSCR COS (OR 3.47 [1.87-6.44], p<0.05). The number of studies reporting each COS clinician-reported outcome per year is shown in Table 2.4.

Outcomes reported in	Outcome measure tool	Number of
the COS		studies using
		this outcome
		measure tool (%
		of studies
		reporting the
		outcome)
Hirschsprung-associated	Clinician diagnosis of HAEC	111 (91.0)
enterocolitis	2009 HAEC scoring system	1 (0.8)
(n=122)	Delphi score system by Pastor et al.	3 (2.4)
	El Halabi criteria	2 (1.6)
	HAEC grading system	2 (1.6)
	HD-associated EC score	1 (0.8)
	Severity scoring system	1 (0.8)
	Teitelbaum and Coran criteria	1 (0.8)
Long-term faecal	Subjective measure	55 (40.4)
incontinence	Rintala bowel function score	25 (18.4)
(n=136)	Krickenbeck classification	12 (8.8)
	Holschneider incontinence score	6 (4.4)
	Wingspread score	7 (5.1)
	Stooling survey from El-Sawaf et al.	4 (2.9)
	Pediatric incontinence/constipation scoring	4 (2.9)
	system (PICSS)	
	Evacuation score defined by Japan Society	3 (2.2)
	of Ano-Rectal Malformation Study Group	
	HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life	3 (2.2)
	questionnaire	
	Validated bowel function questionnaire	2 (1.5)
	Rome IV criteria	2 (1.5)
	Miller's incontinence score	2 (1.5)
	Baylor continence scale	2 (1.5)
	Clinical bowel function scoring system	1 (0.7)
	Evacuation score	1 (0.7)
	HD anal function criteria	1 (0.7)
	Heikkinen defecation function score	1 (0.7)
	Jorge-Wexner fecal incontinence score	2 (1.5)
	Postoperative bowel function evaluation	1 (0.7)
	score	
	Postoperative fecal continence (POFC)	1 (0.7)
	Wildhaber score	1 (0.7)

Outcomes reported in	Outcome measure tool	Number of
the COS		studies using
		this outcome
		measure tool (%
		of studies
		reporting the
		outcome)
Objective score of	Rintala bowel function score	24 (28.6)
bowel function	Krickenbeck classification	13 (15.5)
(n=84)	Pediatric incontinence/constipation scoring	5 (6.0)
	system (PICSS)	
	Stooling survey from El-Sawaf et al.	4 (4.8)
	Holschneider incontinence score	5 (6.0)
	Evacuation score defined by Japan Society	4 (4.8)
	of Ano-Rectal Malformation Study Group	
	HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life	3 (3.6)
	questionnaire	
	Rome IV criteria	2 (2.4)
	Rome III criteria	2 (2.4)
	Baylor continence scale	2 (2.4)
	Miller's incontinence score	4 (4.8)
	Gastrointestinal quality of life index	1 (1.2)
	Clinical bowel function scoring system	1 (1.2)
	Defaecation and faecal incontinence	1 (1.2)
	questionnaire	
	HD anal function criteria	1 (1.2)
	Heikkinen defecation function score	1 (1.2)
	Jorge-Wexner fecal incontinence score	3 (3.6)
	Kohno's rating scale	1 (1.2)
	Long term prognosis survey following pull-	2 (2.4)
	through	
	Postoperative bowel function evaluation	1 (1.2)
	score	
	Postoperative fecal continence (POFC)	1 (1.2)
	Rome II criteria	1 (1.2)
	Wildhaber score	1 (1.2)
	Wingspread score	1 (1.2)
Long-term voluntary	Subjective measure	64 (45.1)
bowel movements	Rintala bowel function	24 (16.9)
(n=142)	Krickenbeck classification	14 (9.9)
	Stooling survey from El-Sawaf et al.	4 (2.8)
	Pediatric incontinence/constipation scoring	4 (2.8)
	system (PICSS)	

Outcomes reported in	Outcome measure tool	Number of
the COS		studies using
		this outcome
		measure tool (%
		of studies
		reporting the
		outcome)
Long-term voluntary	Evacuation score defined by Japan Society	4 (2.8)
bowel movements	of Ano-Rectal Malformation Study Group	
(n=142)	Holschneider incontinence score	4 (2.8)
	HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life	3 (2.1)
	questionnaire	、 <i>,</i>
	Miller's incontinence score	4 (2.8)
	Wexner constipation score	3 (2.1)
	Rome IV criteria	2 (1.4)
	Rome III criteria	2 (1.4)
	Cleveland clinic constipation scoring system	2 (1.4)
	Clinical bowel function scoring system	1 (0.7)
	HD anal function criteria	1 (0.7)
	Heikkinen defecation function score	1 (0.7)
	Postoperative bowel function evaluation	1 (0.7)
	score	
	Postoperative fecal continence (POFC)	1 (0.7)
	Rome II criteria	1 (0.7)
	Wildhaber score	1 (0.7)
	Wingspread score	1 (0.7)
Long-term psychological	Subjective measure	3 (8.8)
stress	PedsQL	11 (32.3)
(n=34)	GIQLI	4 (11.8)
	CHQ-CF87 and WHOQOL-100	3 (8.8)
	HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life	3 (8.8)
	questionnaire	
	Quality of life scoring for children with fecal	3 (8.8)
	incontinence	
	SF-36 questionnaire	5 (14.7)
	GI quality of life index	1 (2.9)
	Assessment of quality of life in children and	1 (2.9)
	adolescents with fecal incontinence	
	Barrena scoring system	1 (2.9)
	Psychological adaptation scale	1 (2.9)
	Quality of life score for defecation	1 (2.9)
	Rintala bowel function score	1 (2.9)
	Spielberg State-Trait Anxiety Inventory	1 (2.9)
	questionnaire	
	TACQOL scale	1 (2.9)
	WHO QOL-BREF	1 (2.9)

Outcomes reported in	Outcome measure tool	Number of
the COS		studies using
		this outcome
		measure tool (%
		of studies
		reporting the
		outcome)
Long-term urinary	Subjective measure	8 (50.0)
incontinence	HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life	3 (18.8)
(n=16)	questionnaire	
	Vancouver symptom score	2 (12.5)
	Modified DanPSS	3 (18.8)
Objective score of	PedsQL	11 (34.4)
quality of life	GIQLI	5 (15.6)
(n=32)	Quality of life scoring criteria for children	3 (9.4)
	with fecal incontinence	
	CHQ-CF87 and WHOQOL-100	3 (9.4)
	HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life questionnaire	3 (9.4)
	Subjective measure	1 (3.1)
	Adolescents' Health and Perceived Health	1 (3.1)
	and Kidscreen 10	
	Assessment of quality of life in children and	1 (3.1)
	adolescents with fecal incontinence	
	Barrena scoring system	1 (3.1)
	Quality of life score for defecation	1 (3.1)
	Rintala bowel function score	1 (3.1)
	SF-36 questionnaire	2 (6.3)
	TACQOL scale	1 (3.1)
	WHO QOL-BREF	1 (3.1)

Table 2.5. Outcome measures used to measure COS outcomes

## 2.4.4.1.2. Unplanned re-operation

A total of 80 studies (42.6%) reported whether patients had undergone an unplanned reoperation during their follow-up period. There is no specific data collection measure outlined in the HSCR core outcome set for unplanned re-operation, therefore this outcome was also not included in Table 2.5.

35 studies out of the 81 (43.2%) published before the publication of the COS reported unplanned re-operation as an outcome and 45 studies out of the 107 (42.1%) published

after reported unplanned re-operation as an outcome, which is not a statistically significant difference (OR 0.95 [0.53-1.71], p=0.8827).

#### 2.4.4.1.3. Permanent stoma

57 studies (30.3%) assessed and reported whether their patients were given a permanent stoma. All 57 studies provided indications for stoma formation and therefore, reported this outcome in accordance with the HSCR core outcome set. Permanent stoma was also excluded from Table 2.5 due to the absence of an outcome measure for reporting this outcome.

Out of the 81 studies published before the COS, 26 studies (32.1%) reported the proportion of patients having a permanent stoma as an outcome. This changed to 31 out of the 107 studies (29.0%) published after the COS. This difference however was not statistically significant (OR 0.86 [0.46-1.61], p=0.7488).

#### 2.4.4.1.4. Hirschsprung-associated enterocolitis (HAEC)

122 out of the 188 studies (64.9%) reported the outcomes of HAEC in their study. According to the HSCR core outcome set, HAEC is defined as "a clinician decision to admit and treat for HAEC and be correlated to the HAEC Delphi score from Pastor et al where possible"(169). All 122 studies reported HAEC according to the definition from the HSCR core outcome set, however only 3 studies out of the 122 (2.4%) used the HAEC Delphi score developed by Pastor et al. In total, there were 7 different scoring systems used to evaluate the severity of HAEC in 11 different studies, with the HAEC grading system and El Halabi criteria being the next most commonly used after the HAEC Delphi score, each used in 2 studies (1.6%). 111 out of the 122 studies (91.0%) did not use a scoring system to assess HAEC with data on HAEC rates being collected from a clinician review of previous medical records.

54 studies (66.7%) reported HAEC as an outcome before the publication of the COS and 68 studies out of the 107 (63.6%) published after the publication of the COS (OR 0.87 [0.48-1.60], p=0.7579).

## 2.4.4.2. Patient-reported outcomes

The patient-reported outcomes in the HSCR COS include long-term faecal incontinence, an objective score of bowel function, voluntary bowel movements, psychological stress, long-term urinary incontinence and an objective score of quality of life. The number of studies reporting each of these patient-reported outcomes per year is shown in Table 2.6.

Publication	Number of studies reporting COS patient reported outcomes and COS outcome measures, n (%)								
year	Long-term	Long-term	Long-term	Objective	Bowel	Long-term	Psychological	Objective	Quality of
	faecal	urinary	voluntary	score of	function	psychological	stress	score of	life
	incontinence	incontinence	bowel	bowel	measure	stress	measure	quality of	measure
			movements	function				life	
2012	8 (72.7)	2 (18.2)	8 (72.7)	6 (54.5)	1 (9.1)	1 (9.1)	1 (9.1)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
(n=11)									
2013	5 (55.6)	0 (0.0)	7 (77.8)	1 (11.1)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
(n=9)									
2014	11 (73.3)	1 (6.7)	9 (60.0)	3 (20.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (6.7)	1 (6.7)	1 (6.7)	1 (6.7)
(n=15)									
2015	12 (100.0)	1 (8.3)	12 (100.0)	7 (58.3)	0 (0.0)	4 (33.3)	2 (16.7)	4 (33.3)	2 (16.7)
(n=12)									
2016	6 (66.7)	0 (0.0)	7 (77.8)	3 (33.3)	1 (11.1)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
(n=9)									
2017	18 (72.0)	3 (12.0)	21 (84.0)	15 (60.0)	1 (4.0)	3 (12.0)	2 (8.0)	4 (16.0)	2 (8.0)
(n=25)									
2018	14 (93.3)	2 (13.3)	15 (100.0)	11 (73.3)	0 (0.0)	4 (26.7)	1 (6.7)	4 (26.7)	1 (6.7)
(n=15)									
2019	16 (59.3)	2 (7.4)	19 (70.4)	8 (29.6)	0 (0.0)	6 (22.2)	0 (0.0)	5 (18.5)	0 (0.0)
(n=27)									
2020	22 (71.0)	2 (6.5)	21 (67.7)	17 (54.8)	2 (6.5)	9 (29.0)	3 (9.7)	9 (29.0)	3 (9.7)
(n=31)									
2021	22 (68.8)	3 (9.4)	22 (68.8)	11 (34.4)	0 (0.0)	5 (15.6)	4 (12.5)	4 (12.5)	4 (12.5)
(n=32)									
2022	2 (100.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (50.0)	2 (100.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (50.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (50.0)	0 (0.0)
(n=2)									

Table 2.6. Core outcome set patient reported outcomes and outcome measures per year

#### 2.4.4.2.1. Long-term faecal incontinence

136 different studies (72.3%) assessed long-term faecal incontinence in HSCR patients involved in their studies. The HSCR core outcome set suggests that the severity of faecal incontinence should be graded when reporting this outcome, which all 136 studies did. The COS also does not suggest an outcome measure tool to be used when assessing long-term faecal incontinence so there was a total of 21 different methods used to collect this outcome data. A subjective measure of faecal incontinence was the most common data collection method used in these studies, with 55 studies (40.4%) using this method and not calculating an objective score. The two most common scores used to assess long-term faecal incontinence in these 136 studies were the Rintala bowel function score and the Krickenbeck classification, used in 25 (18.4%) and 12 (8.8%) studies, respectively. The other outcome measures and scores used to measure long-term faecal incontinence in the remaining 50 studies are shown in Table 2.5.

A total of 60 out of 81 studies (74.1%) reported faecal incontinence as an outcome in their study before the publication of the HSCR COS and 76 out of 107 studies (71.0%) reported faecal incontinence after the publication of the COS. This difference was not statistically significant (OR 0.86 [0.45-1.64], p=0.7424).

#### 2.4.4.2.2. Objective score of bowel function

An objective score of bowel function was reported as an outcome in 84 of the 188 studies (44.7%). The HSCR core outcome set outlines that this objective score should be measured by the Pediatric Incontinence and Constipation Score (PICS) in patients under the age of 18, and by the Gastrointestinal Quality of Life Index (GIQLI) in patients over the age of 18. Only 5 out of the 84 studies (6.0%) reporting an objective score of bowel function used the PICS system, and only 1 study (1.2%) used the GIQLI. This suggested that only 6 studies (7.2%) reported an objective score of bowel function in accordance to the HSCR core outcome set. A total of 24 different outcome measures were used to calculate an objective score of bowel function across the 84 papers. The two most common outcome measures used were the same as for long-term faecal incontinence, which were the Rintala bowel function score and

the Krickenbeck classification, used in 24 (28.6%) and 13 (15.5%) studies, respectively. The remaining outcome measures for objective scores for bowel function are shown in Table 2.5.

In total, before the publication of the HSCR COS, 35 out of the 81 studies (43.2%) reported an objective score of bowel function as an outcome. 49 out of 107 studies (45.8%) reported an objective score of bowel function after the publication of the COS. This was not statistically significant difference (OR 1.11 [0.62-1.99], p=0.7681). When assessing studies reporting an objective score of bowel function using the correct outcome measure outlined by the COS, 3 studies (3.7%) used the correct measure before and 2 studies (1.9%) used the correct measure after the publication of the COS. Therefore, there was no increase in the number of studies correctly reporting an objective score of bowel function. The percentage of studies using the outcome measures outlined by the COS for outcome reporting in patients with HSCR is shown in Figure 2.2.



Figure 2.2. Correct outcome measures used for outcome reporting as outlined by the COS

#### 2.4.4.2.3. Long-term voluntary bowel movements

142 studies (75.7%) assessed long-term voluntary bowel movements as part of their outcome reporting. The HSCR core outcome set defines long-term voluntary bowel movements as there being no need for enemas or rectal irrigation, but no scoring system is

suggested to measure this outcome. This means that all 142 studies, reporting voluntary bowel movements, reported this outcome in accordance to the HSCR core outcome set. A total of 21 different methods of measuring this outcome were used, with 20 different scoring systems being used. 64 studies (45.1%) used a subjective measure to report voluntary bowel movements without using an objective score. The most common two objective scores used to measure long-term voluntary bowel movements were the Rintala bowel function score and the Krickenbeck classification, used in 24 (16.9%) and 14 studies (9.9%), respectively. A number of other scores were used to measure this outcome, including the PICS system, and are shown in Table 2.5.

Before the publication of the HSCR COS, 64 out of the 81 studies (79.0%) reported long-term voluntary bowel movements as an outcome in HSCR patients. 78 out of 107 studies (72.9%) reported long-term voluntary bowel movements after the publication of the COS. This difference was not statistically significant (OR 0.71 [0.36-1.42], p=0.3931).

#### 2.4.4.2.4. Long-term psychological stress

A total of 34 studies (18.1%) reported long-term psychological stress in individuals with HSCR as part of their research. The HSCR core outcome set states that long-term psychological stress should be measured by the PedsQL questionnaire in patients under the age of 18, and by the Gastrointestinal Quality of Life Index (GIQLI) in patients over the age of 18. Within these 34 studies, 16 different outcome measures were used, including 1 study using a subjective measure and 33 studies using 15 different scoring systems to calculate an objective score for psychological stress for the patient. Only 11 studies (32.3%) out of the 34 studies used the PedsQL questionnaire and only 4 (11.8%) used the GIQLI to measure psychological stress. Therefore, only 15 studies (44.1%) reported long-term psychological stress as an outcome in accordance to the HSCR core outcome set. A number of other scoring systems were used to calculate this outcome, with the two most common being the SF-36 questionnaire, in 5 studies (14.7%), and the HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life questionnaire, in 3 studies (8.8%). All other outcome measures for long-term psychological stress are shown in Table 2.5. In table 2.5, the number of outcome measures being reported adds up to 41 which is more than the total number of studies reporting longterm psychological stress, 34 studies. This is because 3 studies used the SF-36 questionnaire,

PedsQL questionnaire and GIQLI in the same study and 1 study used both the SF-36 questionnaire and GIQLI in the same study.

A total of 9 studies out of the 81 (11.1%) published prior to the publication of the COS reported psychological stress as an outcome. 25 out of 107 studies (23.4%) reported psychological stress after the publication of the COS. This increase was statistically significant (OR 2.44 [1.07-5.57], p<0.05]. However, when looking at studies reporting psychological stress using the correct measures outlined by the COS, 5 studies (6.2%) used the correct measure before the publication of the COS and 8 studies (7.5%) after. This difference was not statistically significant (OR 1.23 [0.39-3.91], p=0.7802).

#### 2.4.4.2.5. Long-term urinary incontinence

Out of the 188 studies included in the systematic review, 16 studies (8.5%) reported longterm urinary incontinence as an aspect of their research. The HSCR core outcome set does not specify a specific outcome measure for the reporting of urinary incontinence meaning all 16 studies reported this outcome in accordance to the HSCR core outcome set. A total of 4 outcome measures were used to measure long-term urinary incontinence, with 8 studies using a subjective measure and 8 studies using scoring system to calculate an objective score. These scoring systems were the HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life questionnaire, the Vancouver symptom score and the Modified DanPSS, which were used in 3 (18.8%), 2 (12.5%) and 3 studies (18.8%), respectively.

Before the publication of the HSCR COS, only 7 studies out of 81 (8.6%) reported long-term urinary incontinence as an outcome in HSCR patients. 9 out of 107 studies (8.4%) reported long-term urinary incontinence after the COS publication. This difference was not statistically significant (OR 0.97 [0.35-2.73], p>0.9999).

#### 2.4.4.2.6. Objective score of quality of life

32 studies (17.0%) reported an objective score of quality of life as an outcome in patients with HSCR. The HSCR core outcome set states that an objective score of quality of life should be measured by the age-appropriate PedsQL questionnaire. In the 32 studies

reporting quality of life, there are 14 different outcome measures used, with 1 study using a subjective measure and the remaining 31 studies using 13 different scoring systems to calculate an objective score of quality of life. Only 11 studies (34.4%) used the PedsQL questionnaire as the outcome measure meaning that only 11 studies, out of the 32 studies reporting quality of life, reported this outcome in accordance with the HSCR core outcome set. The next most common scoring system used for an objective score of quality of life was the GIQLI, used in 5 studies (15.6%). The remaining outcome measures for quality of life reporting are shown in Table 2.5. In table 2.5, the number of outcome measures being reported adds up to 35 which is more than the total number of studies reporting long-term psychological stress, 32 studies. This is because 2 studies used the both the PedsQL questionnaire and the GIQLI in the same study and 1 study used both the PedsQL questionnaire and the SF-36 questionnaire in the same study.

In total, 9 studies out of the 81 (11.1%) published before the publication of the HSCR COS reported an objective score of quality of life in HSCR patients. 23 out of 107 studies (21.5%) reported an objective score of quality of life after the COS publication, which was a statistically significant increase (OR 2.19 [0.95-5.04], p<0.05]. When assessing the studies using the correct measure for quality of life outlined by the COS, only 5 studies (6.2%) used this measure before the COS publication and 8 studies (7.5%) used it after the COS publication. This was not a statistically significant difference (OR 1.23 [0.39-3.91], p=0.7802]. The percentage of studies reporting outcomes from the Core Outcome Set before and after the publication of the HSCR COS is shown in Figure 2.3.



Figure 2.3. Outcome reporting before and after the publication of the COS

#### 2.4.5. Non-COS outcome reporting

154 studies (81.9%) included in this systematic review reported outcomes that are not included in the HSCR COS, with the most common being perioperative complications, postoperative stay and, growth and nutritional status. 120 studies (63.8%) reported perioperative complications in HSCR patients, with a minority, 2 studies (1.7%), being graded by the Clavien-Dindo classification. Postoperative stay was also assessed in 66 studies (35.1%), all using a review of patient's medical records. Growth and nutritional status was assessed in 32 studies (17.0%), with 24 of these (75.0%) using height and weight to evaluate this outcome. A number of studies also assessed sexual function and sexual quality of life in an older cohort of patients, using the erectile hardness score and the sexual quality of life questionnaire as outcome measures. The Manchester scar scale was also used in 2 studies to assess visibility of HSCR patients' scars. The full list of non-COS outcomes reported in the 188 studies and their outcome measures are shown in Table 2.7

Outcomes reported not in	Outcome measures	Number of
the COS		studies using this
		outcome
		measure tool (%
		of studies
		reporting the
		outcome)
Perineal rash	Review of medical records	45 (100.0)
(n=45)		
Postoperative stav	Review of medical records	66 (100.0)
(n=66)		
Readmission	Beview of medical records	20 (100 0)
(n=20)		20 (100.0)
Patients' and families'	Fecal incontinence and constinution	2 (25 0)
nerspectives of symptoms	quality of life questionnaire	2 (23.0)
(n=8)	Adoloscopt's Hoalth and Porceived Health	1 (12 5)
(11-0)	Audiescent s health and Perceived Health	1 (12.3)
		1 (12 5)
	Family impact module	1 (12.5)
	liness perceptions questionnaire	1 (12.5)
	Modified Visick scoring system	1 (12.5)
	Parental self-efficacy in the management	1 (12.5)
	of home care of children with HD or ARM	
	Self-rating Anxiety Scale	1 (12.5)
Urinary tract infection	Review of medical records	1 (100.0)
(n=1)		
Perioperative	Review of medical records	118 (98.3)
complications	Clavien-Dindo classification	2 (1.7)
(n=120)		
Sexual function	Subjective measure	4 (66.7)
(n=6)	Erectile hardness score	2 (33.3)
Fertility	Subjective measure	3 (100.0)
(n=3)		
Sexual quality of life	Subjective measure	4 (80.0)
(n=5)	Sexual quality of life questionnaire	1 (20.0)
Growth and nutritional	Height and weight	24 (75.0)
status	Weight	5 (15.6)
(n=32)	Subjective measure	3 (9.4)
Intelligence	Griffiths Mental Development Scale	1 (50.0)
(n=2)	Wechsler Children's Intelligence Scale	1 (50.0)
Behaviour	Ages and stages questionnaire	1 (50.0)
(n=2)	Child behaviour checklist	1 (50.0)
Cancer diagnosis	Review of medical records	1 (100 0)
Eeeding issues	Subjective measure	11 (100 0)
recuiring issues		TT (TOO'O)
(11-11)		

Outcome measures	Number of
	studies using this
	outcome
	measure tool (%
	of studies
	reporting the
	outcome)
Anorectal manometry readings	13 (100.0)
Subjective measure	5 (71.4)
Manchester Scar Scale	2 (28.6)
Subjective measure	2 (100.0)
	Outcome measures    Anorectal manometry readings   Subjective measure   Manchester Scar Scale   Subjective measure

Table 2.7. Outcome measures used to measure outcomes not in the COS

# 2.4.6. Total COS reporting

As previously mention, only 4 studies out of the 188 studies (2.1%) included in the review reported the full HSCR COS, with only one of these studies using the correct outcome measures to report these outcomes. The study reporting the full COS using the outcome measures outlined by the COS (Allin BSR et al.) mention that they were reporting their outcomes in accordance to the COS. The author of this paper was also involved in the production of the COS indicating why the correct outcome measures may have been used. Of the remaining three papers, two were written by the same primary author, with one of these papers stating the outcomes were being reported in accordance with the HSCR COS. The two papers written by the same primary author (Davidson JR) were conducted in the UK and the other paper (Roorda D et al.) was conducted in The Netherlands. The number of outcomes from the COS reported in each study per year are shown in Table 2.8.

Year	Numb	Number of COS outcomes reported									
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
	(n=5)	(n=13)	(n=22)	(n=34)	(n=32)	(n=35)	(n=24)	(n=12)	(n=6)	(n=1)	(n=4)
2012	1	1	0	1	2	2	4	0	0	0	0
(n=11)											
2013	0	0	2	4	2	1	0	0	0	0	0
(n=9)											
2014	0	2	2	3	3	2	3	0	0	0	0
(n=15)											
2015	0	0	0	3	3	2	1	2	1	0	0
(n=12)											
2016	1	0	2	2	2	2	0	0	0	0	0
(n=9)											
2017	0	3	1	6	5	2	5	3	0	0	0
(n=25)											
2018	0	0	1	2	5	3	1	0	2	0	1
(n=15)											
2019	0	3	3	5	4	9	0	1	2	0	0
(n=27)											
2020	1	3	4	2	4	5	5	5	1	0	1
(n=31)											
2021	2	1	7	6	2	7	4	1	0	0	2
(n=32)											
2022	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0
(n=2)											

Table 2.8. Number of COS outcomes reported by each study per year

#### 2.4.7. Timing of outcome reporting

Not all of the 188 studies included in this systematic review reported the timings of when their outcomes were collected. 15 studies (8.0%) did not report timings of outcome reporting, with the remaining 169 studies (89.9%) either reporting a specific timepoint, a mean or a median age at outcome collection. This therefore meant that timing of outcome reporting could not be included in this systematic review due to the different methods of outcome reporting used by the studies.

## 2.5. Discussion

The aim of this systematic review was to identify all studies reporting outcomes of patients with HSCR. In total, 188 studies were identified to have reported at least one outcome for this patient cohort. These studies showed a large variability in outcome reporting with 27 different outcomes being reported across the 188 studies.

Since the publication of the HSCR Core Outcome Set, only 4 papers out of the 188 included in this review (2.1%) reported the full COS, with only one of these reporting the full COS using the outcome measures outlined by the COS. This shows a lack of engagement with the HSCR COS as the only study using the correct measures was conducted by one of the members of the research team who developed the HSCR COS.

There were also 15 studies (8.0%) that failed to report the timings and ages of patients reporting outcomes, meaning there was an inability to determine whether these outcomes were reporting in accordance to the COS, due to time points specified by the COS for specific outcomes, such as long-term faecal incontinence in children over the age of 5. The search strategy and inclusion criteria were selected to identify all relevant studies reporting outcomes of HSCR patients. The decision to exclude studies published before 2012 was to create an equal timeframe before and after the publication of the COS. This exclusion criteria however, may result in important studies reporting a full range of outcomes in HSCR patients being missed. This could therefore have affected the data when comparing outcome reporting before the COS. However, it was important to have an equal timeframe for papers before and after the COS to get a similar number of studies in each group.

This HSCR COS is the only current COS for patients with HSCR, meaning that all recent studies reporting outcomes in these patients should be including as many of these outcomes in the HSCR COS that are relevant to their paper to help reduce reporting bias and allow improved meta-analysis across different studies. This however, was found to not be the case with the remaining 184 studies, who did not report all 10 COS outcomes, with only a few outcomes from the COS, including death with cause specified and psychological stress, being increasingly reported in studies after the publication of the HSCR COS. There were also 3 studies published after the publication of the COS that failed to report any of the outcomes in the COS making it difficult for comparisons to be made with other studies reporting outcomes in HSCR patients.

When looking at the outcome measures used to report outcomes from the COS, only 5 studies used the correct measure for bowel function. Other measures were used more

commonly including the Rintala bowel function score, in 24 studies, and the Krickenbeck classification, in 13 studies. This raises the question as to whether the objective measures chosen by the COS to report specific outcomes were the correct measures to use, with more studies, even after the publication of the COS, using these more common measures to report their outcomes, meaning if one of these other measures were chosen, more studies would be reporting in accordance to the COS.

There were also a large number of studies reporting outcomes not present in the HSCR COS. 120 studies reported perioperative complications, being one of the most frequently reported outcomes, and 45 studies reporting perineal rash as an outcome suggesting its importance when assessing HSCR patients. Many patients need to have a stoma created due to having a severe perineal rash meaning that this outcome may be of high importance to patients and their families, which could provide an explanation for why so many studies reported this as an outcome.

A previous systematic review comparing the reporting of outcomes from the COS for ankylosing spondylitis 14 years after the publication of this disease specific COS showed utilisation of this COS, including in specific instruments outlined by the COS.(169) This systematic review assessing HSCR outcome reporting has only been completed 5 years after the publication of the HSCR COS and therefore sufficient time may not have been provided for studies including those underway at the time of COS publication to utilise the HSCR COS for new research. However, this systematic review also demonstrates that there is a long way to go in consistent publishing of outcomes specified by the COS using the specified tools.

The utilisation of the HSCR COS could be widened by lobbying for medical journals publishing research on HSCR to promote the use of the COS specified outcome measures and to reduce the scoring of articles not reporting according to the COS. Lobbying of grant providers, for example the NIHR to increase the scoring of grant applications including the COS outcomes will also promote their uptake.

It is important to highlight that although there were 107 studies published after the publication of the HSCR COS, some of these studies may have already collected outcome data or written up their article before the HSCR COS was published and therefore wouldn't have influenced the outcome reporting of these studies. This may provide an explanation for why there were little changes in HSCR outcome reporting after the publication of the HSCR COS.

#### 2.5.1. Comparison to previous reviews

There has only been one previous systematic review assessing the variability in outcome reporting in studies on HSCR patients. This, however, was completed before the publication of the HSCR COS to assess the need for a COS and therefore has not compared outcome reporting in studies before and after the publication of the HSCR COS.

## 2.5.2. Strengths and limitations

One of the strengths of this study was the search strategy used to identify 751 unique studies from multiple sources. This search strategy was based off previous systematic reviews assessing HSCR patients and was altered to select the more relevant studies for this specific systematic review. However, due to this large number of studies, it was not feasible to assess the full articles of all of these studies and therefore only the abstracts were initially screening for outcomes of patients with HSCR. It is therefore possible that a small number of studies assessing outcomes in HSCR patients may not have been identified and included in the systematic review, although this would most probably mean that HSCR outcome reporting was a minor aspect of these studies and therefore may not have been relevant.

Another strength of this study was that the screening of the studies initially identified from the searches was completed by two reviewers blindly and any differences were discussed. If a definitive answer was no able to be reached, a third reviewer also helped decide whether to include these studies. A limitation however was that the data extraction was completed by only one reviewer, which increases the chance of error and potential for bias. However, this reviewer completed the data extraction twice to decrease the chance of errors occurring when assessing which outcomes were being reported.

One limitation of this systematic review was that the search strategy contained some terms for specific outcomes, for example 'quality of life'. This could have resulted in more studies reporting these specific outcomes being found in the database searches and therefore could have biased the results of the systematic review. However, it was deemed necessary to include these specific terms due to the risk of certain studies not stating the term 'outcome' and instead reporting the specific outcome such as 'quality of life' or 'bowel function', and therefore would have been excluded if these outcome specific search terms were not included. If this systematic review was completed again, it would be suggested to include specific outcome terms for all of the COS to prevent biased results.

Another limitation of this study was that only studies written in the English language were included due to difficulties in data extraction if written in another language. There is therefore potential that a number of important studies reporting outcomes in HSCR patients may have been excluded and therefore the data may have been different if studies in all languages were included. Also, there may be current HSCR research ongoing which may be taking time to set up using the COS outcomes and therefore, it may be potentially useful to repeat this study in 5 years time to look at any changes in the trends of COS outcome reporting.

The systematic review firstly aims to describe which outcomes are published on within the literature, whether or not the specified COS measure is used, to highlight whether the outcomes which families and clinicians deemed to be the most important are represented within the literature. As a secondary analysis the frequency of reporting of outcome measures specified within the COS are described. A decision to use this two-tier strategy was made as some studies did not report how certain outcomes were collected or did not specify the definition e.g. of long-term faecal incontinence. Exclusion of studies not using the COS definition would have significantly reduced the number of studies that could be included. It was therefore decided to include all of these studies to ensure studies were not unnecessarily excluded. This however, may have had an impact on the result of this systematic review suggesting more studies were reporting COS outcomes than actually were.

Finally, we did not assess the quality of the studies included in this systematic review. This was due to the fact that only the types of outcomes being reported were collected from the studies and not the actual results of these outcome studies. We therefore deemed it not necessary to undergo this assessment.

# 2.6. Conclusion

This systematic review highlights the lack of use of the HSCR COS across different studies with little changes in outcome reporting after the publication of the COS. Only a very small number of studies were identified to be using the COS after its publication, with multiple important outcomes for these patients being excluded. It shows the need for the COS to be put into use across all centres in order to reduce the risk of reporting bias and improve meta-analyses of outcomes of HSCR patients across multiple centres in the future.

# 3. The qualitative and quantitative outcomes of children with Hirschsprung's disease and anorectal malformations

# 3.1. Introduction

The outcomes of infants with Hirschsprung's disease (HSCR) and anorectal malformations (ARM) are hugely variable and can be influenced by a large number of factors including type of defect, operative approach and additional medical problems (89, 114, 166). The HSCR core outcome set (COS), outlined in Chapter 2, has not been widely used to report outcomes for patients with HSCR or ARM, with the majority of studies reporting only a small number of these outcomes and using different outcome measures. This has produced a significant gap in the knowledge of outcomes for patients with these pathologies leaving these children and their families unclear on their future.

This chapter describes the initial findings of a cohort study on children with HSCR or ARM, reporting both clinician and patient reported outcomes according to the HSCR core outcome set.

# 3.2. Research question and objectives

## 3.2.1. Research question

What are the short and long-term outcomes for children with HSCR and ARM including surgical complications, functional outcomes and quality of life outcomes?

# 3.2.2. Objectives

The primary aim of this study is to use the standardised core outcome measures outlined for the Hirschsprung's disease COS to determine the current outcomes for children with HSCR or ARM. This information may enable identification of factors influencing outcomes in these children and may help with counselling of parents and patients with these conditions with regards to continence and quality of life outcomes in the future. The secondary aims of this study are:

- To compare the outcomes of children with recto-sigmoid and extended-segment HSCR.
- To compare the outcomes of children with low, intermediate and high ARM.
- To determine how the outcomes of children with HSCR and ARM change with age.

# 3.3. Methods

## 3.3.1. Ethical approval

Ethical approval for this study was granted by the North West – Liverpool East Research Ethics Committee and the Confidentiality Advisory Group (REC Reference: 18/NW/0608, IRAS ID: 219338).

## 3.3.2. Research team

Ms Sarah Almond is the chief investigator for this study. Co-investigators for the study included Professor Simon Kenny, Miss Rachel Harwood, Mr Colin Baillie, Mr Graham Lamont and Miss Sumita Chhabra.

#### 3.3.3. Study design

## 3.3.3.1. Design and location

The study is a retrospective observational cohort study completed at Alder Hey Children's Hospital (Alder Hey) in Liverpool between January and July 2022.

Prior to my starting the project, the protocol was written, ethical and confidential advisory group permission given and Health Research Authority permission given. It took approximately 3 months for the sponsor to give the green light for the study to start at Alder Hey after which I took on the day-to-day research activity. This included screening potential participants and establishing whether they met the inclusion and exclusion criteria. All of these screened patients were entered into the screening log. I then undertook collection of the clinician reported outcomes from the notes whilst in parallel contacting families. Contact with families was undertaken in clinic, on the ward and through the post, initially sending out a 'pre-survey card', patient and parent information forms and consent and assent forms. When consent and assent forms were returned I entered the patient's details and study number into the recruitment log and checked the consent forms were correctly completed. I then sent the relevant age-group questionnaires to the families in order and when these were returned I entered the data into the study red-cap database along with the clinician reported outcomes.

Children were identified from two hospital databases of patients who have been given an ICD-10 code based on their diagnosis (Table 3.1), two databases from previous studies on HSCR and ARM, and from clinic visits. These children were screened for eligibility based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria (Table 3.2). Deceased children were identified and no contacted for patient or parent reported outcome measures. Patient contact details were identified from patient records on Alder Hey's electronic patient record (EPR), Meditech, (Medical Information Technology Incorporated, Massachusetts, United States).

ICD-10 code	Diagnosis
Q43.1	Hirschsprung's Disease
Q42.0	Congenital absence, atresia and stenosis of
	rectum with fistula
Q42.1	Congenital absence, atresia and stenosis of
	rectum without fistula
Q42.2	Congenital absence, atresia and stenosis of
	anus with fistula
Q42.3	Congenital absence, atresia and stenosis of
	anus without fistula
Q43.6	Congenital fistula of rectum and anus
Q43.7	Persistent cloaca

Table 3.1. ICD-10 classification key (357)

3.3.3.2. Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The inclusion and exclusion criteria for this study are shown in Table 3.2. The aim of this study is to determine the outcomes of children with Hirschsprung's disease and anorectal

malformations. Children who were labelled as having HSCR but had no histological evidence in their records were excluded from the study. Children diagnosed with anorectal malformations who did not require any surgical management were excluded as it would make it difficult to determine whether management options had any effect on the outcomes of these infants. Children whose initial treatment or majority of follow-up were not undertaken by Alder Hey were also excluded as relevant information such as clinic letters or operative reports would not be accessible and therefore these children would not have a full set of notes in order for their outcomes to be compared. Only children born between July 2011 and July 2021 were included in this study, partially due to time constraints for submission, and in order for data to be collected at specific time points.

	Inclusion Criteria	Exclusion Criteria		
Hirschsprung's	All children treated at	Children with no		
Disease cohort	Alder Hey Children's	documented evidence of		
	Hospital with	histologically diagnosed		
	histologically confirmed	Hirschsprung's disease		
	Hirschsprung's disease			
	born between July 2011-			
	July 2021			
Anorectal	All children diagnosed	Children with a funnel anus		
Malformation	with an anorectal	Children diagnosed with an		
cohort	malformation on the	anorectal malformation		
	basis of position relative	which did not require any		
	to external sphincter	surgical procedure		
	born between July 2011-			
	July 2021			
General	Children born between	Children whose initial		
	July 2011 and July 2021	primary treatment or		
		majority of follow-up for		
		either condition has been		
		external to Alder Hey		
		Children's Hospital		
		Children with insufficient		
		hospital notes for outcome		
		measures		
		Children born before July		
		2011 and after July 2021		

Table 3.2.	Study	inclusion	and	exclusion	criteria
10010 3.2.	Juay	merasion	unu	cherasion	cificilia

#### 3.3.3.3. Patient recruitment

Families of eligible children were approached either by post or through their routine clinic appointments. Eligible children attending routine appointments between February 2022 and July 2022 were approached and invited to participate in the study verbally with written information. Written information was posted to families of children not attending routine clinic appointments in this time, as per the study protocol. As all children were under 16 years of age, consent was obtained through the parents of children with these conditions. Parents were given an information leaflet and consent form based on their age (Appendix 3) and given the chance to ask any questions regarding the study. Parents who had previously signed a consent form, either in a previous clinic or via post, were given the study questionnaires to either fill out in clinic or at home depending on their preference. All eligible children who had not been contacted in regards to the study through a clinic appointment by May 2022 were contacted by post. Parents of eligible children were sent a pre-survey card with a telephone number on for any questions, an age appropriate information leaflet and a parent consent form. This pack also contained a pre-paid return envelope for parents to return the consent form. Those parents who returned the signed consent form were posted age appropriate study questionnaires with another pre-paid return envelope.

#### 3.3.4. Data collection

#### 3.3.4.1. Clinician reported outcomes

Eligible children were given a unique study number on a locally formulated REDCap database, which was used for all patient information and outcomes identified in this study. Data were collected from the hospital records on the EPR of these eligible children including patient characteristics and clinician reported outcomes, such as unplanned reoperation and the need for a permanent stoma. Clinician reported outcomes were also collected from specific time points during follow-up, in which a defined range of time was allowed for these outcomes to be collected:

- 1 year old between 6 and 18 months of age
- 5 years old between 4 and 6 years of age
- 10 years old between 9 and 11 years of age

Clinical data were collected from the EPR and input into the REDCap database for children with HSCR or ARM meeting the eligibility criteria. Information including patient demographics, HSCR/ARM phenotype and interventions were extracted from clinical notes. COS clinician reported outcomes including faecal incontinence and voluntary bowel movements were collected from eligible clinical notes. When reporting clinician reported outcomes with less than 4 patients in, '<4' was put in the outcome table to ensure confidentiality of those patients. Table 3.3 shows data extracted from the clinical notes on the EPR.

Variables	Description					
Variables	Hirschsprung's disease	Anorectal malformation				
Patient	Gender	Gender				
	Date of Birth	Date of Birth				
	Phenotype	Phenotype				
Additional	Trisomy 21	VACTERL association				
medical	Other syndromes					
problems	Family History					
Investigations	Imaging	Imaging				
	Histopathology					
Interventions	Pre-operative	Surgical management				
	management					
	Surgical management					
Complications	Early post-operative					
	complications					
Outcomes	Faecal incontinence	Faecal incontinence				
collected at 1, 5	Voluntary bowel	Voluntary bowel				
and 10 years of	movements	movements				
age	HAEC	Urinary continence				
	Urinary continence	Unplanned re-operation				
	Unplanned re-operation	Permanent stoma				
	Permanent stoma					

Table 3.3. Study data extracted from online patient hospital notes

## The following definitions were used and are defined within the HSCR COS:

## 3.3.4.1.1. Unplanned reoperation

Any procedure which is not considered part of routine post-operative management. This outcome included any additional procedure performed as a direct result of the diagnosis of HSCR or ARM or as a result of the standard management of these children, either surgical or non-surgical. For example, planned stoma closures completed after the pull-through procedure would not be considered to be an unplanned reoperation.
#### 3.3.4.1.2. Permanent stoma

A stoma that is created without the intention of later reversal. The need for a permanent stoma should be either due to the diagnosis of HSCR or ARM, or due to the treatment of these conditions. This includes when the decision for a permanent stoma has been made out of child or parent preference or for continence management. The indication for permanent stoma formation should also be reported.

#### 3.3.4.1.3. Hirschsprung-associated enterocolitis

Clinician decision to admit and instigate treatment for Hirschsprung's Associated Enterocolitis due to factors such as admission with clinical presentation of HACE, bloods and/or x-ray findings in keeping with enterocolitis (169). This outcome was only reported for children with HSCR, with the number of episodes also being reported for these patients.

#### 3.3.4.1.4. Voluntary bowel movements

Children using no assistance, including stoma, laxatives, enemas or rectal washouts, as outlined by the HSCR core outcome set. When assessing bowel outcomes, bowel sensation, soiling and constipation were also assessed for both cohorts. Children who have a stoma were included in this outcome, however bowel outcomes excluding children with a stoma at specific time-points have also been stated in accordance with the COS. Bowel sensation was defined as the ability to feel when they needed to open their bowels and hold until they reached the toilet. Soiling was defined as the involuntary passage of faecal matter in an inappropriate place. Both bowel sensation and soiling were not reported in the 1 year follow-up cohort as their age meant these were not possible. Constipation was defined as the need for diet changes, laxatives or other bowel management strategies in order for the infant to have a bowel movement.

#### 3.3.4.1.5. Urinary continence

The involuntary voiding of urine that is constant, associated with social problems, or requires catheterisation. Both daytime and night time urinary continence were reported, however these were not reported in the 1 year age group.

## 3.3.4.2. Patient reported outcomes

On admission to the study, after signing the consent form, the most age appropriate questionnaires were administered. Different questionnaires were posted out to patients in different age groups with patients' families providing information on current treatments such as dilatations, laxatives and suppositories. Table 3.4 outlines the different questionnaires completed by children and their families at the different time points depending on the age of the child.

Age group	Questionnaires		
1 year	PedsQL Family Information Form		
5 years	PedsQL Family Information Form		
	PedsQL 5-7 Young Child Report		
	PedsQL 5-7 Parent Report		
	<ul> <li>Bowel Function Questionnaire – Age 5 and 10 years</li> </ul>		
10 years	PedsQL Family Information Form		
	PedsQL 8-12 Child Report		
	PedsQL 8-12 Parent Report		
	Bowel Function Questionnaire – Age 5 and 10 years		

Table 3.4. Questionnaires completed by children and parents at different time points

### 3.3.4.2.1. Objective score of bowel function

The Paediatric Incontinence and Constipation Score (PICS) was chosen to measure bowel function as this was the scoring system outlined in the HSCR core outcome set. The PICS questionnaire is made up of 13 questions and it calculates an incontinence and constipation score, using 8 and 10 questions, respectively, with 5 questions being used for both scores. The patient scores calculated from the questionnaires were compared with the age-specific mean scores and 95% confidence intervals (CI) for both incontinence and constipation. Scores that fell within the age-specific 95% confidence intervals were interpreted as an absence of incontinence or constipation and scores falling below the age-specific 95% confidence interval were interpreted as impaired continence or the presence of constipation.

For the HSCR cohort, all 14 children returning the bowel function score questionnaire had sufficient PICS data to calculate the incontinence and constipation scores for each child. Children are said to have impaired continence or constipation when their scores fall below the age-specific lower 95% confidence interval (358). The lower 95% confidence interval for impaired continence was 23.2 for all children in this HSCR cohort, as all children were over 35 months of age. The lower 95% confidence interval for constipation was 17.8 for 2 children, 17.9 for 1 child, 20.1 for 4 children and 20.0 for the remaining 7 children.

For the ARM cohort, all 16 children who returned the bowel function score questionnaire had sufficient PICS data to calculate the incontinence and constipation scores for each child. Using the same method as was used earlier for children with HSCR, children with an ARM are said to have impaired continence or constipation when their scores fall below the age-specific lower 95% confidence interval (358). The lower 95% confidence interval for impaired continence was 23.2 for 15 children in this ARM cohort, as these 15 children were over 35 months of age, with the remaining 1 child having lower 95% confidence interval of 15.1. The lower 95% confidence interval for constipation was 18.0 for 1 child, 17.8 for 2 children, 16.2 for 2 children, 17.9 for 2 children, 20.1 for 1 child and 20.0 for the remaining 8 children.

3.3.4.2.2. Objective score of quality of life and psychological stress The Paediatric Quality of Life (PedsQL) score was used to measure quality of life and psychological stress, as outlined by the HSCR core outcome set. Both the child self-reported and parent proxy-reported PedsQL questionnaires were used to calculate these scores for both cohorts. The PedsQL questionnaires contains 23 items and assess 4 quality of life domains: physical functioning, emotional functioning, social functioning, school functioning. To calculate a quality of life score, all 4 domains were included and to calculate a psychosocial score, the physical functioning questions were excluded. The mean scores calculated for each cohort were compared with a healthy reference population (358). The PedsQL scoring guide states that scores are still able to be calculated if more than 50% of the questions in each section have been answered, and a mean score can be calculated by dividing the total score by the number of questions that have been answered (359).

110

### 3.3.5. Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using Prism 9.0 (GraphPad). Outcomes are presented as counts and percentages, medians (IQR) or means (SD). Outcomes were presented for the whole cohort, and into groups of infants according to HSCR or ARM phenotype. The HSCR cohort were also split into two groups according to pull-through operative approach, however this was not done in the ARM cohort due to the large number of different operative approaches used for anal reconstruction in this cohort. Outcomes were compared using appropriate categorical and continuous statistical tests, with a P value of <0.05 being considered statistically significant. Categorical data were compared using Fisher's Exact Test or Chi-squared, and an Odds Ratio (OR [95% CI]) was also calculated. For continuous variables, a Student's T test was performed for 2 variables and a one-way ANOVA test was performed when there were 3 variables.

# 3.4. Results – HSCR Cohort

### 3.4.1. Patient inclusion in study

A total of 141 children with HSCR were identified from the four databases and from clinic visits. 15 (10.6%) children were excluded due to having either their initial primary treatment or majority of their follow-up at another centre, 12 (8.5%) children were excluded due to insufficient hospital notes with important data for this study missing. The total HSCR study population was 114 children, of whom 8 (7.0%) had died. The cause of death of these children is described later in this chapter. A flow chart of HSCR children included in this study is shown in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1. Flow chart of HSCR children included in this study

# 3.4.2. Clinician reported outcomes - Overall HSCR cohort

# 3.4.2.1. Patient characteristics

The total HSCR study population was 114 children, of whom 8 had died. The cause of death of these children is described later in this chapter. Core outcome set outcomes are described for the remaining 106 children below.

The median age of eligible children included in this cohort study was 67 months (IQR 38.25-95, range 6-124). 82 (77.4%) of the cohort were male and 24 (22.6%) were female. Children had a range of HSCR phenotypes with 76 (71.7%) having short-segment HSCR, 16 (15.1%) having long-segment HSCR, 10 (9.4%) having ultra-short HSCR, 2 (1.9%) having total colonic HSCR, and 2 (1.9%) having total intestinal HSCR (Table 3.5).

Characteristic	Value n=106 (%)
Sample size	106 (100)
Median age in months at beginning of data	67 (38.25-95)
collection (IQR)	
Sex	
Male	82 (77.4)
Female	24 (22.6)
Phenotype	
Short-segment HSCR	76 (71.7)
Long-segment HSCR	16 (15.1)
Ultra-short HSCR	10 (9.4)
Total Colonic HSCR	2 (1.9)
Total Intestinal HSCR	2 (1.9)

Table 3.5. HSCR cohort characteristics

All results in Table 3.5 are reported as number of children and percentages unless stated otherwise, n (%).

In this cohort, 10 (9.4%) had Trisomy 21 and 7 (6.6%) had other syndromes, including Di George syndrome, West syndrome, Shah Waardenburg syndrome and Mowat-Wilson syndrome. Table 3.6 shows the number of children with additional syndromes and family history of HSCR.

Additional syndromes	Value n=106 (%)
Trisomy 21	10 (9.4)
Other chromosomal abnormalities	7 (6.6)
Family History	9 (8.5)

Table 3.6. Additional syndromes in the HSCR cohort

All results in Table 3.6 are reported as number of patients and percentages unless stated otherwise, n (%).

All children (n=106) had a histological diagnosis confirming Hirschsprung's Disease, either a rectal suction biopsy or intra-operative frozen sections. 93 (87.7%) of children had a rectal suction biopsy and 99 (93.4%) of children had intra-operative frozen sections, with 87 (82.1%) of children undergoing both a rectal suction biopsy and intra-operative frozen sections. When assessing preoperative imaging in HSCR children had, 87 (82.1%) children had an abdominal x-ray and 85 (80.2%) had a contrast enema, with 66 of these 85 (77.6%) children having a visible transition zone on their contrast enema correlating with intraoperative findings. 71 (67.5%) children with HSCR underwent both an abdominal x-ray and a contrast enema and 5 (4.7%) had neither investigation done (Table 3.7).

Pre-operative management	Value n=106 (%)			
Histology	·			
Rectal suction biopsy	93 (87.7)			
Intra-operative frozen sections	99 (93.4)			
Imaging	·			
Abdominal X-ray	87 (82.1)			
Contrast enema	85 (80.2)			
Pre-operative management				
Rectal washouts	83 (78.3)			
Anal dilatations	62 (58.5)			
Both	62 (58.5)			

Table 3.7. Pre-operative management in the HSCR cohort

All results in Table 3.7 are reported as number of patients and percentages unless stated otherwise, n (%).

# 3.4.2.1.1. Surgical management

94 (88.7%) children underwent a pull-through procedure, with 67 (71.3%) children undergoing a Soave pull-through and 27 (28.7%) children undergoing a Swenson pullthrough. 3 (2.8%) children underwent a subtotal colectomy and 4 (3.8%) children had a permanent stoma formation as definitive surgical management, with 3 (75.0%) of these patients having additional syndromes, which would make future continence difficult. Table 3.8 shows a full list of the HSCR patient cohorts characteristics including surgical management.

Surgical management	Value n=106 (%)	
Pre-pull-through stoma formation	51 (48.1)	
Level of stoma formation		
Descending colon	21 (41.2)	
lleum	29 (56.9)	
Jejunum	1 (2.0)	
Definitive surgery		
Pull-through procedure	94 (88.7)	
• Soave	• 67 (71.3)	
• Swenson	• 27 (28.7)	
Subtotal colectomy	3 (2.8)	
Permanent stoma formation as initial management	4 (3.8)	
No surgical management due to ultra-short segment	5 (4.7)	
Pull-through operative approach		
Laparoscopic-assisted	45 (47.9)	
Open	49 (52.1)	

Table 3.8. HSCR cohort surgical management

All results in Table 3.8 are reported as number of patients and percentages unless stated otherwise, n (%).

# 3.4.2.1.2. Patient characteristics according to age group

Clinician reported outcomes were collected at 1 year, 5 years and 10 years of age. For the 1 year outcome form, outcomes for all children (n=106) could be collected as the whole cohort had hospital patient notes available from when they were within the age range for this outcome form. For the 5 year outcome form, outcome data was able to be completed for 70 (66.0%) children as they were older than 4 years. For 10 year follow up, 14 (13.2%) children were older than 9 years old and were therefore able to be included in the outcome collection for this age group. The majority of children in both the 5 year and 10 year cohort underwent a pull-through procedure, with 63 (90%) children having undergone a pull-through in the 5 year cohort and 13 (92.9%) children in the 10 year cohort. Table 3.9 shows the full list of HSCR characteristics at 5 and 10 years of age.

Characteristic	5 years (n=70)	10 years (n=14)				
Sex						
Male	55 (78.6)	12 (85.7)				
Female	15 (21.4)	2 (14.3)				
Phenotype						
Recto-sigmoid HSCR	58 (82.9)	13 (92.9)				
Extended segment HSCR	12 (17.1)	1 (7.1)				
Additional syndromes						
Trisomy 21	6 (8.6)	2 (14.3)				
Additional chromosomal	5 (7.1)	0 (0)				
abnormalities						
Pre-pull-through stoma	33 (47.1)	3 (21.4)				
formation						
Level of stoma formation						
Descending colon	15 (45.5)	2 (66.6)				
lleum	17 (51.5)	1 (33.3)				
Jejunum	1 (3.0)	0 (0)				
Definitive surgery						
Pull-through procedure	63 (90.0)	13 (92.9)				
Soave	• 50 (79.4)	• 13 (100)				
Swenson	• 13 (20.6)	• 0 (0)				
Subtotal colectomy	3 (4.3)	0 (0)				
No surgical management	2 (2.9)	0 (0)				
Pull-through operative appro	ach					
Laparoscopic-assisted	27 (42.9)	7 (53.8)				
Open	36 (57.1)	6 (46.2)				

Table 3.9. 5 and 10 year HSCR patient cohort characteristics

All results in Table 3.9 are reported as number of patients and percentages unless stated otherwise, n (%).

#### 3.4.2.2. Death

The overall mortality rate for HSCR children within this cohort was 7.0% (n=8) with all children having histologically diagnosed HSCR. The median age of these children was 7 months (IQR 2.5-15.5, range 1-72). 6 (75%) children had undergone a colostomy formation and 3 (37.5%) had undergone a pull-through procedure. 4 (50%) children had Trisomy 21 and 4 (50%) children had cardiac anomalies, with 2 (25%) children having both. The hospital patient notes for 3 (37.5%) children did not report a cause of death as these children attended an external centre but had their HSCR management at Alder Hey. All of the remaining 5 (62.5%) children had significant co-morbidities, including Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome and chronic liver failure, and 3 out of these 5 (60.0%) deaths were related to sepsis, prior to having a pull-through procedure. The cause of death in the remaining 2 (25%) children were due to post-operative complications, with one child developing problems after cardiac surgery for congenital heart disease and the other having a hypoxic brain injury after developing an anastomotic leak and sepsis post pull-through. Therefore the operative mortality as a direct consequence of HSCR was 0.9%.

#### 3.4.2.3. Unplanned reoperation

In total, 22 children out of the 106 (20.8%) in this HSCR patient cohort required further unplanned surgical management, either after initial stoma formation or after a pull-through procedure. Of the 94 (88.7%) children who had undergone a pull-through procedure, 20 (21.3%) of these required an additional surgical procedure with 18 (19.1%) children requiring unplanned surgery following pull-through. These 18 children had 28 surgical procedures between them; with 2 (1.9%) children requiring 3 operations, 6 (5.7%) children requiring 2 operations and the remaining 10 (9.4%) children requiring a single operation each. 5 (4.7%) children underwent permanent stoma formation following pull-through procedure, 2 (50.0%) of whom required further revision of stoma. 2 (1.9%) children had a stoma formed due to enterocolitis which was subsequently closed. 1 (0.9%) child required a post pull-through stoma which was later closed but who then required a permanent stoma.

4 (4.3%) children had an appendicocaecostomy (ACE) to permit antegrade colonic enemas after their pull-through surgery. 1 (1.1%) child subsequently required a caecostomy due to appendix perforation. 1 (1.1%) child underwent stoma formation and then an ACE

118

procedure and 1 child underwent primary caecostomy formation. The remaining 2 (2.1%) children underwent emergency exploratory laparotomies either due to obstruction caused by adhesions or due to sepsis.

4 (3.8%) children had a permanent stoma formed (colostomy n=2; ileostomy n=2) as primary treatment because their underlying condition precluded attainment of faecal continence. The 2 children who underwent additional surgery prior to a pull-through procedure both needed refashioning of their stoma either due to wound reopening or herniation of omentum.

### 3.4.1.4. Permanent stoma

In total 16 (15.1%) children required the formation of a permanent stoma, with 3 (18.8%) children having undergone a subtotal colectomy and 4 (25.0%) children having had a permanent stoma formed as their initial management. This gives a permanent stoma rate of 15.1% in this HSCR cohort.

9 (9.6%) children required permanent stoma formation after their pull-through procedure, due to faecal incontinence in 6 (66.6%) children, recurrent HAEC in 2 (22.2%) children and development of an anal stricture in 1 (11.1%) children. 3 of these children (33.3%) required refashioning of their stoma, either due to perforation or prolapse of the stoma.

#### 3.4.1.5. Hirschsprung-associated enterocolitis

Based on patient hospital records from prior to their pull-through procedure, 20.8% of all children with HSCR had at least one episode of HAEC (n=22), with 1/22 (4.5%) of these children having 3 episodes of HAEC prior to their pull-through and the remaining 21 (95.5%) children having 1 episode each. Figure 3.2 shows the percentages of children who had at least one episode of HAEC at each time point.





The numbers above each bar represent the total number of patients in each category.

Clinician reported incidences of HAEC at follow-up at 1 year of age were reported as 34.0% of all children with HSCR (n=36) after having surgical management, either pull-through procedure or stoma formation. 25/36 (69.4%) of these children had one episode of HAEC, 9/36 (25.0%) had two episodes, and 2/36 (5.6%) had three episodes of HAEC since surgery. At 5 years of age, 21/70 (30.0%) children had developed HAEC at least once since follow up at 1 year of age. 14/21 (66.7%) of these children had one episode of HAEC, 5/21 (23.8%) had two episodes, 1/21 (4.8%) had three episodes and 1/21 (4.8%) had four episodes of HAEC over the previous four years. At follow up at 10 years of age, 2/14 (14.3%) children had developed one episode of HAEC since follow-up at 5 years of age, with both children having just one episode of HAEC in this time frame. When comparing the HAEC rates across the different age groups, the differences were not statistically significant (p=0.31).

### 3.4.1.6. Voluntary bowel movements

### 3.4.1.6.1. Bowel management

In the cohort assessing outcomes at 1 year of age, 69 out of all 106 (65.1%) children in this cohort were able to have voluntary bowel movements with no assistance with 67 of these 69 (97.1%) children having undergone a pull-through procedure. As 13 of the 106 (12.3%)

children had a stoma at 1 year of age, 69 out of the 93 (74.2%) children without a stoma were able to have voluntary bowel movements with no assistance. Figure 3.3 describes the full list of bowel management strategies used.



Total=106

Figure 3.3. A pie chart showing the proportions of children using different bowel management strategies at 1 year

At 5 years of age, 41 out of 70 (58.6%) children required no assistance for bowel movements, with all children who required no assistance having undergone a pull-through procedure. As 12 (17.1%) children in this cohort had a stoma at 5 years of age, 41 out of the 58 (70.7%) children without a stoma were able to have voluntary bowel movements with no assistance. A full list of the bowel management strategies used at 5 years of age is shown in Figure 3.4.



Figure 3.4. A pie chart showing the proportions of children using different bowel management strategies at 5 years

At 10 years old, 4 out of the 14 (28.6%) children in the 10 year HSCR patient cohort required no assistance for bowel management, with all 4 of these children having undergone a pull-through procedure. When comparing the number of children that were able to have voluntary bowel movements in the different age groups, a statistically significant difference was found (p<0.05). As 2 (14.3%) of the children at age 10 years had a stoma, 4 out of the 12 (33.3%) children without a stoma were able to have voluntary bowel movements with no assistance. The full list of bowel management strategies used by children at 10 years of age is shown in Figure 3.5.



Total=14

Figure 3.5. A pie chart showing the proportions of children using different bowel management strategies at 10 years

# 3.4.2.3.1. Continence

In the 5 year cohort, 37/70 (52.9%) children reported soiling, with 36 (97.3%) of these having undergone a pull-through procedure prior to this time point. As 12 (17.1%) children had a stoma at 5 years of age, 37 out of the 58 (63.8%) children who do not have a stoma reported soiling.

5 (35.7%) children reported soiling at 10 years of age, with all of these children having previously undergone a pull-through procedure. As 2 (14.3%) children had a stoma at 10 years of age, 5 out of the 12 (41.7%) children without a stoma reported soiling. Table 3.10

shows a comparison of bowel function clinician reported outcomes across different age groups.

	1 year	5 years	10 years	P value
Proportion of patients	69 (65.1)	41 (58.6)	4 (28.6)	<0.05*
requiring no				
assistance, n (%)				
Proportion of patients	N/A	37 (52.9)	5 (35.7)	0.38
soiling, n (%)				

Table 3.10. Comparison of clinician reported bowel outcomes in each age group.

\*Statistically significant value

# 3.4.2.4. Urinary continence

At 5 years of age, 52 (74.3%) children reported daytime urinary continence out of the 70 in the 5 year patient cohort, in comparison to the 10 year cohort, in which only 9 (64.3%) children reported daytime urinary continence (OR 1.61 [0.52-4.98], p=0.52). For night time urinary continence, 47 (67.1%) children in the 5 year age group reported this, which was similar to the night time urinary continence rate (64.3%) in the 10 year cohort (OR 1.14 [0.38-3.98], p>0.99).

# 3.4.2.5. Non-COS outcomes

3.4.2.5.1. Early post-operative complications

In the cohort of children with HSCR who had undergone a pull-through procedure (n=94), no anastomotic leaks were reported in patient's clinical records and 3 (3.2%) children developed a pelvic abscess early after their pull-through procedures. 2/3 (66.7%) of these children had short-segment HSCR and the other had long-segment HSCR, with all 3 children undergoing a Soave pull-through procedure.

14 (14.9%) children developed other forms of early post-operative complications, with 3 (3.2%) children developing HAEC in the early post-operative period and 2 (2.1%) children developing a post-operative ileus. 2 (2.1%) children were admitted to the high dependency

unit as they required oxygen and 2 (2.1%) children developed surgical wound dehiscence due to wound infection. The remaining early post-operative complications developed by children included bleeding from the mucous fistula, low haemoglobin requiring a blood transfusion, vomiting requiring a nasogastric tube, reduced feeds leading to admission to hospital and perineal breakdown requiring ileostomy formation.

### 3.4.2.5.2. Bowel sensation

Due to the age of children at 1 year follow-up, bowel sensation was only collected from the 5 and 10 year follow-up notes. At 5 year of age, 42/70 (60.0%) children in the 5 year HSCR cohort reported an ability to feel when they need to open their bowels, with 39/63 (61.9%) children who had previously undergone a pull-through procedure being able to feel bowel movements.

At 10 year follow-up, 8/14 (57.1%) children in the 10 year cohort were able to feel when they needed to open their bowels, with 7/13 (53.8%) children who had previously undergone a pull-through procedure being able to feel bowel movements. Table 3.11 shows the number of HSCR children with bowel sensation in each age group.

### 3.4.2.5.3. Constipation

At follow up at 1 year, 15 out of 106 (14.2%) children had some form of constipation and as 13 (12.3%) of these children had a stoma at 1 year of age, 15 out of 93 (16.1%) children without a stoma had constipation.

In the 5 year HSCR cohort was 15 out of 70 (21.4%) of children reported constipation and, as 12 of these children had a stoma at 5 years of age, 15 out of the 58 (25.9%) children without a stoma reported constipation.

5 out of 14 (35.7%) children reported constipation at 10 years of age and, as 2 (14.3%) children had a stoma at 10 years of age, 5 out of the 12 (41.7%) children without a stoma reported constipation. Table 3.11 shows the number of HSCR children with constipation in each age group

	1 year	5 years	10 years	P value
Proportion of patients	N/A	42 (60.0)	8 (57.1)	>0.99
able to feel bowel				
movements n (%)				
Proportion of patients	15 (14.2)	15 (21.4)	5 (35.7)	0.11
with constipation, n				
(%)				

Table 3.11. Comparison of bowel sensation and constipation rates in each age group.

# 3.4.3. Clinician reported outcomes – HSCR phenotype

3.4.3.1. Patient characteristics according to HSCR phenotype

Out of the 106 HSCR children in this cohort, 86 (81.1%) had recto-sigmoid HSCR, which includes short-segment and ultra-short segment HSCR, and 20 (18.9%) had extended-segment HSCR, which includes long-segment, total colonic and total intestinal HSCR. Table 3.12 shows the characteristics of this cohort according to HSCR phenotype.

Characteristic	Recto-sigmoid (n=86)	Extended-segment (n=20)			
Age in months, median	67 (37.5-94.75)	63 (40-99)			
(IQR)					
Sex					
Male	68 (79.1)	14 (70.0)			
Female	18 (20.9)	6 (30.0)			
Primary stoma formation	34 (39.5)	17 (85.0)			
Definitive procedure	Definitive procedure				
Pull-through procedure	79 (91.9)	15 (75.0)			
Soave	• 56 (65.1)	• 11 (55.0)			
Swenson	• 23 (26.7)	• 4 (20.0)			
Subtotal colectomy	0 (0)	3 (15.0)			
Permanent stoma formation	2 (2.3)	2 (10.0)			
as initial management					
No surgical management	5 (5.8)	0 (0)			

 Table 3.12. Patient characteristics according to HSCR phenotype

All results in Table 3.12 are reported as number of children and percentages unless stated otherwise, n (%).

# 3.4.3.2. Unplanned reoperation

When comparing the number of children requiring additional surgical management between different HSCR phenotypes, 17 out of the 86 (19.8%) children with recto-sigmoid HSCR, and 5 out of the 20 (25%) children with extended-segment HSCR needed additional surgical management (OR 0.74 [0.26-2.06], p=0.56).

# 3.4.3.3. Permanent stoma

When comparing HSCR phenotypes, 10 out of the 86 (11.6%) children with recto-sigmoid HSCR and 6 out of the 20 (30.0%) children with extended-segment disease required permanent stoma formation (OR 0.31 [0.09-1.06], p=0.08).

### 3.4.3.4. Hirschsprung-associated enterocolitis

	Recto-sigmoid	cto-sigmoid Extended-		P value
	(n=86)	segment (n=20)	[95% CI]	
Pre-surgery, n	18 (20.9)	4 (20.0)	1.06 [0.34-3.20]	>0.99
(%)				
1 year, n (%)	27 (25.5)	9 (45.0)	0.56 [0.20-1.46]	0.30
5 years, n (%)	17 (29.3)*	4 (33.3)*	0.83 [0.23-2.75]	0.74
10 years, n (%)	<4	<4	0.00 [0.00-1.39]	0.13

A comparison between the different HSCR phenotypes according to the HAEC rates is shown in Table 3.13.

Table 3.13. Number of children who have had at least one episode of HAEC at different time points.

\*As the number of children changed in the 5 and 10 year cohort, percentages are out of the number of children in these time points and not the overall number.

# 3.4.3.5. Voluntary bowel movements

### 3.4.3.5.1. Bowel management

When comparing the different phenotypes of HSCR at 1 year of age, 56 out of the 86 (65.1%) children with recto-sigmoid disease were not using any assistance with bowel movements in comparison with 11 out of the 20 (55.0%) children with extended-segment disease (OR 1.53 [0.59-4.27], p=0.45). When comparing the different phenotypes of these children with HSCR at 5 years, 34 out of the 58 (58.6%) children with recto-sigmoid disease required no assistance for bowel movements in comparison to 7 out of the 12 (58.3%) children with extended-segment HSCR (OR 1.01 [0.31-3.51], p>0.99). At 10 years, 4 out of the 13 (30.8%) children with recto-sigmoid disease and 0 (0%) children with extended-segment disease required no assistance for bowel movements.

### 3.4.3.5.2. Continence

When comparing the HSCR phenotypes and their soiling rates at 5 years of age, 32 out of 58 (55.2%) children with recto-sigmoid disease and 5 out of 12 (41.7%) children with extended-segment HSCR reported some form of soiling, varying between occasional and constant

127

soiling (OR 1.72 [0.50-5.55], p=0.53). When looking at the HSCR phenotypes at 10 years, 4 out of the 13 (30.8%) children with recto-sigmoid disease reported soiling and the only (100%) child with extended-segment disease also reported soiling (OR 0.00 [0.00-5.00], p=0.36).

# 3.4.3.6. Urinary continence

Table 3.14 shows the proportion of children in each cohort that are continent for urine separated into HSCR phenotypes.

	5 years		10 years			
	Recto-	Extended-	Odds ratio	Recto-	Extended-	Odds ratio
	sigmoid	segment	[95% CI]	sigmoid	segment	[95% CI]
	disease	HSCR	and P value	disease	HSCR	and P value
	(n=58)	(n=12)		(n=13)	(n=1)	
Daytime	41 (70.7)	11 (91.6)	OR 2.63	8 (61.5)	<4	OR 1.60
urinary			[0.93-6.66],			[0.07-
continence,			p=0.07			33.75],
n (%)						p>0.99
Night time	39 (67.2)	8 (66.7)	OR 1.02	8 (61.5)	<4	OR 1.60
urinary			[0.31-3.62],			[0.07-
continence			p>0.99			33.75],
n (%)						p>0.99

Table 3.14. Proportion of children in each cohort with urinary continence

### 3.4.3.7. Non-COS outcomes

3.4.3.7.1. Early post-operative complications

In total, 12/86 (14.0%) children with recto-sigmoid HSCR and 5/20 (25.0%) children with extended-segment disease had early post-operative complications (OR 0.49 [0.15-1.43], p=0.31).

### 3.4.3.7.2. Bowel sensation

When comparing those with different HSCR phenotypes at 5 years of age, 35/58 (60.3%) children with recto-sigmoid disease and 7/12 (58.3%) children with extended-segment HSCR were able to feel bowel movements (OR 1.09 [0.33-3.79], p>0.99). All 8 children who could feel when they needed a bowel movements at 10 years of age had recto-sigmoid disease (61.5%), with the only child with extended-segment disease in the 10 year cohort not being able to feel when they needed to have a bowel movement (p=0.43).

## 3.4.3.7.3. Constipation

When comparing HSCR phenotypes at 1 year of age, 14 (16.3%) children with recto-sigmoid disease had constipation, in comparison to 1 (5.0%) child with extended-sigmoid disease (OR 3.69 [0.60-41.10], p=0.29). When comparing the different phenotypes of HSCR at 5 years, 12 out of the 58 (20.7%) children with recto-sigmoid disease and 3 out of the 12 (25.0%) children with extended-segment disease reported constipation (OR 0.78 [0.19-3.03], p=0.71). Of the 5 (35.7%) children who reported constipation at 10 years of age, all 5 (100%) children had recto-sigmoid disease.

### 3.4.4. Clinician reported outcomes – HSCR operative approach

3.4.4.1. Patient characteristics according to intervention Table 3.15 shows the patients characteristics of the HSCR cohort according to the pullthrough operative approach they underwent.

	Soave (n=67)	Swenson (n=27)
Age in months, median	80 (51-102)	51 (35-62)
(IQR)		
Sex		
Male	55 (82.1)	21 (77.8)
Female	12 (17.9)	6 (22.2)
Phenotype		
Short segment HSCR	53 (79.1)	21 (77.8)
Long segment HSCR	11 (16.4)	4 (14.8)
Ultra-short HSCR	3 (4.5)	2 (7.4)
Total colonic HSCR	0 (0)	0 (0)
Total intestinal HSCR	0 (0)	0 (0)
Additional syndromes		
Trisomy 21	6 (9.0)	2 (7.4)
Additional chromosomal	1 (1.5)	2 (7.4)
abnormalities		
Primary stoma formation	30 (44.8)	12 (44.4)

Table 3.15. Patient characteristics according to operative approach

All results in Table 3.15 are reported as number of children and percentages unless stated otherwise, n (%).

# 3.4.4.2. Unplanned reoperation

When comparing operative approaches, 7 out of the 27 (25.9%) children who underwent a Swenson pull-through required further surgical management in comparison to 11 out of the 67 (16.4%) children who underwent a Soave pull-through, shown in Table 3.16.

# 3.4.4.3. Permanent stoma

No significant difference was seen in the number of children requiring unplanned surgery, a permanent stoma or ACE between children undergoing a Soave or Swenson procedure (Table 3.16).

	Soave (n=67)	Swenson (n=27)	Odds Ratio	P value
Children requiring	11 (16.4)	7 (25.9)	0.5612	0.38
additional surgical			[0.20-1.52]	
procedures after pull-				
through, n (%)				
Children requiring a	5 (7.5)	4 (14.8)	0.4637	0.27
permanent stoma after			[0.12-1.63]	
pull-through, n (%)				
Children requiring an	5 (7.5)	<4	2.097	0.67
ACE procedure, n (%)			[0.26-25.56]	

Table 3.16. Comparison of pull-through operative approaches for additional operations and permanent stoma formation.

# 3.4.4.4. Voluntary bowel movements

3.4.4.1. Bowel management

At 1 year of age, 14/64 (21.9%) children who had undergone a Soave procedure and 7/24 (29.2%) children who had undergone a Swenson pull-through before this time point required no assistance for bowel movements. Of the 50 children, in the 5 year HSCR cohort, who had undergone a Soave pull-through procedure, 15 (30.0%) of these required bowel management, in comparison with 7 out of the 13 (53.8%) children who had undergone a Swenson pull-through. Of the 14 children in the 10 year cohort, 13 (100%) had undergone a pull-through procedure, with all of these being the Soave technique. Therefore 4 out of 13 (30.8%) children having the Soave pull-through required no assistance with bowel movements. This comparison of operative techniques is shown in Table 3.17.

	Soave	Swenson	Odds Ratio	P value
			[95% CI]	
Requiring bowel	14 (21.9)	7 (29.2)	0.68 [0.25-1.81]	0.58
management at 1				
year <i>,</i> n (%)				
Requiring bowel	15 (30.0)	7 (53.8)	0.37 [0.11-1.28]	0.19
management at 5				
years <i>,</i> n (%)				
Requiring bowel	4 (30.8)	0 (0)	N/A	N/A
management at 10				
years, n (%)				

Table 3.17. The number of children requiring no bowel management according to operative technique and age.

# 3.4.4.4.2. Continence

In the 5 year cohort, of those who had undergone a Soave pull-through procedure, 30 (60.0%) children reported soiling, in comparison is 6 out of the 13 (46.2%) children who had undergone a Swenson pull-through (OR 1.75 [0.52-5.86], p=0.53). All 5 of children who reported soiling in the 10 year cohort had undergone a Soave pull-through procedure, giving a 38.5% rate of soiling at 10 years after a Soave pull-through.

# 3.4.4.5. Urinary continence

At 5 years of age, 37/50 (74.0%) children who had previously undergone a Soave pullthrough procedure and 9/13 (69.2%) children who had previously undergone a Swenson pull-through procedure reported daytime urinary continence (OR 1.27 [0.38-4.55], p=0.74). 34/50 (68.0%) children who had undergone a Soave pull-through and 7/13 (53.8%) children who had undergone a Swenson pull-through reported night time urinary continence (OR 1.82 [0.52-6.31], p=0.35).

#### 3.4.4.6. Non-COS outcomes

#### 3.4.4.6.1. Early post-operative complications

When comparing the early post-operative complications in the Soave and Swenson approaches, 13 out of the 67 (19.4%) children who underwent a Soave pull-through and 4 out of the 27 (14.8%) children who underwent a Swenson pull-through in this cohort had early post-operative complications reported in clinical notes (OR 1.38 [0.43-4.21], p=0.77).

#### 3.4.4.6.2. Bowel sensation

33/50 (66.0%) children who had undergone a Soave pull-through by 5 years of age were able to feel when they needed a bowel movement, in comparison to 6/13 (46.2%) children who had undergone a Swenson pull-through (OR 2.27 [0.66-7.43], p=0.21). At 10 years, out of all 13 the children who had undergone a Soave pull-through, 7 (53.8%) were able to feel when to open their bowels.

### 3.4.4.6.3. Constipation

Of the 15 children reporting constipation at 1 year, 7 (46.7%) had not undergone a pullthrough procedure, 5 (33.3%) had undergone a Soave pull-through and the remaining 3 (20.0%) had undergone a Swenson pull-through. Therefore, the constipation rate after a Soave pull-through at 1 year was 7.8%, and 12.5% after a Swenson pull-through (OR 0.59 [0.14-2.41], p=0.68). Of the 63 patients who had undergone a pull-through procedure, 12 (19.0%) reported constipation at 5 years of age, with 11 (22%) children who had undergone a Soave procedure and 1 (7.7%) child who had undergone a Swenson procedure reporting constipation (OR 3.39 [0.44-39.27], p=0.43). Of the 5 (35.7%) children reporting constipation at 10 years of age, all 5 (100%) had previously undergone a Soave pull-through procedure.

#### 3.4.5. Patient reported outcomes – Overall HSCR cohort

106 children were deemed eligible for inclusion in this study and were contacted via post with a consent form for the study. Of these consent forms sent out, 44 (41.5%) consent forms were returned signed by parents and out of these 44 children, 24 returned the questionnaires. The postal response rate for the HSCR cohort was therefore 22.6%. 1 child returned some of the questionnaires with very limited data on and therefore was excluded from this study, leaving 23 (21.7%) children.

### 3.4.5.1. Patient characteristics

As children in the 1 year cohort did not complete a bowel function or quality of life questionnaires, these children have been separated into a different group from the 5 and 10 year old cohorts. For the 1 year cohort, the median age was 7 months (IQR 7-21, range 6-35), with 7 male children (77.8%) and 2 female children (22.2%). 7 (77.8%) children had recto-sigmoid disease and the remaining 2 (22.2%) children had extended-segment HSCR. 1 (11.1%) child had Trisomy 21, and another 2 (22.2%) children had additional syndromes alongside HSCR. 1 (11.1%) child had a family history of HSCR, with an affected brother, and 7 (77.8%) children had undergone a pull-through procedure. Table 3.18 shows the full list of characteristics for the 1 year HSCR cohort for patient reported outcomes.

All patients in the 5 and 10 year cohorts completed a bowel function and quality of life questionnaires and therefore these cohorts were grouped together to look at patient characteristics. The median age of these patients was 72 months (IQR 65-96, range 38-118), and out of the 14 patients, 11 were male (78.6%) and 3 were female (21.4%). 12 patients had recto-sigmoid disease (85.7%), and 2 patients had extended-segment HSCR (14.3%). 1 patient had Trisomy 21 (7.1%) and no patients had other neurological problems. 2 patients had a family history of HSCR (14.3%), one having immediate family with HSCR, and the other with more distant relatives. 13 out of the 14 (92.9%) children had undergone a pull-through procedure, with the remaining patient having undergone a subtotal colectomy (7.1%) due to total intestinal aganglionosis. Table 3.18 shows the patient characteristics of the 5 and 10 year cohort for patient reported outcomes.

	1 year (n=9)	5 and 10 years (n=14)		
Median age in months (IQR)	7 (7-21)	72 (65-96)		
Male (%)	7 (77.8)	11 (78.6)		
Phenotype				
Short-segment HSCR	7 (77.8)	12 (85.7)		
Long-segment HSCR	1 (11.1)	1 (7.1)		
Total colonic HSCR	1 (11.1)	0 (0)		
Total intestinal HSCR	0 (0)	1 (7.1)		
Additional syndromes	I			
Trisomy 21	1 (11.1)	1 (7.1)		
Shah Waardenburg	1 (11.1)	0 (0)		
syndrome				
Chromosome 22	1 (11.1)	0 (0)		
abnormality (non Di George				
syndrome)				
Family History	1 (11.1)	2 (14.3)		
Ethnicity				
White: British, Irish,	7 (77.8)	13 (92.8)		
European				
Asian: British, Indian,	1 (11.1)	1 (7.1)		
Pakistani				
Mixed race: White/Afro	1 (11.1)	0 (0)		
Caribbean				
Definitive surgery				
Pull-through procedure	7 (77.8)	13 (92.9)		
Soave	• 4 (57.1)	• 10 (76.9)		
Swenson	• 3 (42.9)	• 3 (23.1)		
Subtotal colectomy	0 (0)	1 (7.1)		
Permanent stoma formation	1 (11.1)	0 (0)		
as initial management				

	1 year (n=9)	5 and 10 years (n=14)	
Not surgery yet as awaiting	1 (11.1)	0 (0)	
pull-through			
Pull-through operative approach			
Laparoscopic-assisted	4 (57.1)	6 (46.2)	
Open	3 (42.9)	7 (53.8)	

Table 3.18. HSCR patient characteristics according to age

All results in Table 3.18 are reported as number of children and percentages unless stated otherwise, n (%).

# 3.4.5.2. Bowel function score

The mean (SD) incontinence score in the HSCR cohort was 16.14 (5.92) and the mean (SD) constipation score was 19.18 (4.60). 13 children's scores met the criteria for impaired continence (92.9%) and 8 children's scores met the criteria for constipation (57.1%), with 7 children meeting the criteria for both impaired continence and constipation (50.0%).

# 3.4.5.3. Quality of life

Of the 14 children who returned the questionnaires, all 14 (100%) children returned the PedsQL child form and 11 (78.6%) children returned the PedsQL parent report. Therefore, child reported PedsQL total scale scores and psychosocial health scores were calculable for all 14 (100%) children and parent reported scores were calculable in 11 (78.6%) children. The mean (SD) parent reported total score was 75.40 (17.50) which was not statistically significantly lower (p=0.77) than the mean (SD) parent reported total score of 80.87 (16.73) from the reference population (359), and the mean (SD) parent reported psychosocial score was 74.32 (18.17) which was also not significantly lower (p=0.75) than the mean (SD) parent reported total score of 80.58 (16.52) from the same reference population. The mean (SD) child reported total score was 78.01 (16.61) which was not significantly lower (p=0.93) than the mean (SD) child reported total score of 79.62 (15.26) from the reference population, and the mean (SD) child reported psychosocial score was 74.41 (17.98) which was not significantly lower (p=0.79) than the mean (SD) child reported psychosocial score was 74.41 (17.98) which was not significantly lower (p=0.79) than the mean (SD) child reported psychosocial score was 74.41 (17.98) which

79.37 (15.70) from the reference population (359). Figure 3.6 shows the PedsQL scores for the overall cohort.



Figure 3.6. The PedsQL scores for the overall HSCR cohort.

Of the 11 children with parent reported scores, 3 (27.3%) children had a total score, and 3 (27.3%) children had a psychosocial score that was more than 1 SD below the reference population mean. Of the 14 children with child reported scores, 3 (21.4%) children had a total score, and 4 (28.6%) children had a psychosocial score that was more than 1 SD below the reference population mean (359). Table 3.19 shows the quality of life scores for the total cohort.

	Parent reported quality of	Child reported quality of life
	life (n=11)	(n=14)
PedsQL total score, mean	75.40 (17.50)	78.01 (16.61)
(SD)		
Total score >1 SD lower	3 (27.3)	3 (21.4)
than the reference		
population mean, n (%)		
PedsQL psychosocial score,	74.32 (18.17)	74.41 (17.98)
mean (SD)		
Psychosocial score >1 SD	3 (27.3)	4 (28.6)
lower than the reference		
population mean, n (%)		

Table 3.19. PedsQL scores for the total HSCR cohort.

3.4.6. Patient reported outcomes – HSCR phenotype

3.4.6.1. Patient characteristics according to HSCR phenotype

Out of the 14 children with HSCR who returned the questionnaires, 12 (85.7%) had rectosigmoid HSCR and the remaining 2 (14.3%) had extended-segment HSCR. Table 3.20 shows the patient characteristics of this cohort according to HSCR phenotype.

	Recto-sigmoid (n=12)	Extended-segment (n=2)	
Age in months, median	77 (66-99)	53 (38-68)	
(IQR)			
Male	10 (83.3)	1 (50.0)	
Primary stoma formation	5 (41.7)	2 (100)	
Definitive surgery			
Pull-through procedure	12 (100)	1 (50.0)	
Soave	• 9 (75.0)	• 1 (100)	
Swenson	• 3 (25.0)	• 0 (0)	
Subtotal colectomy	0 (0)	1 (50.0)	

Table 3.20. Patient characteristics according to HSCR phenotype.

# 3.4.6.2. Bowel function score

	Recto-sigmoid	Extended-segment	P value*
	(n=12)	(n=2)	
Impaired	11 (91.7)	2 (100)	
continence, n (%)			
Incontinence score,	17.38 (5.29)	8.75 (3.75)	0.06
mean (SD)			
Constipation, n (%)	8 (66.7)	0 (0)	
Constipation score,	18.71 (4.66	22 (3.0)	0.39
mean (SD)			

Table 3.21 shows the bowel function scores for this cohort according to HSCR phenotype.

Table 3.21. The bowel function scores of the HSCR cohort according to HSCR phenotype. \*t-test (recto-sigmoid vs extended segment)

Of the 14 children in this HSCR cohort, 12 (85.7%) had recto-sigmoid disease and 2 (14.3%) had extended-segment HSCR. Both children with extended-segment disease met the scoring criteria for impaired continence (100%), however neither met the criteria for constipation. Of the 12 children with recto-sigmoid disease, 11 (91.7%) met the criteria for impaired continence and 8 (66.7%) met the criteria for constipation. Figures 3.7 and 3.8 show the incontinence and constipation scores according to HSCR phenotype.



Figures 3.7 and 3.8. The incontinence and constipation PICS scores according to HSCR phenotype.

# 3.4.6.3. Quality of life

When comparing the quality of life scores of children with different HSCR phenotypes, there were no significant differences between the scores. Table 3.22 shows the quality of life scores of the HSCR cohort according to HSCR phenotype.

	Recto-sigmoid	Extended-segment	P value <sup>a</sup>
	(n=12)	(n=2)	
Child reported quality of life			l
PedsQL total score, mean (SD)	80.14 (17.05)	65.21 (2.18)	0.25
Total score >1 SD lower than the	2 (18.2)	1 (50.0)	
reference population mean, n (%)			
PedsQL psychosocial score, mean	76.25 (18.65)	63.34 (6.67)	0.37
(SD)			
Psychosocial score >1 SD lower	3 (27.3)	1 (50.0)	
than the reference population			
mean, n (%)			
Parent reported quality of life			
PedsQL total score, mean (SD)	77.43 (18.87)	66.31 (2.18)	0.44
Total score >1 SD lower than the	2 (22.2)*	1 (50.0)	
reference population mean, n (%)			
PedsQL psychosocial score, mean	75.65 (19.41)	68.33 (10.0)	0.58
(SD)			
Psychosocial score >1 SD lower	2 (22.2)*	1 (50.0)	
than the reference population			
mean, n (%)			

Table 3.22. PedsQL scores according to HSCR phenotype

\*Percentage of those with a parent reported quality of life questionnaire returned.

<sup>a</sup> t test (recto-sigmoid vs extended-segment)

# 3.5. Results – ARM cohort

## 3.5.1. Patient inclusion in study

A total of 206 children with an ARM were identified from the databases and from clinic visits. 19 (9.2%) children were excluded due to having either their initial primary treatment or majority of their follow-up at another centre, 18 (8.7%) children were excluded due to insufficient hospital notes for inclusion in this study, 9 (4.4%) were excluded as they did not undergo surgery for their ARM, 19 (9.2%) children were excluded as they had died and 1 (0.5%) child did not have an ARM but had a urethro-vaginal fistula instead. This left a total of 140 (68.0%)eligible children for clinician reported outcomes to be collected from. Figure 3.9 shows a flow chart of ARM children included in this study.



Figure 3.9. A flow chart of ARM children included in this study

# 3.5.2. Clinician reported outcomes – Overall ARM cohort

# 3.5.2.1. Patient characteristics

The median age of these 140 children in the ARM cohort was 68.5 months (IQR 33.5-91.5, range 6-122), with 84 (59.6%) children being male. Patients were classified as having either a low, intermediate or high ARM, with 56 (40.0%) children having a low ARM, 50 (35.7%)

children having an intermediate ARM and 34 (24.3%) children having a high ARM. 97 children had at least one additional medical problem associated with VACTERL, 103 (73.6%) children underwent primary stoma formation and 134 (95.7%) children underwent anal reconstruction. Table 3.23 shows the full list of patient characteristics in this cohort, including anal reconstruction operative approach and additional medical problems, such as VACTERL association.

Characteristic	Value n=140 (%)
Median age in months at beginning of data	68.5 (33.5-91.5)
collection (IQR)	
Male	84 (59.6)
ARM classification	
Low	56 (40.0)
Anal stenosis	6 (4.3)
Recto-perineal fistula	50 (35.7)
Intermediate	50 (35.7)
Rectal atresia with no fistula	16 (11.4)
Recto-bulbar fistula	13 (9.3)
Recto-vestibular fistula	21 (15.0)
High	34 (24.3)
Cloaca	6 (4.3)
Recto-vaginal fistula	1 (0.7)
Recto-prostatic fistula	19 (13.6)
Recto-bladder neck fistula	8 (5.7)
VACTERL associated problem	97 (69.3)
Trisomy 21	2 (1.4)
Vertebral anomalies	11 (7.9)
Sacral agenesis	4 (2.9)
Cord tethering	31 (22.1)
Renal anomaly	50 (35.7)
Characteristic	Value n=140 (%)
---	-----------------
Cardiac anomaly	63 (45.0)
Tracheo-oesophageal fistula	20 (14.3)
Limb anomalies	11 (7.9)
Additional neurological problems/syndromes	13 (9.3)
Primary stoma formation	103 (73.6)
Level of stoma formation	
Descending colostomy	96 (93.2)
Other type of colostomy, including transverse	7 (5.0)
colostomy and ileostomy	
Definitive procedure	
Anal reconstruction	134 (95.7)
Permanent stoma formation as initial management	5 (3.6)
Anal reconstruction operative approach	
Posterior sagittal anorectoplasty	74 (55.2)
Transanal proctoplasty	25 (18.7)
Cut-back	7 (5.2)
Laparoscopic assisted anorectoplasty	15 (11.2)
Mini PSARP	5 (3.7)
Other	8 (5.7)

Table 3.23. ARM patient cohort characteristics

All results in Table 3.23 are reported as number of children and percentages unless stated otherwise, n (%).

# 3.5.2.1.1. Patient characteristics according to age

Similarly to the HSCR cohort, for clinician reported outcomes collected at the specific time points of 1 year, 5 years and 10 years, there were a different number of patient records that these outcomes were able to be collected from due to the ages of children in the cohort. For the 1 year outcome form, outcomes for all children (n=140) could be collected as the whole cohort had hospital patient notes available from when they were within the age range for this outcome form. For the 5 year outcome form, outcome data was able to be

completed for 89 (63.6%) children and for 10 year follow up, 14 (10.0%) children were able to be included in the outcome collection for this age group. Table 3.24 shows the full list of ARM patient characteristics at 5 and 10 years of age.

Characteristic	5 years (n=89)	10 years (n=14)
Median age in months at beginning of data	86 (70-102.5)	113.5 (106-120)
collection (IQR)		
Male	52 (58.4)	9 (64.3)
ARM classification	1	1
Low	30 (33.7)	4 (28.6)
Intermediate	35 (39.3)	6 (42.9)
High	24 (27.0)	4 (28.6)
VACTERL associated problems	65 (73.0)	12 (85.7)
Trisomy 21	0 (0)	0 (0)
Vertebral anomalies	8 (9.0)	0 (0)
Cord tethering	23 (25.8)	4 (28.6)
Renal anomaly	39 (43.8)	7 (50.0)
Cardiac anomaly	39 (43.8)	8 (57.1)
Tracheo-oesophageal fistula	15 (16.9)	2 (14.3)
Limb anomalies	9 (10.1)	2 (14.3)
Additional neurological	10 (11.2)	3 (21.4)
problems/syndromes		
Primary stoma formation	66 (74.2)	13 (92.9)
Level of stoma formation		1
Descending colostomy	63 (95.5)	13 (100)
Other type of colostomy, including	3 (4.5)	0 (0)
transverse colostomy or ileostomy		
Definitive procedure		
Anal reconstruction	84 (94.4)*	11 (78.6)
Permanent stoma formation as initial	5 (5.6)	3 (21.4)
management		

Characteristic	5 years (n=89)	10 years (n=14)		
Anal reconstruction operative approach				
PSARP	51 (60.7)	10 (90.9)		
ТАР	11 (13.1)	0 (0)		
Cut-back	5 (6.0)	0 (0)		
Laparoscopic anorectoplasty	10 (11.9)	0 (0)		
Other	7 (7.9)	1 (9.1)		

Table 3.24. ARM patient characteristics at 5 and 10 year follow-up \*One of these children had not undergone anal reconstruction by 5 year follow-up All results in Table 3.24 are reported as number of children and percentages unless stated otherwise, n (%).

#### 3.5.2.2. Death

The overall mortality rate for ARM children within this cohort was 12.5% (n=20) with 5 (25.0%) children having a high ARM, 10 (50.0%) children having an intermediate ARM and 5 (25.0%) children having a low ARM. The median age of these patients at time of death was 3.5 months (IQR 1-10, range 0-40). 17 (85.0%) children had at least 1 additional medical problem associated with VACTERL, with 12 (60%) children having a cardiac anomaly. 10 (50%) children had undergone stoma formation and 5 (25%) children had undergone an anoplasty before their death. The hospital patient notes for 6 (30.0%) children did not report a cause of death and 4 (20.0%) deaths were due to multiple severe congenital abnormalities. The cause of death in 2 (10.0%) children was congenital heart disease and sepsis in another 2 (10.0%) children. 2 (10.0%) children died unexpectedly after respiratory tract infections, 2 (10.0%) children were Wilms tumour in one child and respiratory failure due to an undiagnosed neurodegenerative disorder in the other.

#### 3.5.2.3. Unplanned reoperation

In total, 34/140 (24.3%) children in the ARM cohort required further surgical management, either after initial stoma formation or after anal reconstruction. 12 (8.6%) of these children required 2 additional surgeries and 22 (15.7%) required a single additional surgery. 5 (3.6%)

children underwent a re-do anoplasty only, 2 (1.4%) children underwent a re-do anoplasty followed by stoma closure, 2 (1.4%) children underwent a re-do anoplasty followed by ACE formation, 1 (0.7%) child underwent a re-do anoplasty followed by the formation of a permanent stoma, and 1 (0.7%) child underwent stoma formation before having a re-do anoplasty. This therefore means that the anal construction re-operation rate was 7.9% (n=11) in the overall ARM cohort. 8 (5.7%) children required ACE formation only, and 1 child underwent stoma formation prior to ACE formation. 5 (3.6%) children underwent permanent stoma formation only, 3 (2.1%) children underwent stoma formation and then closure of this stoma, and 2 (1.4%) children underwent permanent stoma formation with these children also requiring refashioning of their stoma either due to prolapse or obstruction. The remaining 4 (2.9%) children underwent one of the following surgeries: total cystectomy and hysterectomy, formation of vesicostomy due to recurrent urinary tract sepsis, urethral dilatation and cystourethroscopy, or laparotomy with division of adhesions causing small bowel volvulus.

Of these 34 children who required further surgical management, 1 (0.7%) child did not undergo anal reconstruction and 1 (0.7%) had their additional surgical management prior to anal reconstruction. This means that out of the 134 children who underwent anal reconstruction, 32 (23.9%) required further surgical management after this surgical management.

#### 3.5.2.4. Permanent stoma

In total 14 (10.0%) children in this ARM cohort required permanent stoma formation, with 9 (6.7%) children out of the 134 who underwent anal reconstruction requiring a permanent stoma, either due to constipation in 7 (77.8%) children, additional neurological problems in 1 (11.1%) child, or the inability to anastomose colon after previous stoma formation in 1 (11.1%) child. All 5 children who did not undergo anal reconstruction required a permanent stoma, either due to having a complex high ARM (40%), significant co-morbidities (40%) or anal stenosis (20%).

In total 11 (7.9%) children required ACE formation, either due to constipation or incontinence, with all of these patients having previously undergone anal reconstruction

surgery. When comparing different ARM classification groups, 1/56 (1.8%) children with a low ARM, 4/50 (8.0%) children with an intermediate ARM (8.0%) and 6/34 (17.6%) children with a high ARM required ACE formation for bowel management.

#### 3.5.2.5. Voluntary bowel movements

#### 3.5.2.5.1. Bowel management

By follow up at 1 year of age, 124 (88.6%) children had undergone anal reconstruction. 44 out of the 140 (31.4%) children in this whole cohort were able to have voluntary bowel movements with no assistance, with 43 of these 44 (97.7%) children having undergone anal reconstruction before this time point. 48 (34.3%) children at 1 year of age had a stoma, therefore 44 out of the 92 (47.8%) children without a stoma were able to have voluntary bowel movements with no assistance. Figure 3.10 shows a pie chart demonstrating the bowel management strategies used at 1 year of age.



Total=140

Figure 3.10. A pie chart showing the proportions of children with an ARM using different bowel management strategies at 1 year

By 5 year follow-up, 83/89 (93.3%) had undergone anal reconstruction. 23/89 (25.8%) children followed up at 5 years were able to have voluntary bowel movements with no assistance, with 22 of these 23 (95.7%) children having undergone anal reconstruction by 5 years of age. 21 (23.6%) children had a stoma at 5 years of age, therefore 23 out of the 78 (29.5%) children without a stoma were able to have voluntary bowel movements with no

assistance. A pie chart demonstrating the different bowel management strategies used at 5 years of age is shown in Figure 3.11.



Figure 3.11. A pie chart showing the proportions of children with an ARM using different bowel management strategies at 5 years

By 10 year follow-up, 11/14 (78.6%) children had undergone anal reconstruction. 1/14 (7.1%) children followed up at 10 years were able to have voluntary bowel movements with no assistance, with this patient having an intermediate ARM. As 5 (35.7%) children had a stoma at 10 years of age, 1 out of the 9 (11.1%) children without a stoma were able to have voluntary bowel movements with no assistance. A pie chart demonstrating the bowel management strategies used at 10 years of age is shown in Figure 3.12.



**Total=14** Figure 3.12. A pie chart showing the proportions of children with an ARM using different bowel management strategies at 10 years

#### 3.5.2.5.2. Continence

At 5 years of age, 24/89 (27.0%) children reported soiling, with 23 (25.8%) of these having had anal reconstruction. As 21 (23.6%) children had a stoma at 5 years of age, 24 out of the 78 (30.8%) children without a stoma reported soling.

At 10 years of age 2/14 (14.3%) children reported soiling, with both of these children having had anal reconstruction. As 5 (35.7%) children in the 10 year cohort had a stoma, 2 out of the 9 (22.2%) children without a stoma reported soiling. 1 (7.1%) of these children were classified as having an intermediate ARM and other was classified as having a high ARM. Table 3.25 shows the number of children with an ARM in each age group with soiling.

	1 year (n=140)	5 years (n=89)	10 years (n=14)	P value
Children requiring no	44 (31.4)	23 (25.8)	<4	0.13
assistance for voluntary				
bowel movements, n (%)				
Children with soiling, n (%)	N/A	24 (27.0)	<4	0.51

Table 3.25. Comparison of voluntary bowel movement outcomes in different age groups.

#### 3.5.2.6. Urinary incontinence

At 5 years, 52/89 (58.4%) children reported daytime urinary continence in total, and 46/89 (51.7%) children reported night time urinary continence. At 10 years, 11/14 (78.6%) children reported daytime continence in total, with the same patients also reporting night time urinary continence in this age group. When comparing urinary continence across age groups, there were no significant difference for either day or night time continence, p=0.24 and p=0.08, respectively.

#### 3.5.2.7. Non-COS outcomes

#### 3.5.2.7.1. Bowel sensation

Due to the age of patients, bowel sensation was collected at the 5 and 10 year follow-up. At 5 years, 51 (57.3%) children reported an ability to feel when they needed a bowel movement, with 50 of these 51 (98.0%) children having had anal reconstruction. At 10 year

follow-up, 8/14 (57.1%) children reported an ability to feel when they needed a bowel movement, with all of these 8 children having had anal reconstruction.

# 3.5.2.7.2. Constipation

At 1 year of age, 43/140 (30.7%) children reported constipation, with 39 of these having undergone anal reconstruction prior to follow-up at 1 year. As 48 (34.3%) children had a stoma at 1 year of age, 43 out of the 98 (43.9%) children without a stoma reported constipation.

At follow up at 5 years of age, 35/89 (39.3%) children reported constipation, with all of these patients having previously undergone anal reconstruction. As 21 (23.6%) children had a stoma at 5 years of age, 35 out of the 78 (44.9%) children without a stoma reported constipation.

At 10 years of age, 4 (28.6%) children reported constipation, with all of these patients also having undergone previous anal reconstruction. 5 (35.7%) children had a stoma at 10 years of age, and therefore 4 out of the 9 (44.4%) children without a stoma reported constipation. Table 3.26 shows the constipation rates of ARM children in each age group.

	1 year	5 years	10 years	P value
Proportion of patients	N/A	51 (57.3%)	8 (57.1%)	>0.99
able to feel bowel				
movements n (%)				
Proportion of patients	43 (30.7%)	35 (39.3%)	4 (28.6%)	0.37
with constipation, n				
(%)				

Table 3.26 Comparison of bowel sensation and constipation rates in each age group in the ARM cohort.

### 3.5.3. Clinician reported outcomes – ARM phenotype

3.5.3.1. Patient characteristics according to ARM classification Of the 140 children in the ARM patient cohort, 56 (40.0%) had a low ARM, 50 (35.7%) had an intermediate ARM and 34 (24.3%) had a high ARM. Table 3.27 shows the patient characteristics of this ARM patient cohort according to ARM classification.

	Low ARM (n=56)	Intermediate ARM	High ARM (n=34)
		(n=50)	
Age in months,	54.5 (29.5-89)	77 (30-92)	71.5 (42-98)
median (IQR)			
Male	32 (57.1)	25 (50.0)	27 (79.4)
VACTERL associated	26 (46.4)	13 (26.0)	4 (11.8)
medical problems			
Primary stoma	31 (55.4)	39 (78.0)	33 (97.1)
formation			
Definitive procedure			
Anal reconstruction	54 (96.4)	48 (96.0)	32 (94.1)
Anal reconstruction o	perative approach		
PSARP	29 (53.7)	31 (64.6)	14 (43.8)
ТАР	11 (20.4)	14 (29.2)	0 (0)
Mini PSARP	5 (9.3)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Laparoscopic	0 (0)	3 (6.3)	12 (37.5)
anorectoplasty			
Open	0 (0)	0 (0)	3 (9.4)
anorectoplasty			
Other	9 (16.7)	0 (0)	3 (9.4)

Table 3.27. Patient characteristics according to ARM classification.

All results in Table 3.27 are reported as number of children and percentages unless stated otherwise, n (%).

### 3.5.3.2. Unplanned reoperation

When comparing the number of children requiring additional surgical management between different ARM classification groups, 8/56 (14.3%) children with a low ARM, 11/50 (22.0%) children with an intermediate ARM and 15/34 (44.1%) children with a high ARM required additional surgery. This comparison is shown in Table 3.28.

	Low ARM	Intermediate	High ARM	P value*
	(n=56)	ARM (n=50)	(n=34)	
Unplanned	8 (14.3)	11 (22.0)	15 (44.1)	<0.05
operation				
required, n (%)				
Permanent	6 (10.7)	8 (16.0)	11 (32.4)	<0.05
stoma or ACE				
formation, n (%) <sup>a</sup>				

Table 3.28. A comparison of different ARM classifications for unplanned reoperation andpermanent stoma formation

\*Chi-squared test (Low ARM vs Intermediate ARM vs High ARM)

<sup>a</sup>Permanent stoma formation and ACE formation were combined in order to carry out a statistical test

### 3.5.3.3. Permanent stoma

When comparing the number of children requiring a permanent stoma in the different ARM classification groups, 5/56 (8.9%) children with a low ARM, 4/50 (8.0%) children with an intermediate ARM and 5/34 (14.7%) children with a high ARM required a permanent stoma to be formed.

### 3.5.3.4. Voluntary bowel movements

### 3.5.3.4.1. Bowel management

When comparing different ARM classification groups at 1 year of age, 21 out of the 56 (37.5%) children with a low ARM, 15 out of the 50 (30.0%) children with an intermediate ARM and 8 out of the 34 (23.5%) children with a high ARM required no assistance for

voluntary bowel movements (p=0.37). When comparing patients with different classifications of ARM at 5 years, 14/30 (46.7%) children with a low ARM, 5/35 (14.3%) children with an intermediate ARM, and 4/24 (16.7%) children with a high ARM required no assistance for voluntary bowel movements, which is statistically significant (p<0.05). As only 1 (7.1%) child required no assistance with bowel movements at 10 years of age, a comparison between ARM classifications could not be done.

#### 3.5.3.4.2. Continence

At 5 years of age, 8/30 (26.7%) with a low ARM, 10/35 (28.6%) children with an intermediate ARM and 6/24 (25.0%) with a high ARM in the 5 year ARM cohort reported soiling (p=0.95). At 10 years of age, 0/4 (0%) children with a low ARM, 1/6 (16.7%) children with an intermediate ARM and 1/4 (25.0%) children with a high ARM in the 10 year ARM cohort reported soiling (p=0.59).

### 3.5.3.5. Urinary incontinence

There were no significant differences in urinary incontinence rates when comparing ARM phenotypes. Table 3.29 shows the number of children in each age group with different ARM classifications reporting urinary continence.

	5 years		10 years					
	Low	Intermediate	High	Р	Low	Intermediate	High	Р
	ARM	ARM (n=35)	ARM	value	ARM	ARM (n=6)	ARM	value
	(n=30)		(n=24)		(n=4)		(n=4)	
Daytime	18	24 (68.6)	10	0.12	4 (100)	5 (83.3)	2	0.21
urinary	(60.0)		(41.7)				(50.0)	
continence,								
n (%)								
Night time	17	21 (60.0)	8 (33.3)	0.11	4 (100)	5 (83.3)	2	0.21
urinary	(56.7)						(50.0)	
continence,								
n (%)								

Table 3.29. A comparison of urinary continence across different ARM classifications.

### 3.5.3.6. Non-COS outcomes

#### 3.5.3.6.1. Bowel sensation

Bowel sensation was collected at 5 and 10 years of age due to patients at 1 year of age not being able to report bowel sensation. When comparing patients with different ARM classifications at 5 years of age, 20/30 (66.7%) children with a low ARM, 23/35 (65.7%) children with an intermediate ARM and 8/24 (33.3%) children with a high ARM in this cohort had an ability to feel when they needed a bowel movement, which is a statistically significant difference (p<0.05). At 10 years of age, 2/4 (50.0%) children with a low ARM, 5/6 (83.3%) children with an intermediate ARM and 1/4 (25.0%) children with a high ARM in this cohort reported bowel sensation (p=0.11).

### 3.5.3.6.2. Constipation

At 1 year of age, 21/56 (37.5%) children with a low ARM, 20/50 (40.0%) children with an intermediate ARM, and 2/34 (5.9%) children with a high ARM reported constipation at 1 year of age, which is statistically significant different (p<0.05). At 5 years of age, 12/30 (40.0%) children with a low ARM, 19/35 (54.3%) children with an intermediate ARM, and 4/24 (16.7%) with a high ARM reported constipation, which is a statistically significant

different (p<0.05). At 10 years of age, 2/4 (50.0%) children with a low ARM, 2/6 (33.3%) children with an intermediate ARM, and 0/4 (0%) children with a high ARM reported constipation in this cohort (p=0.28).

### 3.5.4. Patient reported outcomes - Overall ARM cohort

### 3.5.4.1. Patient characteristics

140 children were deemed eligible for inclusion in this study and were contacted via post with a consent form for the study. Of these consent forms sent out, 32 (22.9%) consent forms were returned signed by parents and out of these 32 children with signed consent forms, 24 returned questionnaires. The postal response rate for the ARM patient cohort was therefore 17.1%. 1 child returned some of the questionnaires with very limited data on and therefore was excluded from this study, leaving 23 (16.4%) children.

As children in the 1 year cohort did not complete a bowel function or quality of life questionnaire, these children have been separated into a different group from the 5 and 10 year old cohorts, as was done in the HSCR cohort. Table 3.30 shows the full list of patient characteristics in the two groups of children with an ARM.

Characteristic	1 year (n=7)	5 and 10 years (n=16)
Age in months, median	17 (11-20)	67 (44-86)
(IQR)		
Male	3 (42.9)	9 (56.3)
ARM classification		
Low	3 (42.9)	6 (37.5)
Recto-perineal fistula	3 (42.9)	5 (31.3)
Anal stenosis	0 (0)	1 (6.3)
Intermediate	2 (28.6)	6 (37.5)
Recto-vestibular fistula	2 (28.6)	2 (12.5)
Rectal atresia with no fistula	0 (0)	3 (18.8)
Recto-bulbar fistula	0 (0)	1 (6.3)

Characteristic	1 year (n=7)	5 and 10 years (n=16)
High	2 (28.6)	4 (25.0)
Recto-bladder neck fistula	1 (14.3)	1 (6.3)
Recto-prostatic fistula	1 (14.3)	2 (12.5)
Cloaca	0 (0)	1 (6.3)
VACTERL associated	6 (85.7)	9 (56.3)
problem		
Trisomy 21	0 (0)	0 (0)
Vertebral anomalies	1 (14.3)	3 (18.8)
Sacral agenesis	0 (0)	0 (0)
Cord tethering	2 (28.6)	2 (12.5)
Renal anomalies	3 (42.9)	6 (37.5)
Cardiac anomalies	4 (57.1)	6 (37.5)
Tracheo-oesophageal fistula	0 (0)	1 (6.3)
Limb anomalies	0 (0)	1 (6.3)
Additional neurological	0 (0)	3 (18.8)
problems/syndromes		
Ethnicity	I	
White: British, Irish,	7 (100)	14 (87.5)
European		
Mixed race: White/Black	0 (0)	1 (6.3)
Caribbean		
Other: not stated	0 (0)	1 (6.3)
Primary stoma formation	5 (71.4)	13 (81.3)
Anal reconstruction	7 (100)	16 (100)

Characteristic	1 year (n=7)	5 and 10 years (n=16)			
Anal reconstruction operative	Anal reconstruction operative approach				
PSARP	2 (28.6)	9 (56.3)			
ТАР	2 (28.6)	2 (12.5)			
Laparoscopic assisted	1 (14.3)	3 (18.8)			
anorectoplasty					
Open anorectoplasty	1 (14.3)	0 (0)			
Mini PSARP	1 (14.3)	2 (12.5)			

Table 3.30. Full list of ARM patient characteristics for all age groups

\*One child did not report father information in the 1 year group, therefore these percentages are out of 6 children.

<sup>a</sup>One mother information and one father information were not answered in the 5/10 year cohort, therefore these percentages are out of 15 children.

All results in Table 3.30 are reported as number of children and percentages unless stated otherwise, n (%).

### 3.5.4.2. Objective score of bowel function

The mean (SD) incontinence score in the ARM cohort was 14.63 (8.51) and the mean (SD) constipation score was 18.63 (4.64). 13 (81.3%) children's scores met the criteria for impaired continence and 8 (50.0%) children's scores met the criteria for constipation, with 6 (37.5%) children meeting the criteria for both impaired continence and constipation.

# 3.5.4.3. Quality of life

Of the 16 children who returned the questionnaires, all 16 (100%) children returned the PedsQL parent form and 13 (81.3%) children returned the PedsQL child report. Therefore, parent reported PedsQL total scale scores and psychosocial health scores were calculable for all 16 (100%) children and child reported scores were calculable in 13 (81.3%) children.

The mean (SD) parent reported total score was 75.44 (19.81) which was not statistically significantly lower (p=0.79) than the mean (SD) parent reported total score of 80.87 (16.73) from the reference population, and the mean (SD) parent reported psychosocial score was

74.96 (18.27) which was also not significantly lower (p=0.77) than the mean (SD) parent reported psychosocial health score of 80.58 (16.52) from the reference population (359). The mean (SD) child reported total score was 80.40 (13.51) which was not significantly different (p=0.96) than the mean (SD) child reported total score of 79.62 (15.26) from the reference population, and the mean (SD) child reported psychosocial score was 74.41 (17.98) which was not significantly lower (p=0.88) than the mean (SD) child reported psychosocial score of 76.76 (14.87) from the reference population (359). Figure 3.13 shows the PedsQL scores in the ARM patient cohort, showing the mean and standard deviation.



Figure 3.13. The PedsQL scores reported in the total ARM patient cohort.

Of the 16 children with parent reported scores, 3 (18.8%) children had a total score, and 3 (18.8%) children had a psychosocial score that was more than 1 SD below the reference population mean (359). Of the 13 children with child reported scores, 2 (15.4%) children had a total score, and 2 (15.4%) children had a psychosocial score that was more than 1 SD below the reference population mean (359). Table 3.31 shows the quality of life scores for the total cohort.

	Parent reported quality of	Child reported quality of life
	life (n=16)	(n=13)
PedsQL total score, mean	75.44 (19.81)	80.40 (13.51)
(SD)		
Total score >1 SD lower	3 (18.8)	2 (15.4)
than the reference		
population mean, n (%)		
PedsQL psychosocial score,	74.96 (18.27)	76.76 (14.87)
mean (SD)		
Psychosocial score >1 SD	3 (18.8)	2 (15.4)
lower than the reference		
population mean, n (%)		

Table 3.31. The PedsQL scores for the overall ARM patient cohort.

3.5.5. Patient reported outcomes – ARM phenotype

3.5.5.1. Patient characteristics according to ARM classification

Of the 16 children who returned the questionnaires in the 5 and 10 year old cohorts, 6

(37.5%) had a low ARM, 6 (37.5%) had an intermediate ARM and 4 (25.0%) had a high ARM.

The patient characteristics for each ARM classification are shown in Table 3.32.

	Low ARM (n=6)	Intermediate ARM (n=6)	High ARM (n=4)				
Age in months, median	48 (41-62)	76 (72-86)	68.5 (42.5-86.5)				
(IQR)							
Male	4 (66.7)	2 (33.3)	2 (50.0)				
VACTERL associated	2 (33.3)	4 (66.7)	3 (75.0)				
medical problems							
Primary stoma formation	4 (66.7)	5 (83.3)	4 (100.0)				
Anal reconstruction operative approach							
PSARP	3 (50.0)	4 (66.7)	2 (50.0)				
ТАР	1 (16.7)	1 (16.7)	0 (0)				
Mini PSARP	2 (33.3)	0 (0)	0 (0)				
Laparoscopic assisted	0 (0)	1 (16.7)	2 (50.0)				
anorectoplasty							

Table 3.32. Patient characteristics according to ARM classification.

All results in Table 3.32 are reported as number of children and percentages unless stated otherwise, n (%).

3.5.5.2. Objective score of bowel function

There were no significant differences in bowel function score when comparing the different ARM classifications. Table 3.33 shows the bowel function scores according to ARM classification.

	Low ARM	Intermediate	High ARM	P value
	(n=6)	ARM (n=6)	(n=4)	
Impaired continence,	4 (66.7)	6 (100)	3 (75.0)	
n (%)				
Incontinence score,	17.50 (9.05)	13.67 (7.53)	11.75 (7.75)	0.99
mean (SD)				
Constipation, n (%)	2 (33.3)	4 (66.7)	2 (50.0)	
Constipation score,	18.58 (4.72)	18.75 (4.77)	18.50 (4.30)	0.60
mean (SD)				

Table 3.33. The bowel function scores according to ARM classification.

\*One-way ANOVA test (low ARM vs intermediate ARM vs high ARM)

Of the 16 children in this ARM cohort, 6 (37.5%) had a low ARM, 6 (37.5%) had an intermediate ARM and 4 (25.0%) had a high ARM with the number of children with impaired continence and constipation being shown in Figures 3.14 and 3.15.



Figure 3.14 and 3.15. The incontinence and constipation PICS scores according to ARM classification.

# 3.5.5.3. Quality of life

There were no statistically significant differences between quality of life scores when comparing the different ARM phenotypes. Table 3.34 shows the quality of life scores according to ARM phenotype.

	Low ARM	Intermediate	High ARM	P value <sup>a</sup>	
	(n=6)	ARM (n=6)	(n=4)		
Child reported quality of life					
PedsQL total score, mean (SD)	81.22	75.73	92.39	0.34	
	(13.35)	(12.07)	(1.09)		
Total score >1 SD lower than the	1 (20.0)*	1 (16.7)	0 (0)*		
reference population mean, n (%)					
PedsQL psychosocial score, mean	77.58	71.67	90.00	0.34	
(SD)	(13.29)	(14.37)	(3.33)		
Psychosocial score >1 SD lower	1 (20.0)*	1 (16.7)	0 (0)*		
than the reference population					
mean, n (%)					
Parent reported quality of life					
PedsQL total score, mean (SD)	81.16	77.90	63.19	0.37	
	(12.65)	(12.73)	(27.94)		
Total score >1 SD lower than the	1 (16.7)	0 (0)	2 (50.0)		
reference population mean, n (%)					
PedsQL psychosocial score, mean	78.61	78.61	64.03	0.41	
(SD)	(10.99)	(14.06)	(24.79)		
Psychosocial score >1 SD lower	0 (0)	1 (16.7)	2 (50.0)		
than the reference population					
mean, n (%)					

Table 3.34. The quality of life and psychosocial score for each ARM classification.

\*Percentage of those with a child reported quality of life questionnaire returned.

<sup>a</sup>One-way ANOVA statistical test

#### 3.6. Discussion

The aim of this retrospective cohort study was to use the standardised core outcome set to determine the outcomes of children with HSCR and ARM. This study was able to identify the outcomes of these children and was also able to compare the outcomes between the different phenotypes of these pathologies and between the different age groups in this patient cohort. The HSCR COS was chosen to be used in this study to determine which outcomes were to be collected for children with either HSCR or ARM, due to there being no existing COS for children with an ARM and the very similar long-term outcomes in both of these conditions.

Of the 106 children in the HSCR cohort, approximately 1 in 5 underwent at least one unplanned reoperation, around a third of the children were unable to maintain voluntary bowel movements without some form of bowel management, such as laxatives or suppositories and just over 1 in 10 required permanent stoma formation. At 5 years of age, faecal incontinence was occurring in just over half of patients with HSCR, with around a quarter of children reporting daytime urinary incontinence. At 10 years of age, the rate of faecal incontinence decreased to around a third of children with HSCR, however, the rate of daytime urinary incontinence in the healthy population, which are 4.4% and 10.5%, respectively, the rates of faecal and urinary incontinence observed in this study were largely increased (360). A previous study assessing the outcomes of children with HSCR after a pull-through procedure reported a constipation rate of 53.3% at just under 5 years of age, which is a lot higher than the constipation rate observed in this study, 20% (361).

Overall, children with extended-segment HSCR tended to have poorer outcomes than children with recto-sigmoid HSCR, however there were a couple of exceptions to this. Constipation and faecal incontinence rates were lower in children with extended-segment HSCR in comparison to children with recto-sigmoid HSCR. However, this may not have been an accurate representation of these children as there was a higher rate of stoma formation in the extended-segment cohort, which would mean these children would not currently have faecal incontinence or constipation, but may have previously had it leading to stoma formation.

When assessing the patient reported outcomes of children with HSCR, all children met the criteria for either impaired continence or constipation and half of these children met the criteria for both of these outcomes. Although children with extended-segment HSCR scored a large amount lower for the incontinence score than children with recto-sigmoid disease (8.75 vs 17.38), there were only 2 children with extended-segment HSCR meaning statistically significant differences were not found. When assessing the quality of life scores in this HSCR cohort, there were similar child and parent reported scores. The 2 children with extended-segment HSCR had lower average scores for all quality of life scores, however, this also was not statistically significant due to the small number of patients. However, the child scoring the lowest for all four quality of life scores had recto-sigmoid HSCR.

Of the 140 children in the ARM cohort, around a quarter of children required at least one unplanned reoperation, 1 in 10 children required permanent stoma formation and around two thirds of children were unable to maintain voluntary bowel movements without bowel management. At both 5 and 10 years of age, faecal incontinence rates were higher in this study (27.0% and 14.3%) in comparison to the faecal incontinence rate of a healthy population stated as 4.4% (360). Also, the observed urinary incontinence rates in this study at both 5 and 10 years (58.4% and 78.6%), were higher than those observed in a previous study on a healthy population, 10.5%. The constipation rates observed for both 5 and 10 year olds in this study was also higher (39.3% and 28.6%) in comparison with the constipation rate observed in a previous study on healthy children (22.6%) (360).

When assessing the patient reported outcomes of children with an ARM, only 1 child did not meet the criteria for either impaired continence or constipation and 6 children met the criteria for both of these outcomes. Both incontinence and constipation scores remained similar across the different ARM classifications, however when looking at the individual incontinence scores of children classified as having a high ARM, 3 children reported low scores and 1 patient reported a higher score which therefore increased the mean incontinence score. As this cohort had a very small number of children, it is difficult to

165

assess whether the single child reporting a higher incontinence score is an outlier and bigger studies would therefore be needed to assess this. The average child reported total quality of life score was higher than the average parent reported total quality of life score in this ARM cohort. Also when assessing the high ARM cohort, the child reported total score is higher than the overall average and the parent reported total scores is lower than the overall average (92.39 vs 63.19). This may have been due half of the children in the high ARM cohort not completing the child reported questionnaire, with 1 of these children not being able to complete it due to a lack of cognition. This therefore means that the average total child reported score does not involve these patients but the parent reported score does, leading to a higher total child reported score and a lower total parent reported score.

In both ARM and HSCR cohorts, there was a low rate of ACE formation for bowel management. This may have been due to that fact that this was a relatively young cohort, with previous studies reporting the majority of ACE formations at around 9.2 years of age (362). Therefore, the rate of ACE formation may increase as these children get older and require more effective bowel management strategies suggesting the importance of the continuation of this study in order to establish the total number of children in this cohort needing an ACE formation at some point in their lives.

When comparing children with different ARM classifications, assessing voluntary bowel movements and constipation, there are much higher proportions of children with high ARMs at 1 year of age requiring assistance to maintain voluntary bowel movements (76.5%) than reporting constipation (5.9%). This may have been due to children with a stoma being included in the collection of these outcomes. To understand this difference, a further collection of these outcomes, this time excluding children with a stoma at 1 year of age, showed that 3 out of the 11 (27.3%) children without a stoma required assistance to maintain voluntary movements and 2 out of the 11 (18.2%) children without a stoma reported constipation. This therefore showed similar numbers of children requiring assistance to maintain bowel movements and reporting constipation when excluding children with a stoma. Also, some children reporting constipation as they are unaware of it and believe the child is having voluntary bowel movements instead.

166

#### 3.6.1. Strengths and limitations

Although this study had a broad inclusion criteria to prevent a small sample size, it was a single centre study, and therefore it is not possible to generalise these results across the paediatric population. Clinician reported outcome data was extracted manually from documented patient medical records, meaning there could have been an element of human error.

One strength of this study was the inclusion of patient reported outcomes including objective scores of bowel function and quality of life, however very limited numbers of children returned these questionnaires for the study. Due to a delay in gaining ethical approval for this study, consent forms were only able to be sent out a number of months after originally planned, which limited the time available for the collection of patient questionnaires. This meant that it was not possible to re-contact eligible children for consent and the total postal response rate for the HSCR and ARM cohort was 22.6% and 17.1%, respectively. However, those in the 1 year cohort were not required to complete a bowel function or quality of life score, meaning there was a very limited number of children completing these questionnaires creating a very small sample size for patient reported outcomes and limiting the data analysis able to be done. Due to the limited sample size, there is a risk of responder bias, with children who may have higher quality of life scores and better cognition responding and children with a lower quality of life being more unlikely to respond. The low number of children included in this study also reduces the impact of this study and limits the conclusions which can currently be drawn from it, as what has been found in this study may not be applicable to children with either of these conditions, for example children in other locations receiving different methods of treatment. Future studies could use electronic methods to distribute consent forms and questionnaires in order to get a better response rate and therefore a larger sample size for patient reported outcomes.

One weakness of this study was the limited number operative approaches to the pullthrough procedure for children with HSCR. As only 2 distinct procedures were carried out for these children at this centre, the power of the study is reduced in terms of outcomes, as

167

other pull-through procedure approaches, such as the Duhamel pull-through approach, were not included and therefore outcomes for this approach could not be collected.

There were no pre-treatment bowel function or quality of life scores available for these cohorts, and therefore it was not possible to determine the effects of specific variables on bowel function or quality of life scores reported from patient questionnaires. There were also no healthy controls used in this study meaning scores were compared to the general healthy population scores, however, these scores were not able to be matched according to patient characteristics, such as age or sex.

As the HSCR COS has been used in this study to collect outcomes for both HSCR and ARM children, there may be some drawbacks of using this COS for ARM children outcome reporting. One drawback could be that the HSCR COS was designed involving healthcare professionals and families specifically related to HSCR patients. This could therefore mean that using it for ARM patient outcome reporting could mean that certain outcomes, such as HAEC, may not be relevant to ARM patients. As healthcare professionals and families related to ARM patients have not been included in the development of the HSCR COS, outcomes which are specific to ARM patients or the outcomes people involved in the care of ARM patients would classify as of high importance to the success of ARM management may have not been included. However, as there is no pre-existing COS for ARM patients, and the outcomes of HSCR and ARM patients are very similar, the use of the HSCR COS for ARM patient outcome reporting may be beneficial in ensuring the majority of important outcomes, such as faecal and urinary incontinence, are being reported for these patients.

Future research looking at HSCR and ARM patient outcomes could include an older age range of children and conduct the research over a longer period of time to assess the longer-term outcomes of children and increase the sample size. A multi-centre outcome study could also be done to compare outcomes of different patient cohorts. Adult patients with these conditions could also be included in order to assess sexual function and obstetric outcomes.

# 3.7. Conclusion

This cohort study highlights the outcomes of children with HSCR and ARM, and suggests how issues can continue for these children many years after diagnosis and surgical management. However, children with less severe phenotypes of these conditions are more likely to have better outcomes than patients with more severe phenotypes. This study is continuing with more children being recruited, and with future analysis aiming to gather information of the longer-term outcomes of children with HSCR and ARM.

# 4. Conclusions

The systematic review in Chapter 2 highlighted the variability in outcome reporting for HSCR patients, even after the publication of the HSCR COS and explained the need for the use of the COS across all HSCR studies to reduce the risk of reporting bias and improve metaanalysis of these outcomes. This therefore highlighted the need for an outcome study using the HSCR COS and the correct outcome measures for both HSCR and ARM patients, which was completed in Chapter 3.

The data analysis in Chapter 3 of this thesis contributed to the understanding of both clinician and patient reported outcomes for HSCR and ARM patients. This study used the HSCR COS to assess the important outcomes for these patients and also compared the outcomes of patients with different classifications of these conditions. This study has therefore been able to makes suggestions for future research using these methods for a larger cohort of patients.

In conclusion, this thesis has assessed the outcomes of HSCR and ARM patients being reported in previous studies and described both the clinician and patient reported outcomes of these patients. This research has provided an opportunity for future, more wide-spread research and therefore will help with the understanding of longer-term outcomes for HSCR and ARM patients.

# References

1. Sadler TW, Sadler-Redmond SL, Tosney K, Byrne J, Imseis H. Langman's medical embryology. 14 ed. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer; 2019. 432 p.

2. Schoenwolf GC, Bleyl SB, Brauer PR, Francis-West PH, Larsen WJ. Larsen's human embryology. 5 ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier/Churchill Livingstone; 2015.

3. Apelqvist A, Ahlgren U, Edlund H. Sonic hedgehog directs specialised mesoderm differentiation in the intestine and pancreas. Current biology. 1997;7(10):801-4.

4. Amieva-Balmori M, Remes-Troche JM. 1 - Embryology of the Anorectum. In: Coss-Adame E, Remes-Troche JM, editors. Anorectal Disorders: Academic Press; 2019. p. 1-7.

5. Hutchins EJ, Kunttas E, Piacentino ML, Howard AGA, Bronner ME, Uribe RA. Migration and diversification of the vagal neural crest. Developmental Biology. 2018;444:S98-S109.

6. Lang D, Chen F, Milewski R, Li J, Lu MM, Epstein JA. Pax3 is required for enteric ganglia formation and functions with Sox10 to modulate expression of c-ret. The Journal of Clinical Investigation. 2000;106(8):963-71.

7. Perea D, Guiu J, Hudry B, Konstantinidou C, Milona A, Hadjieconomou D, et al. Ret receptor tyrosine kinase sustains proliferation and tissue maturation in intestinal epithelia. EMBO J. 2017;36(20):3029-45.

8. Drake RL, Vogl W, Mitchell AW, Gray H. Gray's anatomy for students. 3 ed. Philadelphia: Churchill Livingstone/Elsevier; 2015. 1161 p.

9. Kvietys PR. Chapter 2, Anatomy. The gastrointestinal circulation. San Rafael: Morgan & Claypool Life; 2010.

10. Tortora GJ, Derrickson B. Tortora's principles of anatomy and physiology. 15 ed. New Jersey: Wiley; 2017.

11. Naish J, Syndercombe Court D. Medical sciences. 3 ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2018. 802 p.

12. Malone J, Thavamani A. Physiology, gastrocolic reflex. Treasure Island: StatPearls Publishing; 2021.

13. Lee JM, Kim NK. Essential Anatomy of the Anorectum for Colorectal Surgeons Focused on the Gross Anatomy and Histologic Findings. Ann Coloproctol. 2018;34(2):59-71.

14. Bajowa Edozien GY. Sexual Offenses, Adult: Normal Anogenital Anatomy and Variants. In: Payne-James J, Byard RW, editors. Encyclopedia of Forensic and Legal Medicine (Second Edition). Oxford: Elsevier; 2016. p. 286-311.

15. Bradnock TJ, Knight M, Kenny S, Nair M, Walker GM. Hirschsprung's disease in the UK and Ireland: incidence and anomalies. Arch Dis Child. 2017;102(8):722-7.

16. Spouge D, Baird PA. Hirschsprung disease in a large birth cohort. Teratology. 1985;32(2):171-7.

17. Suita S, Taguchi T, Ieiri S, Nakatsuji T. Hirschsprung's disease in Japan: analysis of 3852 patients based on a nationwide survey in 30 years. J Pediatr Surg. 2005;40(1):197-201; discussion -2.

18. Russell MB, Russell CA, Niebuhr E. An epidemiological study of Hirschsprung's disease and additional anomalies. Acta Paediatr. 1994;83(1):68-71.

19. Edery P, Pelet A, Mulligan LM, Abel L, Attié T, Dow E, et al. Long segment and short segment familial Hirschsprung's disease: variable clinical expression at the RET locus. J Med Genet. 1994;31(8):602-6.

20. Chhabra S, Kenny SE. Hirschsprung's disease. Surgery (Oxford). 2016;34(12):628-32.

21. Burns AJ, Douarin NM. The sacral neural crest contributes neurons and glia to the post-umbilical gut: spatiotemporal analysis of the development of the enteric nervous system. Development. 1998;125(21):4335-47.

22. Puri P, Shinkai T. Pathogenesis of Hirschsprung's disease and its variants: recent progress. Seminars in Pediatric Surgery. 2004;13(1):18-24.

23. Holcomb GW, Murphy J, St Peter SD, Gatti JM, Ashcraft KW. Holcomb and ashcraft's pediatric surgery. 7 ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2019. 1291 p.

24. Rauch U, Schäfer KH. The extracellular matrix and its role in cell migration and development of the enteric nervous system. Eur J Pediatr Surg. 2003;13(3):158-62.

25. Fujimoto T, Hata J, Yokoyama S, Mitomi T. A study of the extracellular matrix protein as the migration pathway of neural crest cells in the gut: Analysis in human embryos with special reference to the pathogenesis of Hirschsprung's disease. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 1989;24(6):550-6.

26. Kamagata S, Donahoe PK. The effect of fibronectin on cholinergic differentiation of the fetal colon. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 1985;20(4):307-14.

27. Le Douarin NM, Teillet MA. The migration of neural crest cells to the wall of the digestive tract in avian embryo. J Embryol Exp Morphol. 1973;30(1):31-48.

28. Taguchi T, Matsufuji H, Leiri S. Hirschsprung's disease and the allied disorders. Singapore: Springer nature singapore pte ltd.; 2019. 292 p.

29. Takahashi M. RET receptor signaling: Function in development, metabolic disease, and cancer. Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci. 2022;98(3):112-25.

30. Tomuschat C, Puri P. RET gene is a major risk factor for Hirschsprung's disease: a meta-analysis. Pediatr Surg Int. 2015;31(8):701-10.

31. Kruger GM, Mosher JT, Tsai YH, Yeager K, Iwashita T, Gariepy CE, et al. Temporally Distinct Requirements for Endothelin Receptor B in the Generation and Migration of Gut Neural Crest Stem Cells. Neuron. 2003;40:917-29.

32. Hosoda K, Hammer RE, Richardson JA, Baynash AG, Cheung JC, Giaid A, et al. Targeted and natural (piebald-lethal) mutations of endothelin-B receptor gene produce megacolon associated with spotted coat color in mice. Cell. 1994;79(7):1267-76.

33. Tam PK, Garcia-Barceló M. Genetic basis of Hirschsprung's disease. Pediatr Surg Int. 2009;25(7):543-58.

34. Cantrell VA, Owens SE, Chandler RL, Airey DC, Bradley KM, Smith JR, et al. Interactions between Sox10 and EdnrB modulate penetrance and severity of aganglionosis in the Sox10Dom mouse model of Hirschsprung disease. Hum Mol Genet. 2004;13(19):2289-301.

35. Southard-Smith EM, Kos L, Pavan WJ. Sox10 mutation disrupts neural crest development in Dom Hirschsprung mouse model. Nat Genet. 1998;18(1):60-4.

36. Arnold S, Pelet A, Amiel J, Borrego S, Hofstra R, Tam P, et al. Interaction between a chromosome 10 RET enhancer and chromosome 21 in the Down syndrome-Hirschsprung disease association. Human Mutation. 2009;30(5):771-5.

37. Moore SW. Advances in understanding the association between Down syndrome and Hirschsprung disease (DS-HSCR). Pediatr Surg Int. 2018;34(11):1127-37.

38. Brooks A, Breuning M, Meijers C, editors. Spectrum of phenotypes associated with Hirschsprung disease: an evaluation of 239 patients from a single institution. The Third International Meeting: Hirschsprung disease and related neurocristopathies Evian, France; 1998. 39. Bogdanova-Mihaylova P, Alexander MD, Murphy RP, Murphy SM. Waardenbury syndrome: a rare cause of inherited neuropathy due to SOX10 mutation. Journal of the peripheral nervous system. 2017;22(3):219-23.

40. Amiel J, Sproat-Emison E, Garcia-Barcelo M, Lantieri F, Burzynski G, Borrego S, et al. Hirschsprung disease, associated syndromes and genetics: a review. J Med Genet. 2008;45(1):1-14.

41. Herbarth B, Pingault V, Bondurand N, Kuhlbrodt K, Hermans-Borgmeyer I, Puliti A, et al. Mutation of the Sry-related Sox10 gene in Dominant megacolon, a mouse model for human Hirschsprung disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95(9):5161-5.

42. Van de Putte T, Maruhashi M, Francis A, Nelles L, Kondoh H, Huylebroeck D, et al. Mice lacking ZFHX1B, the gene that codes for Smad-interacting protein-1, reveal a role for multiple neural crest cell defects in the etiology of Hirschsprung disease-mental retardation syndrome. Am J Hum Genet. 2003;72(2):465-70.

43. Pattyn A, Morin X, Cremer H, Goridis C, Brunet JF. The homeobox gene Phox2b is essential for the development of autonomic neural crest derivatives. Nature. 1999;399(6734):366-70.

44. Kawaguchi AL, Guner YS, Sømme S, Quesenberry AC, Arthur LG, Sola JE, et al. Management and outcomes for long-segment Hirschsprung disease: A systematic review from the APSA Outcomes and Evidence Based Practice Committee. J Pediatr Surg. 2021;56(9):1513-23.

45. Tam PKH. Hirschsprung's disease: A bridge for science and surgery. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2016;51(1):18-22.

46. Caniano DA, Ormsbee HS, Polito W, Sun C-C, Barone FC, Hill JL. Total intestinal aganglionosis. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 1985;20(4):456-60.

47. Szylberg Ł, Marszałek A. Diagnosis of Hirschsprung's disease with particular emphasis on histopathology. A systemic review of current literature. Gastroenterology Review. 2014;9:264-9.

48. Loening-Baucke V, Kimura K. Failure to pass meconium: diagnosing neonatal intestinal obstruction. Am Fam Physician. 1999;60(7):2043-50.

49. Chanpong A, Borrelli O, Thapar N. Hirschsprung disease and Paediatric Intestinal Pseudo-obstruction. Best Practice & Research Clinical Gastroenterology. 2022;56-57:101765.

50. Kyrklund K, Sloots CEJ, de Blaauw I, Bjørnland K, Rolle U, Cavalieri D, et al. ERNICA guidelines for the management of rectosigmoid Hirschsprung's disease. Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases. 2020;15(1):164.

51. Gosain A, Frykman PK, Cowles RA, Horton J, Levitt M, Rothstein DH, et al. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of Hirschsprung-associated enterocolitis. Pediatr Surg Int. 2017;33(5):517-21.

52. Gosain A, Brinkman AS. Hirschsprung's associated enterocolitis. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2015;27(3):364-9.

53. Lorijn F, Boeckxstaens G, Benninga M. Symptomatology, pathophysiology, diagnostic work-up, and treatment of Hirschsprung disease in infancy and childhood. Current gastroenterology reports. 2007;9:245-53.

54. Ryan ET, Ecker JL, Christakis NA, Folkman J. Hirschsprung's disease: Associated abnormalities and demography. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 1992;27(1):76-81.

55. National institute for health and care excellence. Constipation in children and young people: diagnosis and management. 2010.

56. Frongia G, Günther P, Schenk JP, Strube K, Kessler M, Mehrabi A, et al. Contrast Enema for Hirschsprung Disease Investigation: Diagnostic Accuracy and Validity for Subsequent Diagnostic and Surgical Planning. Eur J Pediatr Surg. 2016;26(2):207-14.

57. Siwaborwornwattana N, Ngerncham M, Iemsawatdikul K, Laohapensang M. Significant use of the recto-sigmoid index in prediction of hirschsprung disease in the newborn period. Journal of the medical association of thailand. 2017;100:84-91.

58. Lourenção PLTdA, Valerini FG, Cataneo AJM, Ortolan EVP, Silveira GLd, Piva MFL, et al. Barium Enema Revisited in the Workup for the Diagnosis of Hirschsprung's Disease. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition. 2019;68(4).

59. Huang Y, Zheng S, Xiao X. Preliminary evaluation of anorectal manometry in diagnosing Hirschsprung's disease in neonates. Pediatr Surg Int. 2009;25(1):41-5.

60. Athanasakos E, Cleeve S, Thapar N, Lindley K, Perring S, Cronin H, et al. Anorectal manometry in children with defecation disorders BSPGHAN Motility Working Group consensus statement. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2020;32(6):e13797.

61. Lotfollahzadeh S, Taherian M, Anand S. Hirschsprung Disease. Treasure Island: Statpearls Publishing; 2020.

62. Goldstein AM, Thapar N, Karunaratne TB, De Giorgio R. Clinical aspects of neurointestinal disease: Pathophysiology, diagnosis, and treatment. Dev Biol. 2016;417(2):217-28.

63. Friedmacher F, Puri P. Rectal suction biopsy for the diagnosis of Hirschsprung's disease: a systematic review of diagnostic accuracy and complications. Pediatr Surg Int. 2015;31(9):821-30.

64. Coyle D, O'Donnell AM, Tomuschat C, Gillick J, Puri P. The Extent of the Transition Zone in Hirschsprung Disease. J Pediatr Surg. 2019;54(11):2318-24.

65. Thakkar HS, Blackburn S, Curry J, De Coppi P, Giuliani S, Sebire N, et al. Variability of the transition zone length in Hirschsprung disease. J Pediatr Surg. 2020;55(1):63-6.

66. Kapur RP. Histology of the Transition Zone in Hirschsprung Disease. Am J Surg Pathol. 2016;40(12):1637-46.

67. Puri P, Gosemann J-H. Variants of Hirschsprung disease. Seminars in Pediatric Surgery. 2012;21(4):310-8.

68. Berg CJ, Hernandez EA. An adult with megacolon - the differential diagnosis of hirschsprung's disease. Proceedings of UCLA healthcare. 2016;20.

69. Hsu C-T, Wang S-S, Houng J-F, Chiang P-J, Huang C-B. Congenital Colonic Atresia: Report of One Case. Pediatrics & Neonatology. 2010;51(3):186-9.

70. Le CK, Nahirniak P, Anand S, Cooper W. Volvulus. StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing

Copyright © 2022, StatPearls Publishing LLC.; 2022.

71. Leung AKC, Leung AAC. Evaluation and management of the child with hypothyroidism. World J Pediatr. 2019;15(2):124-34.

72. Zhu T, Sun X, Wei M, Yi B, Zhao X, Wang W, et al. Optimal time for single-stage pullthrough colectomy in infants with short-segment Hirschsprung disease. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2019;34(2):255-9.

73. Dasgupta R, Langer JC. Hirschsprung disease. Curr Probl Surg. 2004;41(12):942-88.

74. Smith CA, Ambartsumyan L, Kapur RP. Surgery, Surgical Pathology, and Postoperative Management of Patients With Hirschsprung Disease. Pediatric and Developmental Pathology. 2019;23:23 - 39.

75. Levitt MA, Hamrick MC, Eradi B, Bischoff A, Hall J, Peña A. Transanal, full-thickness, Swenson-like approach for Hirschsprung disease. J Pediatr Surg. 2013;48(11):2289-95.

76. Sherman JO, Snyder ME, Weitzman JJ, Jona JZ, Gillis DA, O'Donnell B, et al. A 40-year multinational retrospective study of 880 Swenson procedures. J Pediatr Surg. 1989;24(8):833-8.

77. Stockmann PT, Philippart AI. The Duhamel procedure for Hirschsprung's disease. Semin Pediatr Surg. 1998;7(2):89-95.

78. van der Zee DC, Bax KN. One-stage Duhamel-Martin procedure for Hirschsprung's disease: a 5-year follow-up study. J Pediatr Surg. 2000;35(10):1434-6.

79. Weinberg G, Boley SJ. Endorectal pull-through with primary anastomosis for Hirschsprung's disease. Semin Pediatr Surg. 1998;7(2):96-102.

80. Langer JC, Minkes RK, Mazziotti MV, Skinner MA, Winthrop AL. Transanal one-stage Soave procedure for infants with Hirschsprung's disease. J Pediatr Surg. 1999;34(1):148-51; discussion 52.

81. Skinner MA. Hirschsprung's disease. Curr Probl Surg. 1996;33(5):389-460.

82. Engum SA, Grosfeld JL. Long-term results of treatment of Hirschsprung's disease. Semin Pediatr Surg. 2004;13(4):273-85.

83. Marty TL, Seo T, Matlak ME, Sullivan JJ, Black RE, Johnson DG. Gastrointestinal function after surgical correction of Hirschsprung's disease: Long-term follow-up in 135 patients. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 1995;30(5):655-8.

84. Rescorla FJ, Morrison AM, Engles D, West KW, Grosfeld JL. Hirschsprung's disease. Evaluation of mortality and long-term function in 260 cases. Arch Surg. 1992;127(8):934-41; discussion 41-2.

85. Holschneider A. Hirschsprung's disease. New York: Thieme-Stratton; 1982.

86. Rintala RJ, Pakarinen MP. Long-term outcomes of Hirschsprung's disease. Seminars in Pediatric Surgery. 2012;21(4):336-43.

87. Karlsen RA, Hoel AT, Fosby MV, Ertresvåg K, Austrheim AI, Stensrud KJ, et al. Comparison of clinical outcomes after total transanal and laparoscopic assisted endorectal pull-through in patients with rectosigmoid Hirschsprung disease. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2022.

88. Diseth TH, Egeland T, Emblem R. Effects of anal invasive treatment and incontinence on mental health and psychosocial functioning of adolescents with Hirschsprung's disease and low anorectal anomalies. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 1998;33(3):468-75.

89. Le-Nguyen A, Righini-Grunder F, Piché N, Faure C, Aspirot A. Factors influencing the incidence of Hirschsprung associated enterocolitis (HAEC). Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2019;54(5):959-63.

90. Löf Granström A, Wester T. Mortality in Swedish patients with Hirschsprung disease. Pediatric surgery international. 2017;33.

91. Frykman PK, Short SS. Hirschsprung-associated enterocolitis: prevention and therapy. Semin Pediatr Surg. 2012;21(4):328-35.

92. Davidson JR, Kyrklund K, Eaton S, Pakarinen MP, Thompson DS, Cross K, et al. Longterm surgical and patient-reported outcomes of Hirschsprung Disease. J Pediatr Surg. 2021;56(9):1502-11.

93. Davidson JR, Kyrklund K, Eaton S, Pakarinen MP, Thompson DS, Cross K, et al. Sexual function, quality of life, and fertility in women who had surgery for neonatal Hirschsprung's disease. Br J Surg. 2021;108(2):e79-e80.

94. Cuschieri A. Descriptive epidemiology of isolated anal anomalies: a survey of 4.6 million births in Europe. Am J Med Genet. 2001;103(3):207-15.

95. Svenningsson A, Gunnarsdottir A, Wester T. Maternal risk factors and perinatal characteristics of anorectal malformations. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2018;53(11):2183-8.

96. Herman RS, Teitelbaum DH. Anorectal Malformations. Clinics in Perinatology. 2012;39(2):403-22.

97. Anderson RC, Reed SC. The likelihood of recurrence of congenital malformations. J Lancet. 1954;74(5):175-6.

98. Dworschak GC, Zwink N, Schmiedeke E, Mortazawi K, Märzheuser S, Reinshagen K, et al. Epidemiologic analysis of families with isolated anorectal malformations suggests high prevalence of autosomal dominant inheritance. Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases. 2017;12(1):180.

99. Hutson JM, Van Der Putte SC, Penington E, Kluth D, Fiegel H. The embryology of anorectal malformations. Anorectal malformations in children. Heidelberg: Springer; 2006. p. 49-63.

100. Mundt E, Bates MD. Genetics of Hirschsprung disease and anorectal malformations. Seminars in Pediatric Surgery. 2010;19(2):107-17.

101. Falcone RA, Levitt MA, Peña A, Bates M. Increased heritability of certain types of anorectal malformations. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2007;42(1):124-8.

102. Mo R, Kim JH, Zhang J, Chiang C, Hui C-c, Kim PCW. Anorectal Malformations Caused by Defects in Sonic Hedgehog Signaling. The American Journal of Pathology. 2001;159(2):765-74.

103. Suda H, Lee K-J, Semba K, Kyushima F, Ando T, Araki M, et al. The Skt gene, required for anorectal development, is a candidate for a molecular marker of the cloacal plate. Pediatric Surgery International. 2011;27(3):269-73.

104. Fairbanks TJ, De Langhe S, Sala FG, Warburton D, Anderson KD, Bellusci S, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 10 (Fgf10) invalidation results in anorectal malformation in mice. J Pediatr Surg. 2004;39(3):360-5; discussion -5.

105. Tai CC, Sala FG, Ford HR, Wang KS, Li C, Minoo P, et al. Wnt5a Knock-out Mouse as a New Model of Anorectal Malformation1. Journal of Surgical Research. 2009;156(2):278-82.

106. Haynes JH, Bagwell CE. Hirschprung's disease and imperforate anus in Pallister-Hall syndrome: a new association. J Pediatr Surg. 2003;38(9):1411-2.

107. Holschneider A, Hutson JM. Anorectal malformations in children. 1 ed. Heidelberg: Springer; 2006. 480 p.

108. Bonnot O, Vollset SE, Godet PF, d'Amato T, Dalery J, Robert E. [In utero exposure to benzodiazepine. Is there a risk for anal atresia with lorazepam?]. Encephale. 2003;29(6):553-9.

109. Hashimoto R, Nagaya M, Ishiguro Y, Inouye M, Aoyama H, Futaki S, et al.

Relationship of the fistulas to the rectum and genitourinary tract in mouse fetuses with high anorectal malformations induced by all-trans retinoic acid. Pediatr Surg Int. 2002;18(8):723-7.

110. Kapapa M, Becker N, Serra A. Risk factors for anorectal and associated malformations in German children: A 10-year analysis. Pediatrics & Neonatology. 2021;62(1):97-105.

111. Parnell AS, Correa A, Reece EA. Pre-pregnancy Obesity as a Modifier of Gestational Diabetes and Birth Defects Associations: A Systematic Review. Maternal and Child Health Journal. 2017;21(5):1105-20.

112. Cho S, Moore SP, Fangman T. One Hundred Three Consecutive Patients With Anorectal Malformations and Their Associated Anomalies. Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine. 2001;155(5):587-91.

113. Totonelli G, Catania VD, Morini F, Fusaro F, Mosiello G, Iacobelli BD, et al. VACTERL association in anorectal malformation: effect on the outcome. Pediatric Surgery International. 2015;31(9):805-8.

114. Mirshemirani A, Ghoroubi J, Mohsen R, Sina S, Jaefar K. Urogenital Tract Abnormalities Associated with Congenital Anorectal Malformations. Iranian Journal of Pediatrics. 2008;18.

115. Mittal A, Airon RK, Magu S, Rattan KN, Ratan SK. Associated anomalies with anorectal malformation (ARM). The Indian Journal of Pediatrics. 2004;71(6):509-14.

116. Sangkhathat S, Patrapinyokul S, Tadtayathikom K. Associated genitourinary tract anomalies in anorectal malformations: a thirteen year review. Journal of the Medical Association of Thailand = Chotmaihet thangphaet. 2002;85:289-96.

117. Kamal JS, Azhar AS. Congenital cardiac anomalies and imperforate anus: A hospital's experience. Journal of Cardiovascular Disease Research. 2013;4(1):34-6.

118. Shenoy N, Kumbhar V, Basu K, Biswas S, Shenoy Y, Tiwari C. Associated anomalies with anorectal malformations in the Eastern Indian Population. 2019.

119. Nah SA, Ong CCP, Lakshmi NK, Yap T-L, Jacobsen AS, Low Y. Anomalies associated with anorectal malformations according to the Krickenbeck anatomic classification. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2012;47(12):2273-8.

120. Tsuda T, Shimotake T, Aoi S, Kume Y, Deguchi E, Iwai N. Developmental study of tethered spinal cord in murine embryos with anorectal malformations. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2005;40(12):1927-30.

121. Currarino G, Coln D, Votteler T. Triad of anorectal, sacral, and presacral anomalies. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1981;137(2):395-8.

122. Gegg CA, Vollmer DG, Tullous MW, Kagan-Hallet KS. An unusual case of the complete Currarino triad: case report, discussion of the literature and the embryogenic implications. Neurosurgery. 1999;44(3):658-62.

123. Hong AR, Acua MF, Pea A, Chaves L, Rodriguez G. Urologic injuries associated with repair of anorectal malformations in male patients. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2002;37(3):339-44.

124. Halleran DR, Ahmad H, Bates DG, Vilanova-Sanchez A, Wood RJ, Levitt MA. A call to ARMs: Accurate identification of the anatomy of the rectourethral fistula in anorectal malformations. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2019;54(8):1708-10.

125. Strine AC, VanderBrink BA, Alam Z, Schulte M, Noh PH, DeFoor WR, et al. Clinical and urodynamic outcomes in children with anorectal malformation subtype of recto-bladder neck fistula. Journal of Pediatric Urology. 2017;13(4):376.e1-.e6.

126. Holschneider A, Hutson J, Peña A, Beket E, Chatterjee S, Coran A, et al. Preliminary report on the International Conference for the Development of Standards for the Treatment of Anorectal Malformations. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2005;40(10):1521-6.

127. Breech L. Gynecologic concerns in patients with anorectal malformations. Semin Pediatr Surg. 2010;19(2):139-45.

128. Ruiz J, Tessi C, Szklarz T, Vazquez M, Siffredi J, Imizcoz FL, et al. Long-term urological assessment and management of cloaca patients: A single tertiary institution experience. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2021;56(5):984-7.

129. Levitt MA, Peña A. Cloacal malformations: lessons learned from 490 cases. Seminars in Pediatric Surgery. 2010;19(2):128-38.

130. Peña A, Levitt M. Surgical management of cloacal malformations. Seminars in Neonatology. 2003;8(3):249-57.

131. Levitt MA, Peña A. Pitfalls in the management of newborn cloacas. Pediatr Surg Int. 2005;21(4):264-9.

132. Rollins MD, Russell K, Schall K, Zobell S, Castillo RF, Eldridge L, et al. Complete VACTERL evaluation is needed in newborns with rectoperineal fistula. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2014;49(1):95-8.

133. Levitt MA, Peña A. Anorectal malformations. Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases. 2007;2(1):33.

134. Bischoff A, Frischer J, Dickie BH, Peña A. Anorectal malformation without fistula: a defect with unique characteristics. Pediatr Surg Int. 2014;30(8):763-6.

135. Torres R, Levitt MA, Tovilla JM, Rodriguez G, Peña A. Anorectal malformations and Down's syndrome. J Pediatr Surg. 1998;33(2):194-7.

136. Black CT, Sherman JO. The association of low imperforate anus and Down's syndrome. J Pediatr Surg. 1989;24(1):92-4; Discussion 4.

137. Lane VA, Wood RJ, Reck C, Skerritt C, Levitt MA. Rectal atresia and anal stenosis: the difference in the operative technique for these two distinct congenital anorectal malformations. Tech Coloproctol. 2016;20(4):249-54.

138. Tanaka A, Miyasaka EA. Colonic and rectal atresia. Seminars in Pediatric Surgery. 2022;31(1):151143.

139. Rohrer L, Vial Y, Hanquinet S, Tenisch E, Alamo L. Imaging of anorectal malformations in utero. European Journal of Radiology. 2020;125:108859.

140. Cox SG, Numanoglu A, Millar AJW, Rode H. Colonic atresia: spectrum of presentation and pitfalls in management. A review of 14 cases. Pediatric Surgery International. 2005;21(10):813-8.

141. King SK, Krois W, Lacher M, Saadai P, Armon Y, Midrio P. Optimal management of the newborn with an anorectal malformation and evaluation of their continence potential. Seminars in Pediatric Surgery. 2020;29(6):150996.

142. Rintala RJ. Anorectal malformations—management and outcome. Seminars in Neonatology. 1996;1(3):219-30.

143. Shaul DB, Harrison EA. Classification of anorectal malformations--initial approach, diagnostic tests, and colostomy. Semin Pediatr Surg. 1997;6(4):187-95.

144. Peña A, Hong A. Advances in the management of anorectal malformations. The American Journal of Surgery. 2000;180(5):370-6.

145. Ralls M, Thompson BP, Adler B, Ma G, Bates DG, Kraus S, et al. Radiology of anorectal malformations: What does the surgeon need to know? Seminars in Pediatric Surgery. 2020;29(6):150997.

146. Reck-Burneo CA, Lane V, Bates DG, Hogan M, Thompson B, Gasior A, et al. The use of rotational fluoroscopy and 3-D reconstruction in the diagnosis and surgical planning for complex cloacal malformations. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2019;54(8):1590-4.

147. Halleran DR, Smith CA, Fuller MK, Durhm MM, Dickie B, Avansino JR, et al. Measure twice and cut once: Comparing endoscopy and 3D cloacagram for the common channel and

urethral measurements in patients with cloacal malformations. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2020;55(2):257-60.

148. van der Steeg HJJ, Schmiedeke E, Bagolan P, Broens P, Demirogullari B, Garcia– Vazquez A, et al. European consensus meeting of ARM-Net members concerning diagnosis and early management of newborns with anorectal malformations. Techniques in Coloproctology. 2015;19(3):181-5.

149. Youssef F, Arbash G, Puligandla PS, Baird RJ. Loop versus divided colostomy for the management of anorectal malformations: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Pediatr Surg. 2017;52(5):783-90.

150. Pena A, Migotto-Krieger M, Levitt MA. Colostomy in anorectal malformations: a procedure with serious but preventable complications. J Pediatr Surg. 2006;41(4):748-56; discussion -56.

151. Chan E, Rai R, Narasimhan KL, Jacobsen AS. High and intermediate anorectal malformation in males with perineal fistula: Beware of urethral involvement. Journal of Pediatric Urology. 2020;16:S8.

152. Levitt MA, Peña A. Outcomes from the correction of anorectal malformations. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2005;17(3):394-401.

153. Bischoff A, Levitt MA, Breech L, Louden E, Peña A. Hydrocolpos in cloacal malformations. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2010;45(6):1241-5.

154. Cahill JL, Christie DL. Results after posterior sagittal anorectoplasty: A new approach to high imperforate anus. The American Journal of Surgery. 1985;149(5):629-31.

155. deVries PA, Peña A. Posterior sagittal anorectoplasty. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 1982;17(5):638-43.

156. Bischoff A, De La Torre L, Peña A. 55 - Imperforate Anus. In: Wyllie R, Hyams JS, Kay M, editors. Pediatric Gastrointestinal and Liver Disease (Sixth Edition). Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2021. p. 573-80.e1.

157. Peña A, Levitt MA, Hong A, Midulla P. Surgical management of cloacal malformations: a review of 339 patients. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2004;39(3):470-9.
158. Pakarinen MP, Baillie C, Koivusalo A, Rintala RJ. Transanal endoscopic-assisted proctoplasty—a novel surgical approach for individual management of patients with imperforate anus without fistula. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2006;41(2):314-7.

159. Stevenson RJ, Sheldon C, Ildstad ST. Percutaneous transperineal pouch localization in low imperforate anus: A new approach. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 1990;25(2):273-5.

160. Rintala R, Lindahl H. Internal sphincter-saving posterior sagittal anorectoplasty for high and intermediate anorectal malformations - technical considerations. Pediatr Surg Int. 1995(10):345-9.

161. Fazio VW, Church JM, Delaney CP, Kiran RP. Current therapy in colon and rectal surgery. 3 ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2017. 518 p.

162. Belizon A, Levitt M, Shoshany G, Rodriguez G, Peña A. Rectal prolapse following posterior sagittal anorectoplasty for anorectal malformations. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2005;40(1):192-6.

163. Hartford L, Brisighelli G, Gabler T, Westgarth-Taylor C. Single-stage procedures for anorectal malformations: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2022;57(9):75-84.

164. Iwai N, Deguchi E, Kimura O, Kubota Y, Ono S, Shimadera S. Social quality of life for adult patients with anorectal malformations. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2007;42(2):313-7.
165. Rintala RJ, Pakarinen MP. Imperforate anus: long- and short-term outcome. Semin Pediatr Surg. 2008;17(2):79-89.

166. Konuma K, Ikawa H, Kohno M, Okamoto S, Masuyama H, Fukumoto H. Sexual problems in male patients older than 20 years with anorectal malformations. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2006;41(2):306-9.

167. Allin B, Bradnock T, Kenny S, Walker G, Knight M. NETS1HD: study protocol for development of a core outcome set for use in determining the overall success of Hirschsprung's disease treatment. Trials. 2016;17(1):577.

168. Williamson PR, Altman DG, Blazeby JM, Clarke M, Gargon E. The COMET (Core Outcome Measures in Effectiveness Trials) Initiative. Trials. 2011;12(1):A70.

169. Allin BSR, Bradnock T, Kenny S, Kurinczuk JJ, Walker G, Knight M. NETS(1HD) study: development of a Hirschsprung's disease core outcome set. Arch Dis Child. 2017;102(12):1143-51.

170. Bautista-Molano W, Navarro-Compán V, Landewé RBM, Boers M, Kirkham JJ, van der Heijde D. How well are the ASAS/OMERACT Core Outcome Sets for Ankylosing Spondylitis implemented in randomized clinical trials? A systematic literature review. Clinical Rheumatology. 2014;33(9):1313-22.

171. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ. 2021;372:n71.

172. Allin BS, Irvine A, Patni N, Knight M. Variability of outcome reporting in
Hirschsprung's Disease and gastroschisis: a systematic review. Sci Rep. 2016;6:38969.
173. Ouzzani M, Hammady H, Fedorowicz Z, Elmagarmid A. Rayyan—a web and mobile

app for systematic reviews. Systematic Reviews. 2016;5(1):210.

174. Boers M, Kirwan JR, Wells G, Beaton D, Gossec L, d'Agostino MA, et al. Developing core outcome measurement sets for clinical trials: OMERACT filter 2.0. J Clin Epidemiol. 2014;67(7):745-53.

175. Delgado-Miguel C, Camps JI. Robotic Soave pull-through procedure forHirschsprung's disease in children under 12-months: long-term outcomes. Pediatr Surg Int.2022;38(1):51-7.

176. Onishi S, Kaji T, Nakame K, Yamada K, Murakami M, Sugita K, et al. Optimal timing of definitive surgery for Hirschsprung's disease to achieve better long-term bowel function. Surg Today. 2022;52(1):92-7.

177. Davidson JR, Kyrklund K, Eaton S, Pakarinen MP, Thompson D, Blackburn SC, et al. Outcomes in Hirschsprung's disease with coexisting learning disability. Eur J Pediatr. 2021;180(12):3499-507.

178. Bapaye A, Dashatwar P, Biradar V, Biradar S, Pujari R. Initial experience with perrectal endoscopic myotomy for Hirschsprung's disease: medium and long term outcomes of the first case series of a novel third-space endoscopy procedure. Endoscopy. 2021;53(12):1256-60.

179. Pecoraro AR, Hunter CE, Bennett WE, Markel TA. Factors Affecting Higher Readmission Rates and Costs in Pediatric Patients With Hirschsprung Disease. J Surg Res. 2021;268:291-9.

180. Shankar G, Deepak JG, Jadhav V, Venkatesh K, Kini U, Ramesh S. Long-term outcomes in children with Hirschsprung's disease and transition zone bowel pull-through: impact of surgical techniques and role for conservative approach. Pediatr Surg Int. 2021;37(11):1555-61.

181. Svetanoff WJ, Lopez J, Aguayo P, Hendrickson RJ, Oyetunji TA, Rentea RM. The impact of botulinum injection for hospitalized children with Hirschsprung-associated enterocolitis. Pediatr Surg Int. 2021;37(10):1467-72.

182. Pini Prato A, Arnoldi R, Falconi I, Dusio MP, Ceccherini I, Tentori A, et al. Congenital anomalies of the kidney and urinary tract in a cohort of 280 consecutive patients with Hirschsprung disease. Pediatr Nephrol. 2021;36(10):3151-8.

183. Nasr A, Grandpierre V, Sullivan KJ, Wong CA, Benchimol EI. Long-term Outcomes of Patients Surgically Treated for Hirschsprung Disease. J Can Assoc Gastroenterol.
2021;4(5):201-6.

184. Arafa A, Mohamed W, Taher H, Ragab M, Abouelfadl MH. Laparoscopic-assisted transanal pull-through for hirschsprung's children older than 3 years: A case series. Afr J Paediatr Surg. 2021;18(4):210-4.

185. Li Q, Zhang Z, Xiao P, Ma Y, Yan Y, Jiang Q, et al. Surgical approach and functional outcome of redo pull-through for postoperative complications in Hirschsprung's disease. Pediatr Surg Int. 2021;37(10):1401-7.

186. Kastenberg ZJ, Taylor MA, Durham MM, Calkins CM, Rentea RM, Wood RJ, et al. Perioperative and long-term functional outcomes of neonatal versus delayed primary endorectal pull-through for children with Hirschsprung disease: A pediatric colorectal and pelvic learning consortium study. J Pediatr Surg. 2021;56(8):1465-9.

187. Rentea RM, Noel-MacDonnell JR, Bucher BT, Dorman MR, Lautz TB, Pruitt LCC, et al. Impact of Botulinum Toxin on Hirschsprung-Associated Enterocolitis After Primary Pull-Through. J Surg Res. 2021;261:95-104.

188. Peng C, Tan SS, Pang W, Wang Z, Wu D, Wang K, et al. Rectourethral and rectovesical fistula as serious and rare complications after Hirschsprung disease operation: Experience in seven patients. J Pediatr Surg. 2021;56(2):263-8.

189. Zbaida R, de Vos C, Sidler D. A comparison between primary endorectal pull-through and staged procedures for patients with Hirschsprung's disease. Journal of Neonatal Surgery. 2021;10:11.

190. Yuan Y, Xu M, Yang H, Sun B, Li Y, Zhang N, et al. The Efficacy of Biofeedback Therapy for the Treatment of Fecal Incontinence After Soave Procedure in Children for Hirschsprung's Disease. Front Pediatr. 2021;9:638120.

191. Telborn L, Tofft L, Kristensson Hallström I, Waldenvik F, Axelsson I, Stenström P. Diet plays a central role in parental self-treatment of children with Hirschsprung's disease-a qualitative study. Acta Paediatr. 2021;110(9):2610-7.

192. Loganathan AK, Mathew AS, Kurian JJ. Assessment of Quality of Life and Functional Outcomes of Operated Cases of Hirschsprung Disease in a Developing Country. Pediatr Gastroenterol Hepatol Nutr. 2021;24(2):145-53.

193. Apfeld JC, Wood RJ, Halleran DR, Deans KJ, Minneci PC, Cooper JN. Relationships Between Hospital and Surgeon Operative Volumes and Surgical Outcomes in Hirschsprung's Disease. J Surg Res. 2021;257:379-88.

194. Kim SH, Cho YH, Kim HY. Assessment of defecation function beyond infantile period for transanal single-stage endorectal pull-through in Hirschsprung disease. Ann Surg Treat Res. 2021;101(4):231-9.

195. Allin BSR, Opondo C, Bradnock TJ, Kenny SE, Kurinczuk JJ, Walker GM, et al. Outcomes at five to eight years of age for children with Hirschsprung's disease. Arch Dis Child. 2020;106(5):484-90. 196. Verkuijl SJ, Meinds RJ, van der Steeg AFW, van Gemert WG, de Blaauw I, Witvliet MJ, et al. Functional Outcomes After Surgery for Total Colonic, Long-Segment, Versus Rectosigmoid Segment Hirschsprung Disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2022;74(3):348-54.

197. Askarpour S, Peyvasteh M, Droodchi G, Javaherizadeh H. OBLIQUE VS. CIRCULAR ANASTOMOSIS IN THE CHILDREN UNDERWENT SOAVE'S PULL-THROUGH SURGERY FOR THE TREATMENT OF HIRSCHSPRUNG'S DISEASE: WHICH IS THE BEST? Arq Bras Cir Dig. 2021;33(3):e1545.

198. Youn JK, Yang HB, Ko D, Park KW, Jung SE, Kim HY. Comparison of long-term outcome according to involved aganglionic segments of total colonic aganglionosis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2021;100(40):e27432.

199. Yan J-Y, Peng C-H, Pang W-B, Chen Y-W, Ding C-L, Chen Y-J. Redo pull-through in total colonic aganglionosis due to residual aganglionosis: a single center's experience. Gastroenterology Report. 2020;9.

200. Gunadi, Ivana G, Mursalin DA, Pitaka RT, Zain MW, Puspitarani DA, et al. Functional outcomes of patients with short-segment Hirschsprung disease after transanal endorectal pull-through. BMC Gastroenterol. 2021;21(1):85.

201. Lin Z, Fang Y, Yan L, Lin Y, Liu M, Zhang B, et al. General versus general anaesthesia combined with caudal block in laparoscopic-assisted Soave pull-through of Hirschsprung disease: a retrospective study. BMC Anesthesiol. 2021;21(1):209.

202. Lin Z, Lin Y, Bai J, Wu D, Fang Y. Outcomes of preoperative anal dilatation for Hirschsprung disease. J Pediatr Surg. 2021;56(3):483-6.

203. Kabbash MM, Osman MA-A, Ahmed MY, Rabie M, Ibrahim MK. Comparison between Tran abdominal and trans anal one stage pull through in Hirschsprung disease. The Egyptian Journal of Hospital Medicine. 2021;84(1):2021-7.

204. Chen F, Wei X, Chen X, Xiang L, Feng J. Laparoscopic vs. Transabdominal Treatment for Overflow Fecal Incontinence Due to Residual Aganglionosis or Transition Zone Pathology in Hirschsprung's Disease Reoperation. Front Pediatr. 2021;9:600316.

205. Hoel A, Tofft L, Bjørnland K, Gjone H, Teig C, Oresland T, et al. Reaching adulthood with Hirschsprung`s disease: Patient experiences and recommendations for transitional care. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2020;56.

206. Liu Q, Ji C, Sun Y, Wan S, Yang H, Peng X, et al. Application of trinity new model home nursing in postoperative management of children with Hirschsprung's disease. Am J Transl Res. 2021;13(8):9152-9.

207. Roorda D, Oosterlaan J, van Heurn E, Derikx J. Intrasphincteric botulinum toxin injections for post-operative obstructive defecation problems in Hirschsprung disease: A retrospective observational study. J Pediatr Surg. 2021;56(8):1342-8.

208. Mohamed W, Elsawaf MI, Shalaby AI, Arafat AE, Marei MM, Aboulfadl MH, et al. Optimism for the Single-stage Transanal Swenson in Neonates. J Indian Assoc Pediatr Surg. 2021;26(1):16-22.

209. Gabriela GC, Geometri ET, Santoso GE, Athollah K, Fauzi AR, Hastuti J, et al. Longterm growth outcomes in children with Hirschsprung disease after definitive surgery: A cross-sectional study. Annals of Medicine and Surgery. 2020;59:176-9.

210. Fosby MV, Stensrud KJ, Bjørnland K. Bowel function after transanal endorectal pullthrough for Hirschsprung disease - does outcome improve over time? J Pediatr Surg. 2020;55(11):2375-8. 211. Ulugbek A. Khamroev BBERII. Clinical Features of Early Diagnosis and a Choice of Method of Surgery for Hirschsprung Disease in Infants. Indian Journal of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology. 2020;14(4):7724-36.

212. Watanabe T, Mori M, Shimizu T, Yamamoto Y, Tei E, Hirakawa H, et al. Intraluminal manipulator-assisted laparoscopic surgery for Hirschsprung disease. Journal of Pediatric Surgery Case Reports. 2020;61:101606.

213. Saysoo MR, Dewi FST, Gunadi. Quality of life of patients with Hirschsprung disease after Duhamel and Soave pull-through procedures: A mixed-methods sequential explanatory cohort study. Ann Med Surg (Lond). 2020;56:34-7.

214. Brooks LA, Fowler KL, Veras LV, Fu M, Gosain A. Resection margin histology may predict intermediate-term outcomes in children with rectosigmoid Hirschsprung disease. Pediatr Surg Int. 2020;36(8):875-82.

215. Granström AL, Cohn-Cedermark G, Wester T. The overall risk of malignancies is not increased in patients with Hirschsprung disease. Pediatr Surg Int. 2020;36(4):471-5.

216. Pruitt LCC, Skarda DE, Rollins MD, Bucher BT. Hirschsprung-associated enterocolitis in children treated at US children's hospitals. J Pediatr Surg. 2020;55(3):535-40.

217. Espeso L, Coutable A, Flaum V, Rebeuh J, Lavrand F, Podevin G, et al. Persistent Soiling Affects Quality of Life in Children With Hirschsprung's Disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2020;70(2):238-42.

218. Ali SR, I. Waheed, T. Imran, M. Abdullah, F. Amin, H. . Laproscopic assisted swenson pull-through for classic hirschsprung's disease with sigmoid colostomy: a single center experience. KMUJ. 2020;12(4):268-71.

219. Peters NJ, Menon P, Rao KLN, Samujh R. Modified Duhamel's Two-Staged Procedure for Hirschsprung's Disease: Further Modifications for Improved Outcomes. J Indian Assoc Pediatr Surg. 2020;25(5):269-75.

220. Svetanoff WJ, Dekonenko C, Osuchukwu O, Oyetunji TA, Aguayo P, Fraser JD, et al. Inpatient management of Hirschsprung's associated enterocolitis treatment: the benefits of standardized care. Pediatr Surg Int. 2020;36(12):1413-21.

221. Stenström P, Kyrklund K, Bräutigam M, Engstrand Lilja H, Juul Stensrud K, Löf Granström A, et al. Total colonic aganglionosis: multicentre study of surgical treatment and patient-reported outcomes up to adulthood. BJS Open. 2020;4(5):943-53.

222. Gunadi, Juwitasari T, Damayanti NNR, Kaniashari DS, Kencana SMS, Hastuti J. Growth outcomes in Hirschsprung disease patients following pull-through. Med J Malaysia. 2020;75(Suppl 1):28-31.

223. Dai Y, Zheng H, Liang H, Li R, Lan M, Zeng J. Parental Self-efficacy and Health-related Outcomes Among Children with Hirschsprung Disease: A Cross-sectional Study. J Pediatr Nurs. 2020;53:e164-e70.

224. Meng X, Wang J, Zhu T, Zhuansun D, Feng J. Long-term outcomes of single-incision laparoscopic technique in Soave procedure compared with heart-shaped anastomosis for Hirschsprung disease. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2020;35(6):1049-54.

225. Oh C, Youn JK, Han JW, Yang HB, Kim HY, Jung SE. The Patients with Hirschsprung's Disease Who Underwent Pull-Through at Age Less than 1 Year: Longitudinal Bowel Function. World J Surg. 2020;44(7):2426-39.

226. Mille E, Dariel A, Louis-Borrione C, Merrot T, Loundou A, Tosello B, et al. Quality of life and neuropsychological development at school age in Hirschsprung's disease. J Pediatr Surg. 2020;55(8):1481-7.

227. Quiroz HJ, Perez EA, Franklin KN, Willobee BA, Ferrantella AR, Parreco JP, et al. Pullthrough procedure in children with Hirschsprung disease: A nationwide analysis on postoperative outcomes. J Pediatr Surg. 2020;55(5):899-903.

228. Townley OG, Lindley RM, Cohen MC, Murthi GV. Functional outcome, quality of life, and 'failures' following pull-through surgery for hirschsprung's disease: A review of practice at a single-center. J Pediatr Surg. 2020;55(2):273-7.

229. Schlund D, Jochum SB, Favuzza J, Hayden DM, Pillai SB, Saclarides TJ, et al. A national analysis of operative treatment of adult patients with Hirschsprung's disease. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2020;35(1):169-72.

230. Tang J, Liu X, Ma T, Lv X, Jiang W, Zhang J, et al. Application of enhanced recovery after surgery during the perioperative period in infants with Hirschsprung's

disease - A multi-center randomized clinical trial. Clin Nutr. 2020;39(7):2062-9.

231. Pini Prato A, Arnoldi R, Dusio MP, Cimorelli A, Barbetta V, Felici E, et al. Totally robotic soave pull-through procedure for Hirschsprung's disease: lessons learned from 11 consecutive pediatric patients. Pediatr Surg Int. 2020;36(2):209-18.

232. Zhuansun D, Jiao C, Meng X, Xiao J, Feng J. Long-term outcomes of laparoscopeassisted heart-shaped anastomosis for children with hirschsprung disease: A 10-year review study. J Pediatr Surg. 2020;55(9):1824-8.

Zhu J, Zhang Y, Wang Y, Yu S, Chen Y, Guo Z, et al. Dysmorphic NeurofilamentPositive Ganglion Cells in the Myenteric Plexus at the Proximal Resection Margin Indicate
Worse Postoperative Prognosis in Hirschsprung's Disease. Pediatr Dev Pathol.
2020;23(3):222-9.

234. Halleran DR, Ahmad H, Maloof E, Paradiso M, Lehmkuhl H, Minneci PC, et al. Does Hirschsprung-Associated Enterocolitis Differ in Children With and Without Down Syndrome? J Surg Res. 2020;245:564-8.

235. Yan J, Chen Y, Ding C, Chen Y. Clinical Outcomes After Staged and Primary Laparotomy Soave Procedure for Total Colonic Aganglionosis: a Single-Center Experience from 2007 to 2017. J Gastrointest Surg. 2020;24(7):1673-81.

236. Zhang X, Li L, Li SL, Li SX, Wang XY, Tang ST. Primary laparoscopic endorectal pullthrough procedure with or without a postoperative rectal tube for hirschsprung disease: a multicenter perspective study. J Pediatr Surg. 2020;55(3):381-6.

237. Xu PP, Chang XP, Zhang X, Chi SQ, Cao GQ, Li S, et al. Transumbilical enterostomy for Hirschsprung's disease with a two-stage laparoscopy-assisted pull-through procedure. World J Gastroenterol. 2019;25(46):6781-9.

238. Elsherbeny M, Hay S. Obstructive complications after pull-through for Hirschsprung's disease: different causes and tailored management. Annals of Pediatric Surgery. 2019;15:2.
239. Adamou H, Amadou Magagi I, Habou O, Adakal O, Aboulaye MB, Robnodji A, et al.

Diagnosis and surgical approach of adult Hirschsprung's disease: About two observations and review of the literature. Case series. Ann Med Surg (Lond). 2019;48:59-64.

240. Youn JK, Han JW, Oh C, Kim SY, Jung SE, Kim HY. Botulinum toxin injection for internal anal sphincter achalasia after pull-through surgery in Hirschsprung disease. Medicine (Baltimore). 2019;98(45):e17855.

241. Roorda D, Surridge TJ, Visschers RGJ, Derikx JPM, van Heurn LWE. Redo surgery with longitudinal resection for dilated bowel in Hirschsprung disease: an illustrative case series. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2019;34(11):1983-7.

242. Hoff N, Wester T, Granström AL. Classification of short-term complications after transanal endorectal pullthrough for Hirschsprung's disease using the Clavien-Dindo-grading system. Pediatr Surg Int. 2019;35(11):1239-43.

243. Amin L, Skoglund C, Wester T, Granström AL. Swedish national population-based study shows an increased risk of depression among patients with Hirschsprung disease. Acta Paediatr. 2019;108(10):1867-70.

244. Berrios CD, Chakravarti A, Biesecker BB. High Levels of Interest in Reproductive Genetic Information in Parents of Children and Adults With Hirschsprung Disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2019;69(3):299-305.

245. Fusaro F, Morini F, Mutanen A, De Angelis P, Tambucci R, Capriati T, et al. Autologous Intestinal Reconstructive Surgery in the Management of Total Intestinal Aganglionosis. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2019;68(5):635-41.

246. Louis-Borrione C, Faure A, Garnier S, Guys JM, Merrot T, Héry G, et al. Neurostimulation-guided Anal Intrasphincteric Botulinum Toxin Injection in Children With Hirschsprung Disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2019;68(4):527-32.

247. Ashjaei B, Ghamari Khameneh A, Darban Hosseini Amirkhiz G, Nazeri N. Early oral feeding versus traditional feeding after transanal endorectal pull-through procedure in Hirschsprung's disease. Medicine (Baltimore). 2019;98(10):e14829.

248. Meinds RJ, van der Steeg AFW, Sloots CEJ, Witvliet MJ, de Blaauw I, van Gemert WG, et al. Long-term functional outcomes and quality of life in patients with Hirschsprung's disease. Br J Surg. 2019;106(4):499-507.

249. Gustafson E, Larsson T, Danielson J. Controlled outcome of Hirschsprung's disease beyond adolescence: a single center experience. Pediatr Surg Int. 2019;35(2):181-5.
250. Ghorbanpour M, Seyfrabie MA, Yousefi B. Early and long-term complications following transanal pull through Soave technique in infants with Hirschsprung's disease. Med Pharm Rep. 2019;92(4):382-6.

251. Askarpour S, Peyvasteh M, Imanipour MH, Javaherizadeh H, Hesam S. COMPLICATIONS AFTER TRANSABDOMINAL SOAVE'S PROCEDURE IN CHILDREN WITH HIRSCHSPRUNG'S DISEASE. Arq Bras Cir Dig. 2019;32(1):e1421.

252. Gupta DK, Khanna K, Sharma S. Experience with the Redo Pull-Through for Hirschsprung's Disease. J Indian Assoc Pediatr Surg. 2019;24(1):45-51.

253. Obata S, leiri S, Akiyama T, Urushihara N, Kawahara H, Kubota M, et al. The outcomes of transanal endorectal pull-through for Hirschsprung's disease according to the mucosectomy-commencing points: A study based on the results of a nationwide survey in Japan. J Pediatr Surg. 2019;54(12):2546-9.

254. Hedbys J, Hasserius J, Granéli C, Arnbjörnsson E, Hagelsteen K, Stenström P. Children with Hirschsprung's Disease and Syndromes with Cognitive Dysfunction: Manifestations, Treatment, and Outcomes. Surg J (N Y). 2019;5(3):e103-e9.

255. Sekioka A, Fukumoto K, Miyake H, Nakaya K, Nomura A, Yamada Y, et al. Unexpected gap between intraoperative caliber change of the intestine and normoganglia in patients with intestinal aganglionosis. Pediatr Surg Int. 2019;35(10):1115-21.

256. Freedman-Weiss MR, Chiu AS, Caty MG, Solomon DG. Delay in operation for Hirschsprung Disease is associated with decreased length of stay: a 5-Year NSQIP-Peds analysis. J Perinatol. 2019;39(8):1105-10.

257. Jiao C, Li D, Wang P, Zhuansun D, He Y, Feng J. Results of rectoanal manometry after a novel laparoscopic technique: laparoscope-assisted heart-shaped anastomosis for Hirschsprung's disease. Pediatr Surg Int. 2019;35(6):685-90. 258. Obata S, leiri S, Akiyama T, Urushihara N, Kawahara H, Kubota M, et al. Nationwide survey of outcome in patients with extensive aganglionosis in Japan. Pediatr Surg Int. 2019;35(5):547-50.

259. Drissi F, Meurette G, Baayen C, Wyart V, Cretolle C, Guinot A, et al. Long-term Outcome of Hirschsprung Disease: Impact on Quality of Life and Social Condition at Adult Age. Dis Colon Rectum. 2019;62(6):727-32.

260. Sola R, Jr., Poola AS, Memon R, Singh V, Hendrickson RJ, St Peter SD, et al. The relationship of eosinophilia with outcomes of Hirschsprung disease in children. Pediatr Surg Int. 2019;35(4):425-9.

261. Peng CH, Chen YJ, Pang WB, Zhang TC, Wang ZM, Wu DY, et al. STROBE-anastomotic leakage after pull-through procedure for Hirschsprung disease. Medicine (Baltimore). 2018;97(46):e13140.

262. Zheng Z, Zhang F, Jin Z, Gao M, Mao Y, Qu Y, et al. Transanal endorectal stepwise gradient muscular cuff cutting pull-through method: Technique refinements and comparison with laparoscopy-assisted procedures. Exp Ther Med. 2018;16(3):2144-51.

263. Gunadi, Karina SM, Dwihantoro A. Outcomes in patients with Hirschsprung disease following definitive surgery. BMC Res Notes. 2018;11(1):644.

264. Xi Z, Kong L-h, Chen Y. Long-term complications of modified Soave radical correction in the treatment of Hirschsprung's disease and its influences on life quality. Biomedical Research-tokyo. 2018;29:1979-82.

265. Widyasari A, Pavitasari WA, Dwihantoro A, Gunadi. Functional outcomes in Hirschsprung disease patients after transabdominal Soave and Duhamel procedures. BMC Gastroenterol. 2018;18(1):56.

266. Chung PHY, Wong KKY, Tam PKH, Leung MWY, Chao NSY, Liu KKW, et al. Are all patients with short segment Hirschsprung's disease equal? A retrospective multicenter study. Pediatr Surg Int. 2018;34(1):47-53.

267. Sood S, Lim R, Collins L, Trajanovska M, Hutson JM, Teague WJ, et al. The long-term quality of life outcomes in adolescents with Hirschsprung disease. J Pediatr Surg. 2018;53(12):2430-4.

268. Yokota K, Uchida H, Tainaka T, Tanaka Y, Shirota C, Hinoki A, et al. Single-stage laparoscopic transanal pull-through modified Swenson procedure without leaving a muscular cuff for short- and long-type Hirschsprung disease: a comparative study. Pediatr Surg Int. 2018;34(10):1105-10.

269. Neuvonen MI, Korpela K, Kyrklund K, Salonen A, de Vos W, Rintala RJ, et al. Intestinal Microbiota in Hirschsprung Disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2018;67(5):594-600.

270. Roorda D, Witvliet MJ, Wellens LM, Schulten DV, Sloots CEJ, de Blaauw I, et al. Longterm outcome and quality of life in patients with total colonic aganglionosis in the Netherlands. Colorectal Dis. 2018;20(8):719-26.

271. Miyano G, Takeda M, Koga H, Okawada M, Nakazawa-Tanaka N, Ishii J, et al. Hirschsprung's disease in the laparoscopic transanal pull-through era: implications of age at surgery and technical aspects. Pediatr Surg Int. 2018;34(2):183-8.

272. Huang WK, Li XL, Zhang J, Zhang SC. Prevalence, Risk Factors, and Prognosis of Postoperative Complications after Surgery for Hirschsprung Disease. J Gastrointest Surg. 2018;22(2):335-43.

273. Tran VQ, Mahler T, Bontems P, Truong DQ, Robert A, Goyens P, et al. Interest of Anorectal Manometry During Long-term Follow-up of Patients Operated on for Hirschsprung's Disease. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2018;24(1):70-8. 274. Zhang X, Cao GQ, Tang ST, Chang XP, Li S, Yang L, et al. Laparoscopic-assisted Duhamel procedure with ex-anal rectal transection for total colonic aganglionosis. J Pediatr Surg. 2018;53(3):531-6.

275. Zhang J, Ma T, Peng Y, Huang G, Liu F. A 5-year follow-up study of neonates with Hirschsprung's disease undergoing transanal Soave or Swenson surgery. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2017;11:1957-61.

276. Bjørnland K, Pakarinen MP, Stenstrøm P, Stensrud KJ, Neuvonen M, Granström AL, et al. A Nordic multicenter survey of long-term bowel function after transanal endorectal pull-through in 200 patients with rectosigmoid Hirschsprung disease. J Pediatr Surg. 2017;52(9):1458-64.

277. Neuvonen M, Kyrklund K, Taskinen S, Koivusalo A, Rintala RJ, Pakarinen MP. Lower urinary tract symptoms and sexual functions after endorectal pull-through for Hirschsprung disease: controlled long-term outcomes. J Pediatr Surg. 2017;52(8):1296-301.

278. Onishi S, Nakame K, Kaji T, Kawano M, Moriguchi T, Sugita K, et al. The bowel function and quality of life of Hirschsprung disease patients who have reached 18 years of age or older - the long-term outcomes after undergoing the transabdominal soave procedure. J Pediatr Surg. 2017;52(12):2001-5.

279. De la Torre L, Cogley K, Santos K, Morales O, Calisto J. The anal canal is the fine line between "fecal incontinence and colitis" after a pull-through for Hirschsprung disease. J Pediatr Surg. 2017;52(12):2011-7.

280. Collins L, Collis B, Trajanovska M, Khanal R, Hutson JM, Teague WJ, et al. Quality of life outcomes in children with Hirschsprung disease. J Pediatr Surg. 2017;52(12):2006-10.

281. Cheng S, Wang J, Pan W, Yan W, Shi J, Guan W, et al. Pathologically assessed grade of Hirschsprung-associated enterocolitis in resected colon in children with Hirschsprung's disease predicts postoperative bowel function. J Pediatr Surg. 2017;52(11):1776-81.

282. Hasserius J, Hedbys J, Graneli C, Hagelsteen K, Stenström P. Treatment and Patient Reported Outcome in Children with Hirschsprung Disease and Concomitant Congenital Heart Disease. Biomed Res Int. 2017;2017:1703483.

283. Granéli C, Dahlin E, Börjesson A, Arnbjörnsson E, Stenström P. Diagnosis, Symptoms, and Outcomes of Hirschsprung's Disease from the Perspective of Gender. Surg Res Pract. 2017;2017:9274940.

284. Bing X, Sun C, Wang Z, Su Y, Sun H, Wang L, et al. Transanal pullthrough Soave and Swenson techniques for pediatric patients with Hirschsprung disease. Medicine (Baltimore). 2017;96(10):e6209.

285. Yasui Y, Nishida S, Shironomae T, Satomi M, Kuwahara T, Kohno M. Surgical approach for fecal incontinence with a patulous anus after transanal pull-through for Hirschsprung disease. J Pediatr Surg. 2017;52(6):1070-5.

286. Lu C, Hou G, Liu C, Geng Q, Xu X, Zhang J, et al. Single-stage transanal endorectal pull-through procedure for correction of Hirschsprung disease in neonates and nonneonates: A multicenter study. J Pediatr Surg. 2017;52(7):1102-7.

287. Neuvonen MI, Kyrklund K, Rintala RJ, Pakarinen MP. Bowel Function and Quality of Life After Transanal Endorectal Pull-through for Hirschsprung Disease: Controlled Outcomes up to Adulthood. Ann Surg. 2017;265(3):622-9.

288. Church JT, Gadepalli SK, Talishinsky T, Teitelbaum DH, Jarboe MD. Ultrasound-guided intrasphincteric botulinum toxin injection relieves obstructive defecation due to Hirschsprung's disease and internal anal sphincter achalasia. J Pediatr Surg. 2017;52(1):74-8.

289. Thakkar HS, Bassett C, Hsu A, Manuele R, Kufeji D, Richards CA, et al. Functional outcomes in Hirschsprung disease: A single institution's 12-year experience. J Pediatr Surg. 2017;52(2):277-80.

290. Stenström P, Brautigam M, Borg H, Graneli C, Lilja HE, Wester T. Patient-reported Swedish nationwide outcomes of children and adolescents with total colonic aganglionosis. J Pediatr Surg. 2017;52(8):1302-7.

291. Tannuri AC, Ferreira MA, Mathias AL, Tannuri U. Long-term results of the Duhamel technique are superior to those of the transanal pullthrough: A study of fecal continence and quality of life. J Pediatr Surg. 2017;52(3):449-53.

292. Dingemans A, van der Steeg H, Rassouli-Kirchmeier R, Linssen MW, van Rooij I, de Blaauw I. Redo pull-through surgery in Hirschsprung disease: Short-term clinical outcome. J Pediatr Surg. 2017;52(9):1446-50.

293. Bischoff A, Frischer J, Knod JL, Dickie B, Levitt MA, Holder M, et al. Damaged anal canal as a cause of fecal incontinence after surgical repair for Hirschsprung disease - a preventable and under-reported complication. J Pediatr Surg. 2017;52(4):549-53.

294. Ghosh DN, Liu Y, Cass DT, Soundappan SSV. Transition zone pull-through in
Hirschsprung's disease: a tertiary hospital experience. ANZ J Surg. 2017;87(10):780-3.
295. Ladi-Seyedian SS, Sharifi-Rad L, Manouchehri N, Ashjaei B. A comparative study of

transcutaneous interferential electrical stimulation plus behavioral therapy and behavioral therapy alone on constipation in postoperative Hirschsprung disease children. J Pediatr Surg. 2017;52(1):177-83.

Adıgüzel Ü, Ağengin K, Kırıştıoğlu I, Doğruyol H. Transanal endorectal pull-through for Hirschsprung's disease: experience with 50 patients. Ir J Med Sci. 2017;186(2):433-7.
Taguchi T, Ieiri S, Miyoshi K, Kohashi K, Oda Y, Kubota A, et al. The incidence and outcome of allied disorders of Hirschsprung's disease in Japan: Results from a nationwide survey. Asian J Surg. 2017;40(1):29-34.

298. Lukac M, Antunović SS, Vujović D, Petronić I, Nikolić D, Radlović V, et al. Effectiveness of various surgical methods in treatment of Hirschsprung's disease in children. Vojnosanit Pregl. 2016;73(3):246-50.

299. Onishi S, Nakame K, Yamada K, Yamada W, Kawano T, Mukai M, et al. Long-term outcome of bowel function for 110 consecutive cases of Hirschsprung's disease: Comparison of the abdominal approach with transanal approach more than 30years in a single institution - is the transanal approach truly beneficial for bowel function? J Pediatr Surg. 2016;51(12):2010-4.

300. Kwendakwema N, Al-Dulaimi R, Presson AP, Zobell S, Stevens AM, Bucher BT, et al. Enterocolitis and bowel function in children with Hirschsprung disease and trisomy 21. J Pediatr Surg. 2016;51(12):2001-4.

301. Granström AL, Svenningsson A, Nordenskjöld A, Wester T. Population-based study shows that Hirschsprung disease does not have a negative impact on education and income. Acta Paediatr. 2016;105(12):1508-12.

302. Ouladsaiad M. How to manage a late diagnosed Hirschsprung's disease. Afr J Paediatr Surg. 2016;13(2):82-7.

303. Guerra J, Wayne C, Musambe T, Nasr A. Laparoscopic-assisted transanal pull-through (LATP) versus complete transanal pull-through (CTP) in the surgical management of Hirschsprung's disease. J Pediatr Surg. 2016;51(5):770-4.

304. Li Q, Li L, Jiang Q, Zhang Z, Xiao P. The mid-term outcomes of TRM-PIAS, proctocolectomy and ileoanal anastomosis for total colonic aganglionosis. Pediatr Surg Int. 2016;32(5):477-82.

305. Xia X, Li N, Wei J, Zhang W, Yu D, Zhu T, et al. Laparoscopy-assisted versus transabdominal reoperation in Hirschprung's disease for residual aganglionosis and transition zone pathology after transanal pull-through. J Pediatr Surg. 2016;51(4):577-81.
306. Xia X, Li N, Wei J, Zhang W, Yu D, Zhu T, et al. Single-incision laparoscopic versus conventional laparoscopic surgery for Hirschsprung's disease: A comparison of medium-term outcomes. J Pediatr Surg. 2016;51(3):440-3.

307. Nam SH, Cho MJ, Kim DY. One-stage laparoscopy-assisted endorectal pull-through for late presented Hirschsprung's disease-Case series. Int J Surg Case Rep. 2015;16:162-5.
308. Xiong X, Chen X, Wang G, Feng J. Long term quality of life in patients with Hirschsprung's disease who underwent heart-shaped anastomosis during childhood: A twenty-year follow-up in China. J Pediatr Surg. 2015;50(12):2044-7.

309. Miyano G, Koga H, Okawada M, Doi T, Sueyoshi R, Nakamura H, et al. Rectal mucosal dissection commencing directly on the anorectal line versus commencing above the dentate line in laparoscopy-assisted transanal pull-through for Hirschsprung's disease: Prospective medium-term follow-up. J Pediatr Surg. 2015;50(12):2041-3.

310. Aubdoollah TH, Li K, Zhang X, Li S, Yang L, Lei HY, et al. Clinical outcomes and ergonomics analysis of three laparoscopic techniques for Hirschsprung's disease. World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21(29):8903-11.

311. Khazdouz M, Sezavar M, Imani B, Akhavan H, Babapour A, Khademi G. Clinical outcome and bowel function after surgical treatment in Hirschsprung's disease. Afr J Paediatr Surg. 2015;12(2):143-7.

312. Granström AL, Danielson J, Husberg B, Nordenskjöld A, Wester T. Adult outcomes after surgery for Hirschsprung's disease: Evaluation of bowel function and quality of life. J Pediatr Surg. 2015;50(11):1865-9.

313. Amerstorfer EE, Fasching G, Till H, Huber-Zeyringer A, Höllwarth ME. Long-term results of total colonic agangliosis patients treated by preservation of the aganglionic right hemicolon and the ileo-cecal valve. Pediatr Surg Int. 2015;31(8):773-80.

314. Hukkinen M, Koivusalo A, Merras-Salmio L, Rintala RJ, Pakarinen MP. Postoperative outcome and survival in relation to small intestinal involvement of total colonic aganglionosis. J Pediatr Surg. 2015;50(11):1859-64.

315. Khalil M. Long-term health-related quality of life for patients with Hirschsprung's disease at 5 years after transanal endorectal pull-through operation. Qual Life Res. 2015;24(11):2733-8.

316. Stensrud KJ, Emblem R, Bjørnland K. Anal endosonography and bowel function in patients undergoing different types of endorectal pull-through procedures for Hirschsprung disease. J Pediatr Surg. 2015;50(8):1341-6.

317. Neuvonen MI, Kyrklund K, Lindahl HG, Koivusalo AI, Rintala RJ, Pakarinen MP. A population-based, complete follow-up of 146 consecutive patients after transanal mucosectomy for Hirschsprung disease. J Pediatr Surg. 2015;50(10):1653-8.

318. Wester T, Granström AL. Botulinum toxin is efficient to treat obstructive symptoms in children with Hirschsprung disease. Pediatr Surg Int. 2015;31(3):255-9.

319. Shrestha MK, Sherchan M, Dhoubhadel BK, Basnet RB. Early Experience With Single-Stage Transanal Endorectal Pull Through For Rectosigmoid Hirschsprung's Disease. Journal of Nepal Paediatric Society. 2015;34(3):188-94. 320. Yk S, P R, N T. Perils of total colonic aganglionosis presenting in neonatal age. J Neonatal Surg. 2014;3(3):28.

321. Sulkowski JP, Cooper JN, Congeni A, Pearson EG, Nwomeh BC, Doolin EJ, et al. Singlestage versus multi-stage pull-through for Hirschsprung's disease: practice trends and outcomes in infants. J Pediatr Surg. 2014;49(11):1619-25.

322. Yeh YT, Tsai HL, Chen CY, Wang JB, Chin TW, Wei CF, et al. Surgical outcomes of total colonic aganglionosis in children: a 26-year experience in a single institute. J Chin Med Assoc. 2014;77(10):519-23.

323. Ralls MW, Freeman JJ, Rabah R, Coran AG, Ehrlich PF, Hirschl RB, et al. Redo pullthrough for Hirschsprung disease: a single surgical group's experience. J Pediatr Surg. 2014;49(9):1394-9.

324. Han-Geurts IJ, Hendrix VC, de Blaauw I, Wijnen MH, van Heurn EL. Outcome after anal intrasphincteric Botox injection in children with surgically treated Hirschsprung disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2014;59(5):604-7.

325. Basson S, Charlesworth P, Healy C, Phelps S, Cleeve S. Botulinum toxin use in paediatric colorectal surgery. Pediatr Surg Int. 2014;30(8):833-8.

326. Mabula JB, Kayange NM, Manyama M, Chandika AB, Rambau PF, Chalya PL. Hirschsprung's disease in children: a five year experience at a university teaching hospital in northwestern Tanzania. BMC Res Notes. 2014;7:410.

327. Zhang JS, Li L, Hou WY, Liu SL, Diao M, Zhang J, et al. Transanal rectal mucosectomy and partial internal anal sphincterectomy for Hirschsprung's disease. J Pediatr Surg. 2014;49(5):831-4.

328. Nasr A, Haricharan RN, Gamarnik J, Langer JC. Transanal pullthrough for Hirschsprung disease: matched case-control comparison of Soave and Swenson techniques. J Pediatr Surg. 2014;49(5):774-6.

329. Spataru R. The use of mechanical suture in the treatment of Hirschsprung's disease: experience of 17 cases. Chirurgia (Bucur). 2014;109(2):208-12.

330. Mathur MK, Aggarwal SK, Ratan SK, Sinha SK. Laparoscopic-assisted transanal pullthrough for Hirschsprung's disease: Comparison between partial and near total laparoscopic mobilization of rectum. J Indian Assoc Pediatr Surg. 2014;19(2):70-5.

331. Hukkinen M, Koivusalo A, Rintala RJ, Pakarinen MP. Restorative proctocolectomy with J-pouch ileoanal anastomosis for total colonic aganglionosis among neonates and infants. J Pediatr Surg. 2014;49(4):570-4.

332. More K, Rao S, McMichael J, Minutillo C. Growth and developmental outcomes of infants with hirschsprung disease presenting in the neonatal period: a retrospective study. J Pediatr. 2014;165(1):73-7.e2.

333. Wang L, He Q, Jiang J, Li N. Long-term outcomes and quality of life after subtotal colectomy combined with modified Duhamel procedure for adult Hirschsprung's disease. Pediatr Surg Int. 2014;30(1):55-61.

334. Ksia A, Yengui H, Saad MB, Sahnoun L, Maazoun K, Rachida L, et al. Soave transanal one-stage endorectal pull-through in the treatment of Hirschsprung's disease of the child above two-year-old: a report of 20 cases. Afr J Paediatr Surg. 2013;10(4):362-6.

335. Granström AL, Husberg B, Nordenskjöld A, Svensson PJ, Wester T. Laparoscopicassisted pull-through for Hirschsprung's disease, a prospective repeated evaluation of functional outcome. J Pediatr Surg. 2013;48(12):2536-9. 336. Tang ST, Yang Y, Li SW, Cao GQ, Yang L, Huang X, et al. Single-incision laparoscopic versus conventional laparoscopic endorectal pull-through for Hirschsprung's disease: a comparison of short-term surgical results. J Pediatr Surg. 2013;48(9):1919-23.

337. van de Ven TJ, Sloots CE, Wijnen MH, Rassouli R, van Rooij I, Wijnen RM, et al.
Transanal endorectal pull-through for classic segment Hirschsprung's disease: with or
without laparoscopic mobilization of the rectosigmoid? J Pediatr Surg. 2013;48(9):1914-8.
338. Demirbag S, Tiryaki T, Purtuloglu T. Importance of anorectal manometry after

definitive surgery for Hirschsprung's disease in children. Afr J Paediatr Surg. 2013;10(1):1-4.
339. El-Sawaf M, Siddiqui S, Mahmoud M, Drongowski R, Teitelbaum DH. Probiotic prophylaxis after pullthrough for Hirschsprung disease to reduce incidence of enterocolitis: a prospective, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter trial. J Pediatr Surg. 2013;48(1):111-7.

340. Miyano G, Ochi T, Lane GJ, Okazaki T, Yamataka A. Factors affected by surgical technique when treating total colonic aganglionosis: laparoscopy-assisted versus open surgery. Pediatr Surg Int. 2013;29(4):349-52.

341. Zhu T, Feng J, Zhang W, Wei M, Yu D, Zhang X, et al. Subtotal colectomy with a single-incision laparoscopic surgery technique in children with long-segment Hirschsprung disease and allied disorders. Pediatr Surg Int. 2013;29(2):197-201.

342. Stensrud KJ, Emblem R, Bjørnland K. Late diagnosis of Hirschsprung disease--patient characteristics and results. J Pediatr Surg. 2012;47(10):1874-9.

343. Aworanti OM, McDowell DT, Martin IM, Hung J, Quinn F. Comparative review of functional outcomes post surgery for Hirschsprung's disease utilizing the paediatric incontinence and constipation scoring system. Pediatr Surg Int. 2012;28(11):1071-8.

344. Al-Jazaeri A, Al-Shanafey S, Zamakhshary M, Al-Jarbou W, Hajr E, Breakeit M, et al. The impact of variation in access to care on the management of Hirschsprung disease. J Pediatr Surg. 2012;47(5):952-5.

345. Yang L, Tang ST, Cao GQ, Yang Y, Li S, Li SW, et al. Transanal endorectal pull-through for Hirschsprung's disease using long cuff dissection and short V-shaped partially resected cuff anastomosis: early and late outcomes. Pediatr Surg Int. 2012;28(5):515-21.

346. Li N, Xiang L, Wu X, Yang J, Wei J, Feng J. A rapid lactate dehydrogenase histochemical method for the intraoperative assessment of Hirschsprung's disease. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2012;27(9):1175-80.

347. Zakaria OM. Bowel function and fecal continence after Soave's trans-anal endorectal pull-through for Hirschsprung's disease: a local experience. Updates Surg. 2012;64(2):113-8.
348. Kothari PR, Karkera PJ, Gupta AR, Gupta RK, Sandlas GR, Ranjan RR, et al. Single-stage Modified Duhamel procedure for Hirschsprung's disease : our experience. Afr J Paediatr Surg. 2012;9(1):13-6.

349. Sheng Q, Lv Z, Xiao X. Re-operation for Hirschsprung's disease: experience in 24 patients from China. Pediatr Surg Int. 2012;28(5):501-6.

350. Nah SA, de Coppi P, Kiely EM, Curry JI, Drake DP, Cross K, et al. Duhamel pull-through for Hirschsprung disease: a comparison of open and laparoscopic techniques. J Pediatr Surg. 2012;47(2):308-12.

351. Urushihara N, Fukumoto K, Fukuzawa H, Sugiyama A, Watanabe K, Mitsunaga M, et al. Outcome of laparoscopic modified Duhamel procedure with Z-shaped anastomosis for Hirschsprung's disease. Surg Endosc. 2012;26(5):1325-31.

352. Sharma S, Gupta DK. Hirschsprung's disease presenting beyond infancy: surgical options and postoperative outcome. Pediatr Surg Int. 2012;28(1):5-8.

353. Dagorno C, Pio L, Capri Y, Ali L, Giurgea I, Qoshe L, et al. Mowat Wilson syndrome and Hirschsprung disease: a retrospective study on functional outcomes. Pediatr Surg Int. 2020;36(11):1309-15.

354. Urla C, Lieber J, Obermayr F, Busch A, Schweizer R, Warmann SW, et al. Surgical treatment of children with total colonic aganglionosis: functional and metabolic long-term outcome. BMC Surgery. 2018;18(1):58.

355. Broch A, Trang H, Montalva L, Berrebi D, Dauger S, Bonnard A. Congenital central hypoventilation syndrome and Hirschsprung disease: A retrospective review of the French National Registry Center on 33 cases. J Pediatr Surg. 2019;54(11):2325-30.

356. Pini Prato A, Arnoldi R, Sgrò A, Felici E, Racca F, Nozza P, et al. Hirschsprung disease and Down syndrome: From the reappraisal of risk factors to the impact of surgery. J Pediatr Surg. 2019;54(9):1838-42.

357. World Health O. ICD-10 : international statistical classification of diseases and related health problems : tenth revision. 2nd ed ed. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004.

358. Fichtner-Feigl S, Sailer M, Höcht B, Thiede A. Development of a New Scoring System for the Evaluation of Incontinence and Constipation in Children. coloproctology. 2003;25(1):10-5.

359. Varni JW, Seid M, Kurtin PS. PedsQL 4.0: reliability and validity of the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory version 4.0 generic core scales in healthy and patient populations. Med Care. 2001;39(8):800-12.

360. Loening-Baucke V. Prevalence rates for constipation and faecal and urinary incontinence. Arch Dis Child. 2007;92(6):486-9.

361. Zimmer J, Tomuschat C, Puri P. Long-term results of transanal pull-through for
Hirschsprung's disease: a meta-analysis. Pediatric Surgery International. 2016;32(8):743-9.
362. Khoo AK, Askouni E, Basson S, Ng J, Cleeve S. How long will I have my ACE? The
natural history of the antegrade continence enema stoma in idiopathic constipation.
Pediatric Surgery International. 2017;33(11):1159-66.

## Appendices

Appendix 1: Systematic review search strategy – PubMed

Database: PubMed	
Date: 10/01/22	
Number	Term
1	"Hirschsprung's Disease"
2	"Hirschsprung Disease"
3	Hirschsprung*
4	recto-sigmoid
5	aganglionosis
6	colon* aganglionosis
7	#1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 OR #6
8	outcome
9	"quality of life"
10	"bowel function"
11	#8 OR #9 OR # 10
12	#7 AND #11

Author	Age at time	Clinician reported	outcomes			Patient reported outcomes			
(year)	of assessment (years)	COS	Outcome measure	Non-COS	Outcome measure	COS	Outcome measure	Non-COS	Outcome measure
Delgado- Miguel C (2022)	Median: 6.6	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Modified Wingspread system	Perineal rash	N/A
		Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Perioperative complications	Clavien- Dindo classification	Bowel function	Rome IV criteria		
		Permanent stoma	N/A						
		HAEC	Pastor scoring system						
Onishi S (2021)	At 5, 7 and 9	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Evacuation score from Japan Society of Ano-Rectal Malformation Study Group		
						Bowel function	Evacuation score from Japan Society of Ano-Rectal Malformation Study Group		

## Appendix 2: Outcomes collected and outcome measures used in all 188 studies

						Voluntary bowel movements	Evacuation score from Japan Society of Ano-Rectal Malformation Study Group	
Davidson	With	Death with	N/A	Perioperative	Review of	Faecal	Rintala bowel	
(2021)	difficulties: 20	Unplanned reoperation	N/A	complications	records	Bowel function	Rintala bowel function score	
	Without learning difficulties:	Permanent stoma	N/A			Voluntary bowel movements	Rintala bowel function score	
	28	HAEC	Review of records			Psychological stress	SF-36 PedsQL GIQLI	
						Urinary incontinence	Modified Dan PSS	
						Quality of Life	PedsQL GIQLI	
Bapaye A (2021)	Median: 5.4	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	
				Readmission	Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure	
Pecoraro AR	Median: 0.3	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A			
(2021)		HAEC	Review of records	Readmission	Review of records			

Shankar G	Mean: 5.2	Death with cause specified	N/A			Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure		
(2021)		Unplanned reoperation	N/A			Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
		HAEC	Review of records						
Svetanoff WJ (2021)	Median: 0.9	HAEC	Review of records						
Pini Prato A (2021)	Unspecified	Death with cause specified	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Wingspread system	Patients' and families' perspectives of symptoms	Modified Visick scoring system
		HAEC	Pastor scoring system						
Nasr A (2021)	Mean: 13.7	Death with cause specified	N/A			Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
Arafa A (2021)	Between 3- 7	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A			Perineal rash	N/A
		HAEC	Review of records	Perioperative complications	Review of records				

Li Q	Median:	Unplanned	N/A	Postoperative	N/A	Faecal	Subjective	
(2021)	5.1	reoperation		hospital stay		incontinence	measure	
		Permanent	N/A	Perioperative	Review of	Voluntary	Subjective	
		stoma		complications	records	bowel	measure	
						movements		
		HAEC	Review of			Urinary	Subjective	
			records			incontinence	measure	
Davidson	Median: 28	Death with	N/A	Perioperative	Clavein-	Faecal	Rintala bowel	
JR		cause specified		complications	Dindo	incontinence	function score	
(2021)					classification			
		Unplanned	N/A			Bowel	Gastro-	
		reoperation				function	intestinal	
		-					quality of life	
							index	
		Permanent	N/A			Voluntary	Rintala bowel	
		stoma				bowel	function score	
						movements		
		HAEC	Review of			Psychological	PedsQL	
			records			stress	GIQLI	
							SF-36	
							questionnaire	
						Urinary	Danish	
						incontinence	prostatic score	
						Quality of	PedsQL	
						life	GIQLI	
Kastenbe	Unspecified	Unplanned	N/A	Perioperative	Review of	Faecal	Subjective	
rg ZJ		reoperation		complications	records	incontinence	measure	

(2021)		HAEC	Review of records			Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure	
Rentea RM	Mean: 3.9	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A			
(2021)		HAEC	Review of records	Readmission	Review of records			
Peng C (2021)	Median: 11.1	Death with cause specified	N/A			Faecal incontinence	Rintala bowel function score	
		Unplanned reoperation	N/A			Bowel function	Rintala bowel function score	
						Voluntary bowel movements	Rintala bowel function score	
Zbaida R (2021)	Mean: 6	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Krickenbeck classification	
		Permanent stoma	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Bowel function	Krickenbeck classification	
						Voluntary bowel function	Krickenbeck classification	
Yuan Y (2021)	Mean: 8.1			Anorectal manometry	Anorectal manometry readings	Faecal incontinence	Rintala bowel function score	
						Bowel function	Rintala bowel function score	
						Voluntary bowel movements	Rintala bowel function score	

Telborn L (2021)	Median: 4.3			Growth and nutritional status	Subjective measure	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
Loganath an AK (2021)	Mean: 7	Death with cause specified	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Rintala bowel function score	Patients' and families' perspectives of symptoms	Family impact module
		Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Growth and nutritional status	Height and weight	Bowel function	Rintala bowel function score		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Rintala bowel function score		
						Psychological stress	PedsQL		
						Quality of life	PedsQL		
Apfeld JC (2021)	All younger than 2	Death with cause specified	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records				
		Unplanned reoperation	N/A						
		HAEC	Review of records						

Kim S-H (2021)	Mean: 6.3	Death with cause specified	N/A	Readmission	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Rintala bowel function score
		Unplanned	N/A			Bowel	Rintala bowel
		reoperation				function	function score
		HAEC	Review of			Voluntary	Rintala bowel
			records			bowel	function score
						movements	
Allin BSR	Median 6.8	Death with	N/A			Faecal	Subjective
(2020)		cause specified				incontinence	measure
		Unplanned	N/A			Bowel	Pediatric
		reoperation				function	incontinence/
							constipation
							scoring system
		Permanent	N/A			Voluntary	Subjective
		stoma				bowel	measure
						movements	
		HAEC	Review of			Psychological	PedsQL
			records			stress	
						Urinary	Subjective
						incontinence	measure
						Quality of	PedsQL
						life	
Verkuijl	Median: 17	Death with	N/A	Perioperative	Review of	Faecal	Rome IV
SJ		cause specified		complications	records	incontinence	criteria
(2022)		Unplanned	N/A			Bowel	Rome IV
		reoperation				function	criteria
		Permanent	N/A			Voluntary	Rome IV
		stoma				bowel	criteria
						movements	

		HAEC	Review of records			Psychological stress Quality of life	CHQ-CF87 WHOQOL-100 CHQ-CF87 WHOQOL-100		
Askarpou r S (2021)	Unspecified	Death with cause specified Unplanned	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay Perioperative	N/A Review of	Faecal incontinence Voluntary	Subjective measure Subjective	Perineal rash	N/A
(,		reoperation		complications	records	bowel movements	measure		
		HAEC	Review of records						
Youn JK (2021)	Median: 18.6	Death with cause specified	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure	Perineal rash	N/A
		Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Growth and nutritional status	Height and weight				
		Permanent stoma	N/A						
		HAEC	Review of records						
Yan J-Y (2020)	Mean: 8.4	Death with cause specified	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Rintala bowel function score	Perineal rash	N/A
		Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Growth and nutritional status	Height and weight	Bowel function	Rintala bowel function score		
		Permanent stoma	N/A			Voluntary bowel movements	Rintala bowel function score		

		HAEC	Review of records					
Gunadi IG	Median: 2.6	Death with cause specified	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Krickenbeck classification	
(2021)		HAEC	Review of records	Growth and nutritional status	Subjective measure	Bowel function	Krickenbeck classification	
						Voluntary bowel movements	Krickenbeck classification	
Lin Z (2021)	Mean: 0.4			Postoperative hospital stay	N/A			
				Perioperative complications	Review of records			
Lin Z (2021)	Mean: 0.5	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A			
L		HAEC	Review of records	Perioperative complications	Review of records			
Kabbash MM	Mean: 5.5	HAEC	Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	
(2021)				Perioperative complications	Review of records			
Chen F (2021)	Mean: 7.5	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Heikkinen defecation function score	
		Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Bowel function	Heikkinen defecation function score	

Hoel AT	Median: 29	HAEC	Review of records			Voluntary bowel movements Faecal	Heikkinen defecation function score Subjective		
(2021)						Voluntary bowel movements Psychological	Subjective measure Subjective		
Liu Q (2021)	Mean: 1.6	Death with cause specified	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	stress Faecal incontinence	measure Wexner scoring system	Perineal rash	N/A
						Bowel function	Wexner scoring system	Patients' and families' perspectives of symptoms	Self-rating Anxiety scale
						Voluntary bowel movements	Wexner scoring system		
						Psychological stress	PedsQL		
						Quality of life	PedsQL		
Roorda D (2021)	Median: 8	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure		
		Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Readmission	Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		

		HAEC	Review of records	Perioperative complications	Review of records				
Davidson JR	Median: 29					Sexual function	Erectile hardness score		
(2021)						Fertility	Subjective measure		
						Sexual quality of life	Sexual quality of life questionnaire		
Mohame d W (2021)	Median: 0.9	HAEC	Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure	Perineal rash	N/A
				Perioperative complications	Review of records				
Gabriela GC	Median: 6.4	Death with cause specified	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure		
(2020)		HAEC	Review of records	Growth and nutritional status	Height and weight	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
Fosby MV	Median: 8.1 then	Death with cause specified	N/A			Faecal incontinence	Krickenbeck classification		
(2020)	15.4	Permanent stoma	N/A			Bowel function	Krickenbeck classification		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Krickenbeck classification		
Khamroe v UA (2020)	Mean: 0.5	Unplanned reoperation	N/A			Faecal incontinence	Questionnaire for long-term results		

		HAEC	Review of records			Bowel function	Questionnaire for long-term results	
						Voluntary bowel movements	Questionnaire for long-term results	
Watanab e T	Median: 2.5	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A			
(2020)		Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records			
Saysoo MR (2020)	Aged over 6					Faecal incontinence	HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life questionnaire	
						Bowel function	HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life questionnaire	
						Voluntary bowel movements	HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life questionnaire	
						Psychological stress	HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life questionnaire	
						Quality of life	HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life questionnaire	

Brooks	At 1 and 2	Death with	N/A			Faecal	Rintala bowel	
(2020)		HAEC	Review of			Bowel	Rintala bowel	
			records			function	function score	
						Voluntary	Rintala bowel	
						bowel	function score	
						movements		
						Psychological	Rintala bowel	
						stress	function score	
						Quality of	Rintala bowel	
						life	function score	
Granstro	Median: 19			Cancer	Review of			
m AL				diagnosis	records			
(2020)								
Pruitt	Unspecified	Death with	N/A	Postoperative	N/A			
LCC		cause specified		hospital stay				
(2020)		Unplanned	N/A					
		reoperation						
		Permanent	N/A					
		stoma						
		HAEC	Review of					
			records					
Espeso L	Mean: 11	Death with	N/A	Perioperative	Review of	Faecal	Krickenbeck	
(2020)		cause specified		complications	records	incontinence	classification	
		HAEC	Review of	Growth and	Height and	Bowel	Krickenbeck	
			records	nutritional	weight	function	classification	
				status				

						Voluntary bowel movements Psychological	Krickenbeck classification HSCR/Anorectal		
						stress	malformation quality of life questionnaire		
						Urinary incontinence	HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life questionnaire		
						Quality of life	HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life questionnaire		
Ali S (2020)	Mean: 1.1			Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	Perineal rash	N/A
				Growth and nutritional status	Weight	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
Peters NJ (2020)	Mean: 7.7	Death with cause specified	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Clinical bowel function scoring system	Perineal rash	N/A
		HAEC	HD- associated EC score			Bowel function	Clinical bowel function scoring system		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Clinical bowel function scoring system		

						Psychological stress	Quality of life scoring criteria for children with faecal incontinence		
						Quality of life	Quality of life scoring criteria for children with faecal incontinence		
Svetanoff WJ	Unspecified	HAEC	Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A				
(2020)				Readmission	Review of records				
Stenstro m P	Median: 12	Death with cause specified	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Rintala bowel function score	Perineal rash	N/A
(2020)		Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Growth and nutritional status	Subjective measure	Bowel function	Rintala bowel function score		
		Permanent stoma	N/A			Voluntary bowel movements	Rintala bowel function score		
		HAEC	Review of records						
Gunadi (2020)	Unspecified	Death with cause specified	N/A	Growth and nutritional status	Height and weight				

Dai Y Me (2020) 3.8	Median: 3.8	Death with cause specified	N/A	Growth and nutritional status	Height and weight	Faecal incontinence	Holschneider incontinence score	Patients' and families' perspectives of symptoms	Parental self- efficacy in the managem ent of home care of children with HD or ARM
						Bowel function	Holschneider incontinence score		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Holschneider incontinence score		
						Psychological stress	PedsQL		
						Quality of life	PedsQL		
Meng X (2020)	Mean: 4.5	HAEC	Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Stooling survey from El-Sawaf et al.	Perineal rash	N/A
				Perioperative complications	Review of records	Bowel function	Stooling survey from El-Sawaf et al.		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Stooling survey from El-Sawaf et al.		

Oh C (2020)	Median: 6.23	Death with cause specified	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Krickenbeck classification		
		Unplanned	N/A			Bowel	Krickenbeck		
		reoperation				function	classification		
		HAEC	Review of			Voluntary	Krickenbeck		
			records			bowel	classification		
						movements			
Mille E	Mean: 10.3	HAEC	Review of	Postoperative	N/A	Faecal	Krickenbeck	Patients'	Adolescen
(2020)			records	hospital stay		incontinence	classification	and	ts' health
								families'	and
								perspectives	perceived
								of	health
								symptoms	and
									Kidscreen
									10
				Readmission	Review of	Bowel	Krickenbeck	Intelligence	Wechsler
					records	function	classification	-	Children's
									intelligenc
									e scale
				Growth and	Height and	Voluntary	Krickenbeck	Behaviour	Child
				nutritional	weight	bowel	classification		behaviour
				status		function			check list
						Psychological	Spielberg state-		
						stress	trait anxiety		
							inventory		
							questionnaire		
						Quality of	Adolescents'		
						life	health and		
							perceived		

							health and Kidscreen 10	
Quiroz HJ (2020)	Groups of <1, 1-6, 7-	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A			
	12 and 13- 18	Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Readmission	Review of records			
		HAEC	Review of records	Perioperative complications	Review of records			
Townley OG (2020)	Mean: 5.4	Unplanned reoperation	N/A			Faecal incontinence	Pediatric incontinence/ constipation scoring system	
		Permanent stoma	N/A			Bowel function	Pediatric incontinence/ constipation scoring system	
						Voluntary bowel movements	Pediatric incontinence/ constipation scoring system	
						Psychological stress	PedsQL	
						Quality of life	PedsQL	
Schlund D	Mean: 36	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A			
(2020)		Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Readmission	Review of records			

				Perioperative complications	Review of records				
Tang J (2020)	Mean: 0.4	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A				
				Perioperative complications	Review of records				
				Growth and nutritional status	Height and weight				
Pini Prato A	Median: 3.4	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Wingspread score	Perineal rash	N/A
(2020)		Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Perioperative complications					
		Permanent stoma	N/A						
		HAEC	Review of records						
Zhuansun D (2020)	Mean: 11.9	HAEC	Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Stooling survey from El-Sawaf et al.		
				Perioperative complications		Bowel function	Stooling survey from El-Sawaf et al.		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Stooling survey from El-Sawaf et al.		
						Psychological stress	Quality of life scoring criteria for children		

					·				
	[ !						with fecal		
	'						incontinence		
	'			1		Quality of	Quality of life		
	4 '	1		1		life	scoring criteria		
	4	1		1			for children		
	'	1		1	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		with fecal		
	<u> </u>	L					incontinence		
Zhu J	Between 3					Faecal	Krickenbeck		
(2020)	and 6			ļ		incontinence	classification		
	'			1		Bowel	Krickenbeck		
	'			1		function	classification		
	4					Voluntary	Krickenbeck		
	'	1		ļ		bowel	classification		
	<u> </u>	L				movements			
Halleran	Median:	Death with	N/A	Readmission	Review of				
DR	2.8	cause specified			records				
(2020)	'	HAEC	Review of	ľ					
	!		records	1					
Yan J	Mean: 4.9	Death with	N/A	Postoperative	N/A	Faecal	Rintala bowel	Perineal	N/A
(2020)	'	cause specified		hospital stay		incontinence	function score	rash	
	4	HAEC	Review of	Perioperative	Review of	Bowel	Rintala bowel		
	'	1	records	complications	records	function	function score		
	'			Growth and	Height and	Voluntary	Rintala bowel		
	'	1		nutritional	weight	bowel	function score		
	<u> </u>			status		movements			
Zhang X	Mean: 2	Unplanned	N/A	Postoperative	N/A	Faecal	Subjective	Perineal	N/A
(2020)	4	reoperation		hospital stay		incontinence	measure	rash	

		HAEC	2009 HAEC scoring system	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
Xu P-P (2019)	Mean: 0.5	HAEC	Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure	Visibility of scar	Manchest er Scar Scale
				Perioperative complications	Review of records				
Elsherbe ny M (2019)	Mean: 2	Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
		HAEC	Review of records						
Adamou H (2019)	21 and 22			Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
				Growth and nutritional status	Height and weight				
Youn JK (2019)	Median: 4.8			Growth and nutritional status	Weight	Faecal incontinence	Holschneider incontinence score		
				Anorectal manometry	Anorectal manometry readings	Bowel function	Wexner constipation score		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Wexner constipation score		

						Psychological stress Quality of life	Quality of life score for defecation Quality of life score for defecation		
Roorda D (2019)	Mean: 3.2	Death with cause specified Unplanned reoperation	N/A N/A	Readmission Perioperative complications	Review of records Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
Hoff N (2019)	Median: 0.2	Unplanned reoperation Permanent stoma HAEC	N/A N/A Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay Readmission Perioperative complications	N/A Review of records Review of records				
Amin L (2019)	Mean: 19	Death with cause specified	N/A			Psychological stress	Subjective measure		
Berrios CD (2019)	Mean: 38					Faecal incontinence Bowel	Rintala bowel function score Rintala bowel	Patients' and families' perspectives of symptoms	Illness Perceptio ns questionn aire
l '						function	function score		
						Voluntary bowel	Rintala bowel function score		
-----------------------------------	----------------	-------------------------------	-------------------	-----------------------------	-------------------	---------------------------------	--	--	
						Psychological stress	Psychological adaptation scale		
						Quality of life	Quality of life index		
Fusaro F (2019)	Median: 6.7	Death with cause specified	N/A						
		Unplanned reoperation	N/A						
		Permanent stoma	N/A						
		HAEC	Review of records						
Louis- Borrione C (2019)	Mean: 7.1	HAEC	Review of records	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Jorge-Wexner fecal incontinence score		
						Bowel function	Jorge-Wexner fecal incontinence score		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
Ashjaei B (2019)	Mean: 8.1	Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records				

Meinds R I	Median: 18	Unplanned	N/A	Perioperative	Review of	Faecal	Rome IV criteria		
(2019)		Permanent	Ν/Δ			Rowel	Defecation and	+	+
(2010)		stoma				function	faeral		/
		300110				Turrettori	incontinence		/
1							questionnaire		/
		HAEC	Review of			Voluntary	Rome IV		+
			records			bowel	criteria		/
						movements			
						Psychological	CHQ-CF87	1	
						stress	WHOQOL-100		
<b> </b> '			1			Quality of	CHQ-CF87		
						life	WHOQOL-100		
Gustafso	Mean: 37.8	Death with	N/A	Growth and	Height and	Faecal	Miller's	Sexual	Subjective
nE		cause specified		nutritional	weight	incontinence	incontinence	function	measure
(2019)				status			score		
		Permanent	N/A			Bowel	Miller's	Sexual	Subjective
·		stoma				function	incontinence	quality of	measure
·							score	life	
<b> </b> '				T		Voluntary	Miller's		
·						bowel	incontinence		
·						movements	score		
·		Γ	T	Т		Psychological	SF-36		Τ
·						stress	questionnaire		
·						Urinary	Subjective		
·						incontinence	measure		
·		Γ	T	Т		Quality of	SF-36	$\Box$	Τ
1						life	questionnaire		

Ghorban pour M	Mean: 0.3	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	
(2019)		HAEC	Review of	Perioperative	Review of	Voluntary	Subjective	
			records	complications	records	bowel	measure	
						movements		
Askarpou	Unspecified	Death with	N/A	Perioperative	Review of	Faecal	Holschneider	
r S		cause specified		complications	records	incontinence	incontinence	
(2019)							score	
		HAEC	Review of			Bowel	Holschneider	
			records			function	incontinence	
							score	
						Voluntary	Subjective	
						bowel	measure	
						movements		
Gupta DK	Mean: 3.6	Unplanned	N/A	Perioperative	Review of	Faecal	Subjective	
(2019)		reoperation		complications	records	incontinence	measure	
		Permanent	N/A			Voluntary	Subjective	
		stoma				bowel	measure	
						movements		
		HAEC	Review of					
			records					
Obata S	Unspecified	Death with	N/A	Perioperative	Review of	Faecal	Subjective	
(2019)		cause specified		complications	records	incontinence	measure	
		Unplanned	N/A			Voluntary	Subjective	
		reoperation				bowel	measure	
						movements		
		HAEC	Review of					
			records					

Hedbys J (2019)	Median: 7	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Rintala bowel function score	Perineal rash	N/A
		Permanent	N/A	Perioperative	Review of	Bowel	Rintala bowel		
		stoma		complications	records	function	function score		
						Voluntary	Rintala bowel		
						bowel	function score		
						movements			
Sekioka A	Mean: 0.1	Permanent	N/A						
(2019)		stoma							
Freedma	Mean: 0.1	Death with	N/A	Postoperative	N/A				
n-Weiss		cause specified		hospital stay					
MR		Unplanned	N/A	Readmission	Review of				
(2019)		reoperation			records				
				Perioperative	Review of				
				complications	records				
				Growth and	Weight				
				nutritional					
				status					
Jiao C	Mean: 1	HAEC	Review of	Perioperative	Review of	Faecal	Subjective		
(2019)			records	complications	records	incontinence	measure		
						Voluntary	Subjective		
						bowel	measure		
						movements			
Obata S	Unspecified	Death with	N/A						
(2019)		cause specified							
		Unplanned	N/A						
		reoperation							
		Permanent	N/A						
		stoma							

		HAEC	Review of						
			records						
Drissi F	Mean: 32	Permanent	N/A			Faecal	HSCR/Anorectal	Educational	Subjective
(2019)		stoma				incontinence	malformation	level and	measure
							quality of life	income	
							questionnaire		
						Bowel	HSCR/Anorectal		
						function	malformation		
							quality of life		
							questionnaire		
						Voluntary	HSCR/Anorectal		
						bowel	malformation		
						movements	quality of life		
							questionnaire		
						Psychological	HSCR/Anorectal		
						stress	malformation		
							quality of life		
							questionnaire		
						Urinary	HSCR/Anorectal		
						incontinence	malformation		
							quality of life		
							questionnaire		
						Quality of	HSCR/Anorectal		
						life	malformation		
							quality of life		
							questionnaire		
Sola R Jr	Unspecified	Death with	N/A	Readmission	Review of	Faecal	Subjective	Feeding	Subjective
(2019)		cause specified			records	incontinence	measure	issues	measure

		Unplanned reoperation HAEC	N/A Review of records	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
Zhu T (2019)	Less than 1	HAEC	Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay Perioperative complications	N/A Review of records	Faecal incontinence Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure Subjective measure		
Peng CH (2018)	Median: 6.8	Unplanned reoperation Permanent stoma	N/A N/A			Faecal incontinence Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure Subjective measure		
Zheng Z (2018)	Mean: 1.1	Death with cause specified HAEC	N/A Severity scoring system	Postoperative hospital stay Perioperative complications	N/A Review of records	Faecal incontinence Bowel function Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure Long term prognosis survey following pull- through Subjective measure	Perineal rash	N/A
Gunadi (2018)	Unspecified	HAEC	Delphi score system			Voluntary bowel movements	Krickenbeck classification		

Xi Z	Mean: 1.6					Faecal	HD anal	
(2018)						incontinence	function	
· · ·							criteria	
						Bowel	HD anal	
						function	function	
							criteria	
						Voluntary	HD anal	
						bowel	function	
						movements	criteria	
						Psychological	TACQOL scale	
						stress		
						Quality of	TACQOL scale	
						life		
Widyasar	Mean: 2.5			Perioperative	Review of	Faecal	Krickenbeck	
iА				complications	records	incontinence	classification	
(2018)				Growth and	Weight	Bowel	Krickenbeck	
				nutritional		function	classification	
				status				
						Voluntary	Krickenbeck	
						bowel	classification	ļ
						movements		
Chung	Median:	HAEC	Review of	Anorectal	Anorectal	Faecal	Rintala bowel	
PHY	4.3		records	manometry	manometry	incontinence	function score	ļ
(2018)					readings			
						Bowel	Rintala bowel	ļ
						function	function score	
						Voluntary	Rintala bowel	
						bowel	function score	
		1				movements		

Sood S (2018)	Median: 14.5	Permanent stoma	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Baylor continence scale	Patients' and families' perspectives of symptoms	Fecal incontine nce and constipati on quality of life questionn aire
		HAEC	Review of records			Bowel function	Baylor incontinence scale		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Cleveland clinic constipation scoring system		
						Psychological stress	PedsQL		
						Urinary incontinence	Vancouver symptom score		
						Quality of life	PedsQL		
Yokota K (2018)	Median: 3.8	HAEC	Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	Perineal rash	N/A
				Perioperative complications	Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
Neuvone n MI	Median: 12	Permanent stoma	N/A			Faecal incontinence	Rintala bowel function score		
(2018)		HAEC	Review of records			Bowel function	Rintala bowel function score		

						Voluntary bowel movements	Rintala bowel function score		
Roorda D (2018)	Median: 16.5	Death with cause specified	N/A			Faecal incontinence	HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life questionnaire		
		Unplanned reoperation	N/A			Bowel function	HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life questionnaire		
		Permanent stoma	N/A			Voluntary bowel movements	HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life questionnaire		
		HAEC	Review of records			Psychological stress	CHQ-CF87 WHOQOL-100		
						Urinary incontinence	HSCR/Anorectal malformation quality of life questionnaire		
						Quality of life	CHQ-CF87 WHOQOL-100		
Miyano G (2018)	At 1, 3, 5, 7 and 10	HAEC	Review of records	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Postoperative bowel function evaluation score	Perineal rash	N/A
						Bowel function	Postoperative bowel function		

							evaluation score		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Postoperative bowel function evaluation score		
Huang WK	Mean: 6.3	Death with cause specified	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure		
(2018)		HAEC	Review of records	Growth and nutritional status	Weight	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
Tran VQ (2018)	Mean: 16.1	HAEC	Review of records	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Wingspread score		
				Anorectal manometry	Anorectal manometry readings	Bowel function	Rome III criteria		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Rome III criteria		
Zhang X (2018)	Median: 5.2	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Holschneider incontinence score	Perineal rash	N/A
		Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Bowel function	Holschneider incontinence score		
		HAEC	Review of records	Growth and nutritional status	Height and weight	Voluntary bowel movements	Holschneider incontinence score		

Zhang J (2017)	At 0.25, 0.5, 2 and 5	HAEC	Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Rintala bowel function score		
				Perioperative	Review of	Bowel	Rintala bowel		
				complications	records	function	function score		
						Voluntary	Rintala bowel		
						bowel	function score		
						movements			
Lof Granstro m A (2017)	Median: 19	Death with cause specified	N/A						
Bjornland	Median:	Unplanned	N/A	Perioperative	Review of	Faecal	Rintala bowel		
К	9.5	reoperation		complications	records	incontinence	function score		
(2017)		Permanent	N/A			Bowel	Rintala bowel		
		stoma				function	function score		
		HAEC	Review of			Voluntary	Rintala bowel		
			records			bowel	function score		
						function			
Bradnock	Under 0.5	Death with	N/A						
TJ		cause specified							
(2017)		Unplanned	N/A						
		reoperation							
		Permanent	N/A						
		stoma	NI / A				Durit		E
Neuvone	Median: 18	Death with	N/A			Urinary	Danisn	Sexual	Erectile
(2017)		cause specified				incontinence	symptom score	Tunction	score
		Unplanned	N/A					Fertility	Subjective
		reoperation							measure

		Permanent stoma	N/A				Sexual quality of life	Subjective measure
		HAEC	Review of records					
Onishi S (2017)	Median: 25	Death with cause specified	N/A		Faecal incontinence	Evacuation score defined by Japan society of Ano- rectal malformation study group	Sexual function	Subjective measure
					Bowel function	Evacuation score defined by Japan society of Ano- rectal malformation study group	Fertility	Subjective measure
					Voluntary bowel movements	Evacuation score defined by Japan society of Ano- rectal malformation study group	Sexual quality of life	Subjective measure
					Urinary incontinence	Subjective measure		
					Quality of life	Subjective measure		

De la Torre L	Mean: 7					Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure		
(2017)						Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
Collins L (2017)	Mean: 6.4	Permanent stoma	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Baylor continence scale	Patients' and families' perspectives of symptoms	Fecal incontine nce and constipati on quality of life questionn aire
						Bowel function	Baylor continence scale		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Cleveland clinic constipation scoring system		
						Psychological stress	PedsQL		
						Urinary incontinence	Vancouver symptom score		
						Quality of life	PedsQL		
Cheng S (2017)	Median: 2.7	HAEC	HAEC grade system	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A				
				Readmission	Review of records				

				Perioperative complications	Review of records				
Hasserius J	Median: 7	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Rintala bowel function score	Perineal rash	N/A
(2017)		Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Bowel function	Rintala bowel function score		
		Permanent stoma	N/A			Voluntary bowel movements	Rintala bowel function score		
Graneli C (2017)	Median: 5	HAEC	Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Rintala bowel function score	Perineal rash	N/A
				Readmission	Review of records	Bowel function	Rintala bowel function score	Feeding issues	Subjective measure
				Perioperative complications	Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Rintala bowel function score		
Bing X (2017)	Mean: 3.5			Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Rintala bowel function score	Perineal rash	N/A
				Perioperative complications	Review of records	Bowel function	Rintala bowel function score		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Rintala bowel function score		
Yasui Y (2017)	Mean: 10.6			Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Evacuation score defined by Japan society of Ano- rectal		

							malformation		
							study group		
				Anorectal	Anorectal	Bowel	Evacuation		
				manometry	manometry	function	score defined		
					readings		by Japan		
							society of Ano-		
							rectal		
							malformation		
							study group		
						Voluntary	Evacuation		
						bowel	score defined		
						movements	by Japan		
							society of Ano-		
							rectal		
							malformation		
							study group		
Lu C	Mean: 0.3	HAEC	HAEC	Perioperative	Review of	Faecal	Pediatric	Perineal	N/A
(2017)			grading	complications	records	incontinence	incontinence/	rash	
			system				constipation		
							scoring system		
						Bowel	Pediatric		
						function	incontinence/		
							constipation		
							scoring system		
						Voluntary	Pediatric		
						bowel	incontinence/		
						movements	constipation		
							scoring system		
Neuvone	Median: 15	Permanent	N/A			Faecal	Rintala bowel	Patients'	PedsQL
n MI		stoma				incontinence	function score	and	

(2017)								families'	
								perspectives	
								of	
								symptoms	
		HAEC	Review of			Bowel	Rintala bowel		
			records			function	function score		
						Voluntary	Rintala bowel		
						bowel	function score		
						movements			
						Psychological	PedsQL		
						stress	GIQLI		
							SF-36		
							questionnaire		
						Quality of	PedsQL		
						life	GIQLI		
Church JT	Mean: 4.8	Unplanned	N/A	Perioperative	Review of	Voluntary	Subjective		
(2017)		reoperation		complications	records	bowel	measure		
						movements			
		HAEC	Review of						
			records						
Thakkar	Median: 6	Death with	N/A	Perioperative	Review of	Faecal	Rintala bowel	Feeding	Subjective
HS		cause specified		complications	records	incontinence	function score	issues	measure
(2017)		Unplanned	N/A	Anorectal	Anorectal	Bowel	Rintala bowel		
		reoperation		manometry	manometry	function	function score		
					readings				
		Permanent	N/A			Voluntary	Rintala bowel		
									1
		stoma				bowel	function score		
		stoma				bowel movements	function score		
		stoma HAEC	Review of			bowel movements	function score		

Stenstro	Median:	Unplanned	N/A	Postoperative	N/A	Faecal	Rintala bowel	Feeding	Subjective
m P	9.5	reoperation		hospital stay		incontinence	function score	issues	measure
(2017)		Permanent	N/A	Perioperative	Review of	Bowel	Rintala bowel		
		stoma		complications	records	function	function score		
		HAEC	Review of	Growth and	Height and	Voluntary	Rintala bowel		
			records	nutritional	weight	bowel	function score		
				status		movements			
Tannuri	Mean: 10.4					Faecal	Holschneider		
AC						incontinence	incontinence		
(2017)							score		
						Bowel	Holschneider		
						function	incontinence		
							score		
						Voluntary	Holschneider		
						bowel	incontinence		
						movements	score		
						Psychological	Assessment of		
						stress	quality of life in		
							children and		
							adolescents		
							with fecal		
							incontinence		
						Quality of	Assessment of		
						life	quality of life in		
							children and		
							adolescents		
							with fecal		
							incontinence		
Dingema	Median:	Unplanned	N/A	Perioperative	Review of	Faecal	Subjective		
ns A	6.7	reoperation		complications	records	incontinence	measure		

(2017)		Permanent stoma	N/A			Bowel function	Krickenbeck classification		
		HAEC	Review of records			Voluntary bowel movements	Krickenbeck classification		
Bischoff A	Mean: 6.1	Unplanned reoperation				Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure		
(2017)		Permanent stoma				Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
Ghosh DN (2017)	Median: 1.3	Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
		HAEC	Review of records						
Ladi- Seyedian SS	Mean: 7.2			Anorectal manometry	Anorectal manometry readings	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure		
(2017)						Bowel function	Rome III criteria		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Rome III criteria		
Adiguzel U	Median: 0.3	Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	Perineal rash	N/A
(2017)		Permanent stoma	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		

		HAEC	Review of records	Anorectal manometry	Anorectal manometry readings				
Taguchi T (2017)	Unspecified					Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure	Feeding issues	Subjective measure
Lukac M (2016)	Unspecified	Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records				
		HAEC	Review of records						
Onishi S (2016)	Median: 8.5	HAEC	Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Evacuation score defined by Japan Society of Ano- Rectal Malformation Study Group		
				Perioperative complications	Review of records	Bowel function	Evacuation score defined by Japan Society of Ano- Rectal Malformation Study Group		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Evacuation score defined by Japan Society of Ano- Rectal		

							Malformation Study Group		
Kwendak wema N (2016)	Median: 2.4	HAEC	Review of records	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
Granstro m AL (2016)	Median: 25							Educational level and income	Subjective measure
Ouladsai ad M (2016)	Mean: 6	HAEC	Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Pediatric incontinence/ constipation scoring system	Perineal rash	N/A
				Perioperative complications	Review of records	Bowel function	Pediatric incontinence/ constipation scoring system		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Pediatric incontinence/ constipation scoring system		
Guerra J (2016)	Mean: 0.3	HAEC	Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	Perineal rash	N/A
				Perioperative complications	Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
Li Q (2016)	Median: 3.5	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	Perineal rash	N/A

		Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
		HAEC	Review of records	Growth and nutritional status	Height and weight				
Xia X (2016)	Mean: 19.7	HAEC	Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	Perineal rash	N/A
				Perioperative complications	Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure	Visibility of scar	Subjective measure
Xia X (2016)	Mean: 4.8	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Stooling survey from El-Sawaf et al.	Visibility of scar	Subjective measure
		HAEC	Review of records	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Bowel function	Stooling survey from El-Sawaf et al.		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Stooling survey from El-Sawaf et al		
Nam SH (2015)	Median: 9.9			Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Krickenbeck classification		
				Perioperative complications	Review of records	Bowel function	Krickenbeck classification		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Krickenbeck classification		
Xiong X (2015)	Mean: 26.8					Faecal incontinence	Rintala bowel function score		

	ſ '					Bowel	Rintala bowel		· · · · ·
<b> </b> '	1					function	function score		<b>!</b>
<b> </b> '	1					Voluntary	Rintala bowel		· · · ·
<b> </b> '	1	1		1		bowel	function score		<b>!</b>
<b> </b> '	1	L				movements			′
<b> </b> '	1	ſ	T			Psychological	WHO QOL-		<b>/</b>
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1					stress	BREF		′
<b> </b> '	1	1		1		Quality of	WHO QOL-		/
L'	<u> </u>				<u> </u>	life	BREF		
Miyano G	Median: 7	HAEC	Review of	Perioperative	Review of	Faecal	Postoperative	Perineal	N/A
(2015)	1	1	records	complications	records	incontinence	fecal	rash	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1			1			continence		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1	ſ	T			Bowel	Postoperative		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1	1		1		function	fecal		'
<b> </b> '	1						continence		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1	1		,		Voluntary	Postoperative		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1	1		1		bowel	fecal		
Ĺ'	<b></b> '	1			<u> </u>	movements	continence	<u> </u>	
Aubdoola	Mean: 1	Death with	N/A	Postoperative	N/A	Faecal	Subjective	Perineal	N/A
h TH	1	cause specified		hospital stay		incontinence	measure	rash	
(2015)	1	HAEC	Review of	Perioperative	Review of	Voluntary	Subjective	Visibility of	Manchest
1	1	1	records	complications	records	bowel	measure	scar	er Scar
L'	I'	1			<u> </u>	movements			Scale
Khazdouz	Median:	HAEC	Review of			Faecal	Subjective		
М	5.5		records			incontinence	measure		
(2015)	1					Voluntary	Subjective		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1	1		1		bowel	measure		
1 '	1 '			,		movements			

Granstro m AL (2015)	Median: 28	Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Miller's incontinence score	
		Permanent stoma	N/A	Growth and nutritional status	Height and weight	Bowel function	Miller's incontinence score	
						Voluntary bowel movements	Miller's incontinence score	
						Psychological stress	SF-36 GIQLI	
						Urinary incontinence	Subjective measure	
						Quality of life	GIQLI	
Amerstor fer EE	Median: 13.5	Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Rintala bowel function score	
(2015)		HAEC	Review of records	Growth and nutritional status	Height and weight	Bowel function	Rintala bowel function score	
						Voluntary bowel movements	Rintala bowel function score	
						Psychological stress	Quality of life scoring criteria for children with fecal incontinence	
						Quality of life	Quality of life scoring criteria	

							for children with fecal incontinence		
Hukkinen M	Mean: 6.8	Death with cause specified	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	Feeding issues	Subjective measure
(2015)		Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Growth and nutritional status	Height and weight	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
		Permanent stoma	N/A						
		HAEC	Review of records						
Khalil M (2015)	Mean: 5.9			Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure		
				Growth and nutritional status	Height and weight	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
						Psychological stress	PedsQL		
						Quality of life	PedsQL		
Stensrud KJ (2015)	Median: 8.8			Anorectal manometry	Anorectal manometry readings	Faecal incontinence	Krickenbeck classification		
						Bowel function	Krickenbeck classification		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Krickenbeck classification		

Neuvone n MI	Mean: 15	Death with cause specified	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Miller's incontinence	Feeding issues	Subjective measure
(2015)		Unplanned	N/A	Growth and	Height and	Bowel	score Miller's		
		reoperation		nutritional	weight	function	incontinence		
				status			score		
		Permanent	N/A			Voluntary	Miller's		
		stoma				bowel	incontinence		
						movements	score		
		HAEC	Review of records						
Wester T	Mean: 6.8	Unplanned	N/A			Faecal	Subjective	Feeding	Subjective
(2015)		reoperation				incontinence	measure	issues	measure
		Permanent	N/A			Voluntary	Subjective		
		stoma				bowel	measure		
						movements			
		HAEC	Review of records						
Shrestha	Mean: 3	Unplanned	N/A	Perioperative	Review of	Faecal	Subjective	Perineal	N/A
MK		reoperation		complications	records	incontinence	measure	rash	
(2014)		Permanent	N/A			Voluntary	Subjective		
		stoma				bowel	measure		
						movements			
		HAEC	Review of						
			records		-				
YK S	Mean: 0.03	Death with	N/A	Perioperative	Review of				
(2014)		cause specified		complications	records				
		Unplanned	N/A						
		reoperation							

		Permanent stoma	N/A						
		HAEC	Review of records						
Sulkowsk i JP	Mean: 2	Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Readmission	Review of records				
(2014)		HAEC	Review of records	Perioperative complications	Review of records				
Yeh YT (2014)	Median: 9	Death with cause specified	N/A	Growth and nutritional status	Height and weight	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	Perineal rash	N/A
		Unplanned reoperation	N/A			Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure	Feeding issues	Subjective measure
		Permanent stoma	N/A						
		HAEC	Review of record						
Ralls MW (2014)	Mean: 18.7	Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Stooling survey from El-Sawaf et al.		
		Permanent stoma	N/A			Bowel function	Stooling survey from El-Sawaf et al.		
		HAEC	Review of records			Voluntary bowel movements	Stooling survey from El-Sawaf et al.		
Han- Geurts IJ	Median: 7.3	Unplanned reoperation	N/A			Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure		

(2014)		HAEC	Review of records			Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
Basson S (2014)	Median: 10.8	Unplanned reoperation	N/A			Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
		Permanent stoma	N/A						
Mabula JB	Median: 0.7	Death with cause specified	N/A	Urinary tract infection	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	Perineal rash	N/A
(2014)		Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records				
		Permanent stoma	N/A						
Zhang JS	Median:	HAEC	Review of	Perioperative	Review of	Faecal	Subiective		
(2014)	12.2		records	complications Anorectal manometry	records Anorectal manometry	incontinence Voluntary bowel	measure Subjective measure		
(2014) Nasr A (2014)	12.2 Mean: 3	HAEC	Review of records	complications Anorectal manometry Postoperative hospital stay Perioperative complications	records Anorectal manometry readings N/A Review of records	incontinence Voluntary bowel movements Faecal incontinence Voluntary bowel movements	measure Subjective measure Subjective measure Subjective measure	Perineal rash	N/A
(2014) Nasr A (2014) Spataru R (2014)	12.2 Mean: 3 Mean: 3.1	HAEC	Review of records	complications Anorectal manometry Postoperative hospital stay Perioperative complications Postoperative hospital stay Perioperative	records Anorectal manometry readings N/A Review of records N/A Review of	incontinence Voluntary bowel movements Faecal incontinence Voluntary bowel movements Faecal incontinence	measure Subjective measure Subjective measure Subjective measure Subjective measure	Perineal rash	N/A

Mathur MK	At 0.1 and 0.3			Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	Perineal rash	N/A
(2014)				Perioperative complications	Review of records				
Hukkinen M (2014)	Median: 3.2	HAEC	Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Miller's incontinence score	Perineal rash	N/A
				Readmission	Review of records	Bowel function	Miller's incontinence score	Feeding issues	Subjective measure
				Perioperative complications	Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Miller's incontinence score	Visibility of scar	Subjective measure
						Urinary incontinence	Subjective measure		
More K (2014)	Mean: 1	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A			Intelligence	Griffiths Mental Developm ent Scale
		HAEC	Review of records	Perioperative complications	Review of records			Behaviour	Ages and Stages Question naire
				Growth and nutritional status	Height and weight				
Wang L (2014)	Mean: 22	Death with cause specified	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Rintala bowel function score	Sexual function	Subjective measure

						Bowel function	Rintala bowel function score	Sexual quality of life	Subjective measure
						Voluntary bowel function	Wexner constipation score		
						Psychological stress	GI quality of life index		
						Quality of life	GI quality of life index		
Ksia A (2013)	Unspecified	HAEC	Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Holschneider incontinence score	Perineal rash	N/A
				Perioperative complications	Review of records	Bowel function	Holschneider incontinence score		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Holschneider incontinence score		
Granstro m AL	Mean: 7.4	HAEC	Review of records	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure		
(2013)						Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
Levitt MA (2013)	Unspecified	Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Readmission	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	Sexual function	Subjective measure
		Permanent stoma	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		

		HAEC	Review of records						
Tang ST (2013)	Mean: 0.25	HAEC	Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure	Perineal rash	N/A
				Perioperative complications	Review of records				
Van de Ven TJ (2013)	Median: 4.2	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
		Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records				
		HAEC	Review of records						
Demirbag S (2013)	Mean: 3.5	HAEC	Review of records	Anorectal manometry	Anorectal manometry readings	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	Perineal rash	N/A
						Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
El-Sawaf M	At 0.1, 0.25, 0.5	Death with cause specified	N/A						
(2013)	and 1	HAEC	El Halabi criteria						
Miyano G (2013)	Mean: 11.6	Death with cause specified	N/A	Readmission	Review of records			Visibility of scar	Subjective measure
		Unplanned	N/A	Perioperative	Review of				

		HAEC	Review of records						
Zhu T (2013)	Mean: 2.6	HAEC	Review of records	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	Perineal rash	N/A
						Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure	Visibility of scar	Subjective measure
Stensrud KJ	Mean: 8.5	Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Krickenbeck classification		
(2012)		Permanent stoma	N/A			Bowel function	Krickenbeck classification		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Krickenbeck classification		
						Psychological stress	Subjective measure		
Aworanti OM (2012)	Mean: 4.6	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Pediatric incontinence/ constipation scoring system		
		Permanent stoma	N/A			Bowel function	Pediatric incontinence/ constipation scoring system		
		HAEC	Review of records			Voluntary bowel movements	Pediatric incontinence/ constipation scoring system		

Al-Jazaeri A	Mean: 0.6	Death with cause specified	N/A						
(2012)		Unplanned reoperation	N/A						
		Permanent stoma	N/A						
Yang L (2012)	Mean: 4.7	HAEC	Teitelbaum and Coran criteria	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Wingspread score	Perineal rash	N/A
				Perioperative complications	Review of records	Bowel function	Rome II criteria		
						Voluntary bowel movements	Rome II criteria		
						Urinary incontinence	Subjective measure		
Li N (2012)	Mean: 2.8					Bowel function	Kohno's rating scale		
Zakaria OM	Mean: 1.9	HAEC	Review of records	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Wingspread score	Perineal rash	N/A
(2012)				Perioperative complications	Review of records	Bowel function	Wingspread score		
				Anorectal manometry	Anorectal manometry readings	Voluntary bowel movements	Wingspread score		
Kothari PR	Mean: 3.8	Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure		

(2012)		HAEC	Review of records	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure	
				Growth and nutritional status	Height and weight			
Sheng Q (2012)	Mean: 2.5	Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Anorectal manometry	Anorectal manometry readings	Faecal incontinence	Krickenbeck classification	
		HAEC	Review of records			Bowel function	Krickenbeck classification	
						Voluntary bowel movements	Krickenbeck classification	
Nah SA (2012)	Median: 6.8	Death with cause specified	N/A	Postoperative hospital stay	N/A	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	
		Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure	
		Permanent stoma	N/A					
		HAEC	Review of records					
Urushiha ra N	Mean: 5.6	Death with cause specified	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	
(2012)		Unplanned reoperation	N/A			Voluntary bowel	Subjective measure	

		HAEC	Review of records			Urinary incontinence	Subjective measure		
Sharma S (2012)	Mean: 4.6			Perioperative complications	Review of records				
Dagorno C	Mean: 8.5	Death with cause specified	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Subjective measure	Perineal rash	N/A
(2020)		Unplanned reoperation	N/A			Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure	Feeding issues	Subjective measure
		Permanent stoma	N/A						
		HAEC	Review of records						
Urla C (2018)	Median: 7	Death with cause specified	N/A	Perioperative complications	Review of records	Faecal incontinence	Wildhaber score	Perineal rash	N/A
		Unplanned reoperation	N/A	Growth and nutritional status	Height and weight	Bowel function	Wildhaber score		
		Permanent stoma	N/A			Voluntary bowel movements	Wildhaber score		
						Psychological stress	Barrena scoring system		
						Quality of life	Barrena scoring system		

Broch A (2019)	Median: 15	Death with	N/A			Faecal	Subjective		
(2013)		Unplanned reoperation	N/A			Voluntary bowel movements	Subjective measure		
		Permanent stoma	N/A						
Pini Prato ∆	Median: 7	Death with	N/A	Perioperative	Review of	Faecal	Wingspread	Perineal rash	N/A
(2019)		Unplanned reoperation	N/A			meontinence			
		Permanent stoma	N/A						
		HAEC	El Halabi criteria						

# Long term outcomes for patients with Hirschsprung's Disease and Anorectal Malformations Information for Parents

We are inviting you to take part in a study looking at the long-term effects of your child being born with an Anorectal Malformation or Hirschsprung's Disease. This leaflet provides information about what the study involves and the reasons for performing the study. Please take your time to think about this and if you have any questions or would like any further information before deciding whether to participate then please ask us. It is worthwhile spending some time to think about whether you would like to take part and it can be helpful to discuss this with others.

## What is the purpose of the study?

We know that people with Anorectal Malformations and Hirschsprung's Disease can develop a range of problems with their bowels in both the short and the long term. We hope to be able to better determine the factors that may lead to more problems and assess the effect of these bowel problems on people's quality of life. This will help us to better inform others of what they may be able to expect in the future and will help to guide the management of people born with Anorectal Malformations and Hirschsprung's Disease. This study complements the NETS<sup>2HD</sup> study which you may be aware of. This was a national study looking at all children born with Hirschsprung's Disease in 2010-2012. This study uses the same questionnaires but in addition to NETS<sup>2HD</sup>, will be asking older children and adults about their experiences too. If your child was a part of the NETS<sup>2HD</sup> study, you will not be sent questionnaires before they are 9 years old.

### Why have I been chosen?

As someone whose child has been born with an Anorectal Malformation or Hirschsprung's, your input and experience is very important. You and your child have individual experiences of what has happened and therefore your input is very important.

### What will be involved?

If you agree to take part in the study you will be given questionnaires to complete. You will be given the age-appropriate questionnaires at the point that your child enters the study and then subsequent questionnaires at two further time points, 5 and 10 years after the first questionnaire. The questionnaires will take approximately an hour to complete and will cover questions on quality of life and bowel function. We will collect background information about your child including the age and type of operation that they have had and subsequent treatments that they have required.

### Do we have to take part?

No, it is completely up to you and your child as to whether you take part. You or your child can also opt-out of the study at any point and your child's care will not be affected by either of these situations.


# Parent Information Leaflet and Consent v4 05/10/2021 IRAS: 219338

## What will happen to us if we do decide to take part?

If you do decide to take part you will be taken through a consent form, and so will your child if they are old enough. You will be given the questionnaires to complete with your child either in hospital or at home and post or email back to us. The research nurse will be available for any questions that you may have. There will be the opportunity to discuss any concerns or questions with your clinical team at an outpatient appointment or over the telephone. Future questionnaires will be posted or emailed out to you depending on your preference.

## What are the possible disadvantages or risks of taking part?

You may find some of the questions difficult to answer or that they may bring up memories that are hard to deal with. We are on-hand to discuss this with you and if you feel that your child needs to talk to a psychologist then we will refer you to that service.

## What are the potential benefits of taking part?

There will be no direct benefit to you or your child in taking part, however we will be asking people who are now adults themselves who have had an Anorectal Malformation or Hirschsprung's Disease the same questionnaires (age appropriate) and their participation may give us further knowledge that will be useful for you and your child.

## Will my participation in the study be kept confidential?

Yes, your child's name will not be disclosed outside of the hospital.

### What will happen to the results of the study?

We will publish the results of this work in medical and scientific journals. If you would like to know the results please inform us.

## Who is organising and funding the research?

This study is being organised and led by Mr Baillie, Mr Kenny and Miss Almond at Alder Hey Children's Hospital. They are not being paid for running this study. The study will be funded by the Alder Hey Paediatric Surgery Charity.

### Who has reviewed the study?

This study has been reviewed by the Research Review Committee at Alder Hey Hospital and the Liverpool Research Ethics Committee.

### What will happen to data about my child?

Alder Hey Children's Hospital is the sponsor for this study based in the United Kingdom. We will be using information from you, your child and their medical records in order to undertake this study and will act as the data controller for this study. This means that we are responsible for looking after your information and using it properly. Alder Hey Children's Hospital will keep identifiable information about you for 10 years.

Your rights to access, change or move your information are limited, as we need to manage your information in specific ways in order for the research to be reliable and accurate. If you



Parent Information Leaflet and Consent v4 05/10/2021 IRAS: 219338 or your child withdraw from the study, we will keep the information about you that we have already obtained. To safeguard your rights, we will use the minimum personally-identifiable information possible.

You can find out more about how we use your information by contacting Miss Almond at the address below.

Alder Hey Children's Hospital will use your name, NHS number and contact details to contact you and your child about the research study, and make sure that relevant information about the study is recorded for your child's care, and to oversee the quality of the study. Individuals from Alder Hey Children's Hospital and regulatory organisations may look at your child's medical and research records to check the accuracy of the research study. The only people in Alder Hey who will have access to information that identifies you will be people who need to contact you to send out questionnaires or audit the data collection process. The people who analyse the information will not be able to identify you or your child and will not be able to find out your name, NHS number or contact details.

## **Contact for further information:**

Miss S Almond Consultant Paediatric Surgeon Alder Hey Children's Hospital East Prescot Road Liverpool L14 5AB Tel: 0151 2933693

If you are unhappy with the way in which this research is conducted or would like to make a complaint, the Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) is available to discuss this with you. Their contact details are:

PALS, Alder Hey Children's NHS Foundation Trust, Eaton Road, Liverpool, L12 2AP Tel: 0151 282 4907



Parent Information Leaflet and Consent v4 05/10/2021 IRAS: 219338 Patient's Initials: \_ \_ \_

Patient's Date of Birth: \_ \_/ \_ \_/ \_ \_\_\_

Long term outcomes for patients with Hirschsprung's Disease and Anorectal Malformations

### Parent Consent form

		Please initial
		box
1.	I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet v4 dated 05/10/2021 for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have these answered satisfactorily.	
2.	I understand that participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw my child at any time, without giving a reason, and without my child's care or legal rights being affected.	
3.	I understand that relevant sections of any of my child's medical notes and data collected during the study may be looked at by responsible individuals where it is relevant to my child taking part in this research. These include individuals representing the trial team, trial sponsor (Alder Hey hospital), regulatory authorities or from other NHS bodies and the Independent Ethics Committee. I give permission for these individuals to have access to my child's records and to collect, store, analyse and publish information from this research even if I withdraw him/her from the study. I understand that my child's name will be kept confidential.	
4.	I consent to the data collected to be processed and reported for medical research purposes.	
5.	I agree for my child's data on NHS hospital admissions to be collected from routine NHS care records	
6.	l agree to medical personnel responsible for my child's welfare being informed on my participation in this study.	
7.	I agree for my child to take part in the above study.	
8.	Optional: I agree that I may be contacted again in the future in relation to this study.	Yes  No

\_\_\_\_\_Name of Patient

Name of Parent

Signature

Date

Researcher

Signature

Date

original copy for participant, copy for site file, copy for patient notes